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Executive Summary 

 

WINGHOLDING Zrt. (hereinafter: "Company or WING Group”) has closed a successful 2021. In addition to the 
increasing number and results of real estate transactions and residential sales, the investments made during the 
year further increased the Company's profitability and market presence. In 2021, a total of 1,700 apartments for 
sale were in various stages of development in Hungary, while in Poland, 1,800 rental apartments were under 
development by ECHO Investment SA, majority owned by the Company. In Hungary, more than 300 apartments 
were handed over to their owners, while in Poland nearly 2,900. The latter, together with office sales worth EUR 
343 million, enabled ECHO to pay a total dividend of EUR 42.2 million to its owners during the year.  

While the Company's interest in Poland is active in the residential and office segments, Wing Group is an active 
developer and investor in all real estate segments in Hungary. In Hungary, the industrial and residential segments 
developed particularly strongly last year, with several new developments.  

The aggregate face value of the bonds issued by the Company at the beginning of 2021 was close to EUR 134 
million, which was reduced to EUR 100 million as a result of the redemption of the Series 2021/I bonds at maturity 
in August 2021. As a result of the participation in the Bond Funding For Growth Scheme (BGS) of the National 
Bank of Hungary, the Company's bond portfolio was increased by a further HUF 80 billion in 2020-2021, and in 
February 2022 another HUF 9 billion bond was issued.  

In the first half of 2021, the Company developed the Green Financing Framework, in which the Company made 
commitments to achieve sustainable environmental and climate protection goals, and the framework was 
reviewed by an external rating agency, which will allow the Company to issue green bonds. 

At the request of the MNB, Scope Ratings GmbH first reviewed the Company's credit rating in 2019, then in April 
2020, May 2021, August 2021 and most recently on 27 January 2022. As a result of the most recent review, in 
January 2022, Scope maintained the Company's B+ rating under its stricter rating guidelines, assigned a B+ rating 
to its senior, unsubordinated, unsecured debt (bonds) and revised the Company's rating outlook from positive 
to stable.  

The Company’s real estate market activity continued in 2021. This included the following: 

• On 26 February 2021 the transfer of a share package representing 100% of the share capital of NEO 
Property Services Zrt was successfully closed. 

• On 27 April 2021, Wingholding Zrt. concluded a Share Sale and Purchase Agreement regarding the sale 
of its 100% ownership share of WINMARK Kft., owning the Ericsson Headquarters and the Evosoft 
Headquarters under 1117 Budapest, Magyar tudósok körútja 11. The closing of the transaction took 
place on 12 May, following the fulfilment of the contingent criteria. 

• On 26 May 2021, MEVINVEST Vagyonkezelő Kft., a company directly owned by the Company, purchased 
a total of 10,040,112 ordinary shares of AKKO Invest Nyrt. under share purchase agreements. The 
ordinary shares purchased represent 30.10% of the share capital. 

• On July 6, 2021, WINGPROP Zrt. signed a Business Share Sale and Purchase Agreement for the sale of 
100% ownership of WIPEUROPA Ingatlanfejlesztő Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság ("Company"), which 
Company owns the property in Ezred street, Budapest 1044. The closing of the transaction took place 
on 9 November, following the fulfilment of the contingent criteria. 

• Following the signing of the Real Estate Sale and Purchase Agreement on 25 August 2021, WPROPA 
CENTER Ingatlanberuházó Kft., indirectly owned by the Company, acquired the real estate property of 
22 hectares in total, registered under several parcel numbers, located in the area bordered by Üllői út - 
Halomi út, 1182 Budapest, Budapest. 

• Through the Gladiátor II Ingatlan Befektetési Alap and Gladiátor V Ingatlan Befektetési Alap, 
represented by Gladiátor Alapkezelő Zrt., sale and purchase agreements were signed separately for 
office buildings B, C, I and D in INFOPARK, Budapest. The sale and purchase transaction for the INFOPARK 
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buildings B, C, and I signed by Gladiátor V. Ingatlanfejlesztő Befektetési Alap was concluded on 15 
November 2021. The sale and purchase transaction for the INFOPARK building D signed by Gladiátor II. 
Ingatlanfejlesztő Befektetési Alap was successfully closed on 14 December when the conditions were 
met. 

• On 21 December 2021, LOGIWIN Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft., indirectly owned by the Company, entered into 
a Share Sale and Purchase Preliminary Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Airport 
City Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. and Airport City Phase B Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. The transaction was 
successfully closed on 27 January 2022, following the fulfilment of the contingent criteria and the signing 
of the final sale and purchase agreement. 

• WINGEUROPE Zrt. acquired the ownership of a block of securities representing 78% of the units of the 
SKY I. Private Equity Fund in December 2021 under the Investment Unit Sale and Purchase Agreement. 

 

Besides its property investment activities, the Company also continues its property development activities: 

• One of the first successes after the pandemic crisis was the signing of a lease contract with Magyar RTL 
Televízió Zrt. for the Liget Center and Auditórium buildings. After a customised, full-scale historic 
renovation, the Liget Auditórium building overlooking the Városligeti fasor will be transformed into a 
modern, A+ category media complex, which will house the RTL Hungary news directorate and news 
studios on an area of 9,000 m2 from 2024. 

• The development of the Liberty office building, a mixed project hosting a hotel function besides the 
office building, with a total rentable area of 41 thousand m2 is in progress in the area next to the Magyar 
Telekom headquarters delivered in 2018, which is Hungary’s largest contiguous office area development 
with its 58 thousand m2 office area. 

• The transformation and renovation works of the Terra Liget office building in Budaörs owned by TCW 
Liget Kft, owned by the Group were finished in te first half of 2021, and the real estate was sold. 

• The preparations of the planned logistical development at the property located in Fót, with a total area 
of 139,547 m2, owned by REALWINGEST Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft., owned by the WING Group, continued. 
In 2021 the first phase of the project was commenced. 

• On the Fót property of East Gate Business Park Kft, Hall “D3” with 9,200 m2 floor space was delivered 
in June 2021. 

• The WING Group commenced the development of the new 5,200 m2 building of the Login Business Park 
(address: 1044 Budapest, Ezred u. 1-3.) in September 2020, which was delivered in August 2021. 

• The WING Group’s first project, the Kassák Residence in district 13, was realised in the LIVING I. Real 
estate developer collective investment undertaking, the investment units of which are owned by WING 
Group. The construction consisting of 231 apartments was finished in 2020; until 30 June 2021, all the 
apartments were sold. 

• The residential development business line completed its second project, Metropolitan Garden, also in 
district 13. The construction consisting of 107 apartments was finished in 2021; all the apartments were 
sold.  

• The first phase of Park West construction - also located in the 13th district – was completed in 2021, 
condominium and apartment delivery is underway, with only two of the 229 apartments waiting to be 
sold in December 2021. The 700-flat home residential property development is realised in three phases 
by Living Szabolcs Kft. 45% of the business shares of the special purpose vehicle is owned by Shael Kft., 
the owner of which is independent from WING Group.  

• Simultaneusly with the completion of the first phase of Park West, the structure construction of phase 
II was commenced. The development, scheduled to be delivered at the end of Q3 2023, will see the 
construction of 234 homes, of which 83 were sold by the end of 2021. 

• The second phase of the Kassák property development project, the development of the Kassák Passage 
started. The development of a total of 262 apartments is currently under construction and is expected 
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to be handed over at the end of 2022. Of the 262 apartments, only 20 were still waiting to be sold at 
the end of December 2021. 

• In 2021 phase III of the Kassák project was commenced. 246 apartments are built in the Kassák Terrace 
projectto be delivered in 2025. The registration period started in December 2021, and 22 apartments 
were registered for by the end of the year. 

• Preparations for the Le Jardin residential property developement in district 13 have been commenced. 
The project, which is built directly next to the Rákos stream, will consist of 314 apartments in 2 phases. 
Sales of the 164-apartment Phase I started in August 2021 and by the end of the year, 89 apartments 
had been pre-registered. Construction is scheduled to start in the summer of 2022, and the new 
apartments are expected to be ready for occupation in 2025. 

 

 

At the end of 2020, the size of the WING Group’s operating property portfolio was 538,623 m2 regarding 
rentable areas without the parking lots, which changed to 469,214 m2 by the end of 2021, as a result of 
transactions during the year (-69,409 m2). At the same time, the size of the development portfolio based on the 
potentially rentable area without parking lots grew from 414,233 m2 to 502.215 m2 by the end of 2021 
(+87,982m2). 

The equity of the WING Group grew by HUF 44 billion in 2021 to HUF 215.5 billion; total balance sheet assets 
grew by 6.1%, i.e. by HUF 50.5 billion, to a total of HUF 877.9 billion. 

The total investment revenue of WING Group was HUF 75.8 billion in FY 2021. The investment revenues include 
rental income from the lease of investment properties (HUF 27 billion), the revaluation of the investment 
property to current year fair value (HUF 20 billion), the profit on the sale of subsidiaries owning the investment 
properties (HUF 10.6 billion), profit on the sale of investment property (HUF 18.2 billion) and the total of other, 
immaterial items value. The rental income from investment properties exceeds the amount recognised last year, 
by 8.7%, that is, by HUF 2.2 billion.  

As a result of the above items, WING Group’s profit before taxation, unrealised exchange rate difference, interest 
payment, and depreciation expense (EBITDA) was HUF 72.7 billion. 
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Of the aforementioned HUF 50.5 billion growth of the asset value, HUF 58.8 billion was the result of the increase 
of inventories recognised in relation to residential property construction. The value of investment property 
decreased by HUF 105.1 billion. 

The total value of loans and bond payables decreased by HUF 19.3 billion from 31 December 2020. The 
proportion of short-term loans was low both on 31 December 2021 and on 31 December 2020: 23% and 17%, 
respectively. 

On 31 December 2021, WING Group’s balance sheet included other financial liability in the value of HUF 7.7 
billion (HUF 6.1 billion on 31 December 2020), of which HUF 3.6 billion was the result of the balance sheet date 
measurement of interest swap transactions concluded for the purpose of reducing interest risk, and a buy option 
of HUF 4.1 billion for 8% of the Archicom interest. 
 
Key Financials 

IFRC consolidated, thHUF  

 31.12.2021 
Investment revenues 75,874,981 
Revenue 121,275,348 
Share of profit of associates and jointly controlled entities and profit from the sale 
of associates 1,410,039 

Operating costs -122,767,429 
Other income and expenditures -3,132,961 
EBITDA 72,659,978 
Depreciation and amortisation -1,644,545 
Profit from financial transactions -17,712,659 
Profit before taxation and unrealised exchange rate differences 53,302,774 

  



  WINGHOLDING ZRT.  -  Annual Report 2021 

 

 
6 

 
Contents 
 

 

• Business Environment 

• Objectives and strategy 

• Risk factors and management 

• Financial analysis 

• Extraordinary notices 

• Events 

• Declaration 

• Annual consolidated financial statements 

 
 
 

  



  WINGHOLDING ZRT.  -  Annual Report 2021 

 

 
7 

Executive Report 
 
 
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 

The activities and profitability of WING Group is susceptible to the course of the Hungarian and the global 
macroeconomic environment.  

Hungary experienced dynamic economic growth at the end of the previous decade, with both household savings 
and business investment rates increasing and the country's external financing capacity remaining positive. By the 
end of the decade, Hungary’s net external debt fell to a historical low at 8.4% of the GDP. 

The favourable macroeconomic environment has been fundamentally altered by the rapid spread of the 
coronavirus epidemic in Europe in March 2020 and the outbreak of the Russian-Ukrainian war at the end of 
February 2022.   Given the geographical proximity and the greater weight of external trade with the countries 
concerned, the expected impact in Europe, and in particular in the Central and Eastern European region, could 
be more pronounced.  Inflation has continued to rise in many countries, reaching multi-decade highs.  The war 
is creating further inflation risks through higher commodity and energy prices, exacerbated by increasing supply 
constraints. In the fourth quarter of 2021, economic growth slowed in China and accelerated in the US and the 
euro area, with euro area GDP reaching its pre-pandemic level. However, the outbreak of the Russia-Ukraine war 
at the end of February is undermining the growth outlook through a number of channels.  

In parallel with the economic recovery, inflation in many countries has risen to multi-decade highs in recent 
months.  The rise in the indicator is mainly driven by rising commodity, product and energy prices, which, in 
addition to the base effect, is also being fuelled by supply constraints in a growing number of markets.  High 
inflation has led to a prolonged period of CPI above the central bank target in many countries. The Russian-
Ukrainian war has led to a weakening of regional currencies, which has further increased inflation risks.  Most 
central banks in the region have continued to tighten monetary conditions accordingly.  Investor sentiment in 
developed markets has deteriorated significantly in the past quarter as a result of the Russian-Ukrainian war.    

After record economic growth in 2021, the economy continued to expand at a very dynamic pace in early 2022.  
Economic activity in the following quarters will be strongly influenced by the war, the sanctions imposed and the 
government's response to this exceptional situation.  The consequences of the war are having their strongest 
restraining effect on growth directly through external trade channels and difficulties in international production 
chains.  In addition, rising commodity prices and corporate costs, as well as high levels of uncertainty in general, 
are also holding back growth. 

The annual growth rate of corporate loans in the total financial intermediation system accelerated by 1.3 
percentage points to reach 10.9% in December 2021.  The Hungarian banking system's exposures to Russia and 
Ukraine are at manageable levels, so even after the economic impact of the Russia-Ukraine war, which is difficult 
to predict at the moment, lending capacity is expected to remain ample to support lending.  In the fourth quarter 
of 2021, the average interest rate on forint loans increased significantly as a result of central bank rate increases. 
The average interest rate on forint loans stood at 4.3% in December for variable-rate loans over the year, with 
the average cost of funding for euro-denominated loans at 1.4%.   

Of the market stabilising measures introduced by the National Bank of Hungary and the Hungarian State in 
response to the epidemic, it is worth mentioning the general loan repayment moratorium first introduced until 
31.12.2020, then its extension, based on which enterprises are exempt until 31.10.2021 from repaying the 
principal and interest liabilities of loans taken out before 18.03.2020 under certain conditions. This measure also 
affected the WING Group’s loans, so the Company made significant liquidity provisions in 2020 and 2021. 

Following the successful reboot, the Hungarian economy continued to grow at an accelerating pace, with gross 
domestic product rising by 7.1% on an annual basis in the fourth quarter of 2021.  The output of the domestic 
economy was 3.3 percent above its pre-pandemic level.  Domestic demand continued to recover, with household 
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consumption accounting for almost half of the growth on an annual basis.  Investment in the corporate sector 
increased in the fourth quarter of 2021, while investment by government agencies slightly decreased. 

The labour market has continued to expand in recent months, despite the recent waves of the pandemic.   
Central bank and government measures (credit moratorium, wage subsidies), some already closed since, have 
contributed to this.  Employment in the national economy reached a historic peak in the second half of 2021, 
with a seasonally adjusted unemployment rate of 3.9% in the fourth quarter of 2021.  However, global supply-
demand frictions are expected to lead to more subdued growth in labour demand and hence employment, and 
the unemployment rate is expected to fall more slowly than previously expected to remain below 4%.  

In 2021, retail sales volumes were 3.5% higher than in the previous year.  Sales volumes increased by 2.2% in 
food and food type retailing, 4.9% in non-food retailing and 4.9% in fuel retailing.  

In 2021, inflation in Hungary rose due to external factors, with average annual inflation at 5.1%. In Hungary, at 
the beginning of 2022, companies repriced their products at a significantly higher rate than the average of 
previous years due to the increase in energy and raw material prices last year, leading to a rise in domestic 
inflation.  After the first-round effects had been absorbed, inflation was expected to moderate in the following 
months, but the Russian-Ukrainian war caused another significant cost shock.  The expected inflation path in the 
short term will depend on the duration of the war, the extent and duration of sanctions and the government 
response to them.  According to the MNB's March 2022 forecast, average annual inflation could rise to 7.5-9.8% 
in 2022. 

The central bank's tightening measures led to a rise in short rates, while long yields rose in line with inflation 
expectations in 2021. Since the start of the tightening cycle in June 2021, the MNB raised the base rate to 2.4% 
by the end of December, and the current level is 4.4%.   

In 2021, the forint exchange rate moved in a range of 345.64-371.35 against the euro, closing the year at 369 
HUF/EUR.   

 
Real estate investment volume in Hungary by sector 

 

 Source: CBRE 

                        
The declines caused by the pandemic were reduced by the second half of 2021, but the increases seen in previous 
cycles were not sustained.  This is due to the negative impact on tourism and the rise of changing work trends 
(home office).  The volume of property investment transactions closed in 2021 was approximately EUR 1.17 
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billion, 14.7% higher than in 2020.  Quality office buildings remain the most popular asset type; 82% of 
investments were realised in this segment. 

In 2021, premium yields in all real estate segments are on a downward trend.  A large improvement was recorded 
in industrial-logistics real estate, where the index fell from 7% in 2020 to 5.75%.  Premium office yields were 
4.75%, while retail property yields were 6%. The fall in yields in 2021 is a cause for optimism.  The real estate 
investment market is expected to continue to grow in volume in 2022.     

According to BRF's analysis, the total modern office stock in the office market in Q4 2021 was 3,955,600 sq m, 
which increased by 44,460 sq m during the year. In total, the construction of 3 new buildings was finished. It is 
projected that 300,000 m2 of development will be delivered in 2022, the largest amount since 2009.  The vacancy 
rate in the last quarter was 9.2%.  Based on Q3 2021 data, the vacancy rate was nearly 360,000 m2.  Net 
absorption has taken a negative value, with the total occupied stock size decreasing to 3,620 m2.  Gross demand 
showed an upward trend compared to the same period last year, with an increase of around 30%, amounting to 
112,280 m2.  Rents are stagnating under current conditions, despite rising inflation and higher construction costs.  
At the same time, home office work is gaining ground.  Based on data for Q3 2021, average rents for category A 
offices fall between EUR 15.0 and EUR 19.0/m2/month. 

The industrial property market grew by a total of 361,000 m2 in 2021, approximately three times more than 
previous year’s data, and the highest development volume in the past 15 years. The total industrial real estate 
portolio in Budapest is close to 2.6 million m2 at the end of 2021. This quite significant new supply was delivered 
with a high pre-rental rate of 95%. The average vacancy rate was at 3.2% at the end of Q3, 0.5 percentage point 
lower than the previous year’s vacancy rate. At the end of the year, a total of 86,800 m2 industrial area was 
vacant, and only five buildings had an available storage area greater than 5,000 m2. Net absorption was 147,600 
m2 in Q3 2021, which is 51% higher than in the previous year period. The total volume of developments under 
preparation or in progress is 350,000 m2 in the Budapest area. Regarding lease fees, there was no significant 
change comparted to the end of 2020: in the case of existing big box properties, the offered lease fee may reach 
4.4-4.75 EUR/m2/month, while in the case of new developments, 4.6-4.9 EUR/m2/month. 

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY 

The objective of Company is to provide the biggest possible return on equity to its owners, using the available 
external and internal financing resources, primarily via the professional realisation of commercial property 
development and investment, as well as residential property development projects. The WING Group’s 
commercial property development and investment activities focus on office and industrial/logistics buildings. 
The Group is present on both submarkets of this segment, dominating especially the Northern Pest market of 
the so-called “big box” type industrial/logistics buildings with high ceilings and large surface area. In addition to 
the above, the Group also has experience in retail (shopping centre), and hotel development and operation. The 
first project of the residential development business, launched at the end of 2017, was completed in the second 
half of 2020, followed by the delivery of a further project in 2021. In 2022 two new development projects are 
completed, two more are ongoing, and two are under preparation.  

Besides, but closely related to the aforementioned property development and investment activities, during its 
history, WING Group obtained several interests in the area of property services (planning, construction, 
operation, disposal), of which it has subsidiaries in the areas of planning, operation, and general contracting.  

Besides increasing WING Group’s liquidity and profitability by their dividend payments, the Group’s prevailing 
interests also contribute to the success of WING Group indirectly in many other forms.  

1. The objective of the intra-Group cooperation is primarily the support, completion, and connection of the 
business acquisitions of the individual entities by joint offers.  

2. Intra-Group cooperation makes it possible for the Company to obtain direct information about as many of 
the business opportunities generated during the value creation cycle as possible, which strengthens well-
informed and reasonable decision-making.  
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3. The Company exercises strategic, business management and professional control over the intra-Group 
companies, which increases their business success. At the same time, the Company also applies and transfers 
best practices of the member companies. 

While WING Group is actively in touch with property investment and financing players abroad, due to its market 
power, embeddedness, image, success, and the great number of available business opportunities, it primarily 
performs its activities in Hungary, keeping in mind property development opportunities appearing on the 
neighbouring countries’ markets, so that it can expand its portfolio in case of business offers with outstanding 
potential.  

In line with the objectives set out in this strategy, in 2019 the WING Group acquired a majority stake as a strategic 
investor in Echo Investment SA, a company listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange, making it a major real estate 
company in the region. This acquisition was the first major milestone is international expansion, and we are 
planning and preparing for our future acquisitions based on the experiences drawn from this. 

In summer 2020, ECHO itself started due diligence and structuring of the planned acquisition of Archicom S.A., a 
Wroclaw-based and operating company, which is primarily a residential developer. The subject of the acquisition, 
which took place in the first half of 2021, is the sellers' ~66% stake in Archicom S.A., a company which at the time 
of the acquisition was building 1,873 apartments and had a pipeline of nearly 4,000 apartments. ECHO financed 
the acquisition from cash and bond issue. As a first step ECHO paid a share of 65.99% in Archicom to the sellers. 
The PTO required by the 66% was organised in the summer, and ECHO acquired another 0.01% in Archicom. 
Within two years, based on an option contract, ECHO may acquire a further 8.33% still owned by the sellers. 

This acquisition made ECHO one of the largest players in the Polish residential property market. In 2021, 2,955 
homes were sold, with 4,512 homes for sale and a further 1,807 homes for rent under construction at the end 
of the year. Construction of a further 3,566 homes for sale and 4,054 homes for rent is planned to start in 2022.  

Also, ECHO is a successful player of the Polish commercial property market, especially the office property market. 
This is supported by the fact that in 2021 four projects were sold in the value of EUR 343 million. 

The Company reaches its business goals using its own resources. It typically performs its property development 
and investment activities in its wholly owned project companies. However, due to several, individual reasons, 
WING Group has already made partnership in different legal constructions with other, typically foreign partners 
in the property sector several times. In the case of previous and existing partnerships, Company strongly 
represents its own business interests, and tries to maximize the possibilities provided by the synergies in these 
partnerships.  

The Company is dedicated to the internal maintenance and external representation of high professional and 
ethical standards. To this end, it engages the most outstanding and most competent players of the domestic 
property market for management tasks, who can apply their previous knowledge and experience acquired in 
part elsewhere for the interest of WING Group. An important part of their job is the professional training and 
supervision of talents joining WING Group as juniors, as well as control of their work and their communication 
with clients. An important element of WING Group’s strategy is keeping employee fluctuation at a low level, as 
well as creating long-term cooperation with successful and exemplary employees, an important element of which 
is the moral and competitive, financial remuneration of the employees. 

All management tasks of the Company are performed by Wing Zrt, which is also the employer of the employees. 
The employees managing the Company’s interests are employed by WING Zrt. 
 
RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT 

Due to the lengthiness of property investment transactions and the high costs of due diligence, property as an 
asset category is regarded one of the least liquid assets. Liquidity risks change in the same direction as 
macroeconomic risks. This type of risk is also significantly affected by the changes in the regulatory environment. 

Construction Risk 
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Reduced construction capacity in previous years and an upturn in property development activity in 2021 could 
lead to longer construction periods and higher construction costs compared to the last three years. The Russian-
Ukrainian conflict in early 2022 will further exacerbate disruptions in supply chains and already high raw material 
prices could continue to rise, which will have a negative impact on WING Group's profitability. 

Leasing risk 

A significant part of WING Group’s sales revenue comes from Hungarian leases, i.e. from numerous customers 
buying in various values. Within the total Hungarian lease property portfolio, the rate of the largest tenant was 
below 12%, and the rate of the five largest tenants was about 23.3%. Regarding the largest tenants, the 
acquisition or loss of even a few purchase contracts may have great influence on the future sales revenue and 
profitability of WING Group. 

The WING Group has lease agreements with a total of approximately 400 tenants in Hungary. Due to the high 
number of its customers, the group is vulnerable to the risk of customer non-payment, but this proved 
manageable even in recent financial crisis. If any or even some major customers of WING Group do not pay or 
delay payment, this does not itself cause a liquidity problem for WING Group.  

The WING Group dominantly has fixed-term contracts with the majority of its major customers, suppliers and 
financing partners. There is no guarantee that the parties will be able to agree on the renewal of these contracts 
after their expiry. In the case of fixed-term contracts, it cannot be ruled out that they may be terminated before 
the expiry of the fixed term in an unforeseen and exceptional case.  

The WING Group only holds operating properties in its portfolio in Poland for a temporary period, until the end 
of the development period, so there is no scope for the above analysis of tenant risk. 

Residential segment risks 

The WING Group’s property development activity has performed especially well so far. However, the coronavirus 
pandemic and the Russian-Ukrainian war may affect apartment sales, as well, depending on how long the 
situation persists. Considering the stable and even increasing demand, and the high sales rate of the Company’s 
residential projects, revision of expectations regarding these projects is not justified. However, the increase in 
raw material prices and the generally high level of uncertainty resulting from the situation could have an impact 
on the future development of sales and/or their results. 

Risks related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates 

The WING Group’s loans related to the Hungarian commercial property portfolio are taken out in foreign 
currency, in EUR. The majority of WING Group's rental income in Hungary is in euros. Only 0.5% of the renatl 
income is HUF based, which means a low risk for the repayment of EUR loans. Numerous HUF items (including 
operational expenses and public utility costs) are outstanding among the expenses of the operation of the 
property portfolio. These expenses are covered by the operating fee paid by the tenants, a part of which is, in 
line with the previous market practice, in EUR. Recently, WING Group significantly decreased the proportion of 
EUR operating fee, and, with the modification of the lease contracts, it gradually changed to HUF-based invoicing 
in the case of most tenants. Some of the investment and construction costs (e.g. material costs) arising in the 
course of property development projects are subject to changes of the EUR/HUF exchange rate. In the case of 
development projects, this exchange rate risk is managed by fix rate contracts concluded with the contractor for 
a certain period, and through hedge transactions. 

The WING Group’s loans related to the Polish commercial property portfolio are taken out in foreign currency, 
in EUR. The new real properties are leased and sold on an EUR basis, typically for international investors.  

Both the housing development activities in Hungary and in Poland are financed in local currency, which is also 
justified by the fact that the finished products are also sold in local currency. 

Lease/re-lease risk 

Within the Hungarian property portfolio of the WING Group, the expiry of lease contracts affects 6-16% of the 
contracts annually in the next five years. Besides the lease of empty sites, the tasks of asset management and 
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sales business lines include follow-up of the lease contracts and extension of expiring contracts. Our experience 
suggests that about 85% of tenants extend their lease contracts, which means that annually, 1-2% of contracts 
pose a re-lease risk. 

Risks relating to WING Group’s operation and markets 

The internal requirements of the operation of WING Group are met, and its external environment is stable and 
positive. The bank financing from existing and new partners, necessary for the acquisitions under preparation 
running parallel to the extension of the development and investment activities is available. The regulatory 
environment functions in a predictable way. The WING Group’s markets are strong and expanding both in terms 
of tenants and investors. Therefore, the lease and potential sale of the existing property development projects 
and of those under development is expected to take place according to plans. The only risk factor in the operation 
of the Group is the increase of prices in the construction industry. In WING Group’s current projects under 
preparation, special attention is required for the adequate risk management. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Notes to the income statement 
 
The total investment revenue of WING Group was HUF 75,874,981 thousand in FY 2021. The investment 
revenues include rental income from the lease of investment properties (thHUF 26,962,493), and the profit on 
the sale of subsidiaries owning the investment properties and the sale of investment properties (thHUF 
28,785,882), the revaluation of the properties to current year fair value (thHUF 20,008,614), and the total of 
other, immaterial items (thHUF 117,992).  The income from investments exceeds the amount recorded in the 
previous year by 19%, by HUF 12,350,607 thousand. The profit on the sale of subsidiaries holding investment 
properties comprises in significant amounts the sale of Elitur Invest Zrt., M43 Kft., WINMARK Kft. and 
WIPEUROPA Kft.  
 
Revenue exceeds the figure recognised for the same period of the previous year by thHUF 13,415,264, mainly 
due to the expansion of the WING Group. The WING Group acquired the majority share of Archicom S.A. in the 
first half of 2021. Since its acquisition the Archicom Group contributed to the revenue of the WING Group by 
thHUF 39,398,595. In 2021 the Group realised revenue from the lease and sale of residential property in the 
value of thHUF 106,354,238 (2020: thHUF 65,223,361), hotel services in the value of thHUF 1,787,070 (2020: 
thHUF 1,221,398), and property operation activities in the value of thHUF 6,510,078 (2020: thHUF 32,776,415). 
In February 2021 the Group sold its shares in NEO Property Services Zrt. The turnover realised by NEO Property 
Services Zrt. and the result of the sale are shown in the Profit from discontinued operations for the year. 
 
Material costs and the performance of subcontractors include direct costs, the amount of which increased by 
HUF 108.4 billion due to the extension of the Group. The majority of the amount of material costs and mediated 
services is related to the residential properties sold, property management services. 
 
The expansion of the Group also led to an increase in the number of employees, which has an impact on the 
rising personnel expenses. WING Group’s average statistical headcount in 2021 is 857 and the headcount pf Lisala 
Sp. z.o.o. and its subsidiaries is 660. 
 
The amount of the WING Group’s net financing expenditures increased by thHUF 4,580,838 due to the aggregate 
effect of various factors. The change was driven by the acquisition of the Archicom Group, the rising interest rate 
environment and the exchange rate effect. The income from loans taken out and bonds issued in the period 
concerned totals thHUF 75,288,665, while repayments of loans and bonds payable add up to thHUF 116,150,575. 
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign exchange (most important of which are loans denominated in EUR, 
and the Polish subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities denominated in PLZ) are measured by the Group at balance sheet 
date at the HUF/EUR and HUF/ PLZ exchange rates quoted by the National Bank of Hungary. In the financial 
statements, WING Group disclosed a profit of thHUF 3,691,245 in total comprehensive income as the revaluation 
difference of items denominated in foreign exchange. The HUF/EUR exchange rate was 369 at 31 December 
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2021, HUF 365,13 at 31 December 2020, and the HUF/PLZ exchange rate was 80.30 HUF/PLZ at 31 December 
2021, and 79.29 HUF/PLZ at 31 December 2020. 
 
Additional notes to the balance sheet 
 
The value of tangible assets and investment properties decreased by a total of thHUF 102,145,256, which was 
due to several factors. As a result of property and company sales, the Group derecognised HUF 85.2 billion of 
investment property from its books and a further HUF 93 billion of property was reclassified to inventories and 
property held for sale. At the same time, the value of investment property increased by HUF 60.5 billion due to 
developments in the year, the acquisition of Archicom, investments in the period and the revaluation of property 
to fair value. 
 
The Group’s current asset portolio increased significantly, by thHUF 113,893,245 (59%) due to the property and 
company sales and the related asset restructuring. A large part of current assets is made up of real estate on 
stock (50.8%) and cash and bank balances (39%). The increase in inventories is driven by the residential 
developments of 2021 and the acquisition of Archicom. By the acquisition of Archicom, the Group’s balance sheet 
was improved by a HUF 67.2 billion worth inventory as of the day of acquisition. The Group’s cash and bank 
balances increase by HUF 47.9 billion from the pervious year. 
 
Equity changes are primarily explained by the profit for the year (HUF 52.2 billion) and dividend paid to owners 
of the parent company and minority owners (HUF 25.9 billion). 
 
The total value of loans and bond issue debts decreased by thHUF 19,283,033 from 31 December 2020. Of the 
total portfolio, the amount of loans and bond issue debts recognised by Lisala Sp. z.o.o. and its subsidiaries at 31 
December 2021 was thHUF 221,955,543. The proportion of short-term loans was low both on 31 December 2021 
and on 31 December 2020: 23.1% and 17.2%, respectively. 
 
On 31 December 2021, WING Group’s balance sheet included other financial liability in the value of thHUF 
7,653,201 (thHUF 6,069,421 on 31 December 2020), which was the result of the balance sheet date measurement 
of interest swap transactions concluded for the purpose of reducing interest risk, so it includes the net present 
value of the difference between the payable interest amount fixed for the full term of the transactions and the 
estimated expected market interest amounts. Other financial liabilities include the buy option related to 8% of 
Archicom shares. 
 
The assets held for sale and the related liabilities include the real property and related liabilities whose sale is 
planned to be completed within 12 months.  
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EXTRAORDINARY NOTICES 
(Notices published between 1 January 2021 - 31 December 2021) 

Date Type of notice Content briefly 
26 February 2021 Extraordinary information Conclusion of a share sale transaction 
13 April 2021 Extraordinary information Agenda of the general meeting 
28 April 2021 Extraordinary information Sale of business share 
13 May 2021 Extraordinary information Conclusion of a share sale transaction 
18 May 2021 Extraordinary information Execution of loan agreement 
27 May 2021 Extraordinary information Purchase of shares 
30 June 2021 Extraordinary information Sale of real estate 
7 July 2021 Extraordinary information Sale of shares and participations 
4 August 2021 Extraordinary information Credit Rating 
23 August 2021 Extraordinary information Green Framework 
26 August 2021 Extraordinary information Land acquisition 
6 September 2021 Extraordinary information 2021/I bond cancelled 
20 September 2021 Extraordinary information Bond auction 
10 November 2021  Extraordinary information  Conclusion of a share sale transaction  
15 November 2021  Extraordinary information  Conclusion of a sale and purchase transaction  
14 December 2021  Extraordinary information  Settlement of the contingent items of a sale and 

purchase transaction  
14 December 2021  Information document Bond registration 
15 December 2021  Extraordinary information  Project finance contract  
17 December 2021 Information on language of 

disclosure 
Information in Hungarian 

17 December 2021 Information on the contact 
person and details at the 
investor  

Contact person 

17 December 2021 Extraordinary information on 
bond registration 

Securities registration 

17 December 2021  Extraordinary information Acquisition of a block of secrities in a private equity 
fund, representing 78% of the investment units 

21 December 2021  Extraordinary information Puchase of shares 
22 December 2021  Extraordinary information Execution of loan agreement 
22 December 2021  Extraordinary information  Execution of loan agreement  

 
EVENTS 

SALE OF NEO PROPERTY SERVICES ZRT.  

WING Zrt. directly owned by the Company concluded a share sale and purchase agreement regarding the transfer 
of a share package representing 100% of the share capital of NEO Property Services Zrt as its subsidiary. Based 
on the sale and purchase agreement, the conditions for the transfer of shares were met, and the transaction was 
successfully closed on 26 February 2021. 
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SALE OF BUSINESS SHARE  

On 27 April 2021, a member of the group, WINGPROP Zrt. concluded a Share Sale and Purchase Agreement 
regarding the sale of its 100% ownership share of WINMARK Ingatlanfejlesztő Korlátolt Felelősségű (“Company”), 
owning the Ericsson Headquarters and the Evosoft Headquarters under 1117 Budapest, Magyar tudósok körútja 
11.The share purchase transaction was successfully completed on 12 May 2021 when contingent criteria had 
been met.  

EXECUTION OF LOAN AGREEMENT  

LIVING II. Ingatlanfejlesztő Befektetési Alap represented by WING Group member Gladiátor Alapkezelő Zrt. 
signed a project financing agreement in the maximum value of HUF 9,355,305,000 with OTP Bank Nyrt. The 
purpose of the loan is to fund the Kassák Passage residential development project.  

PURCHASE OF SHARES  

On 26 May 2021, MEVINVEST Vagyonkezelő Kft., a company directly owned by the Company, purchased a total 
of 10,040,112 ordinary shares of AKKO Invest Nyrt. under share purchase agreements. The ordinary shares 
purchased represent 30.10% of the share capital. 

SALE OF REAL ESTATE  

TCW Liget Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft., indirectly owned by the Company sold the office building (2040 Budaörs, Liget 
utca 2.).  

SALE OF SHARES AND PARTICIPATIONS  

On July 6, 2021, a member of the Company’s group, WINGPROP Zrt. signed a Business Share Sale and Purchase 
Agreement for the sale of 100% ownership of WIPEUROPA Ingatlanfejlesztő Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság 
("Company"), which Company owns the property in Ezred street, Budapest 1044. 

CREDIT RATING  

In July 2021 Scope Ratings GmbH updated the Company’s credit rating as the Company was planning to issue 
BGS bonds. In its report published on 3 August 2021, the rating agency maintained the Company's B+ rating, 
changed the outlook to positive and assigned a BB- rating to the senior, unsubordinated, unsecured debt (bonds).    
The credit rating agency maintained the Company's B+ rating in the report published on 27 January 2022.  Based 
on the stricter rating guidelines, the agency revised the Company's rating outlook from positive to stable and 
assigned a B+ rating to its senior, non-subordinated, unsecured debt.   

GREEN FRAMEWORK  

The Company developed the Green Financing Framework, in which the Company made commitments to achieve 
sustainable environmental and climate protection goals, and the framework was reviewed by an external rating 
agency, which will allow the Company to issue green bonds. 
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LAND ACQUISITION  

Following the signing of the Real Estate Sale and Purchase Agreement on 25 August 2021, WPROPA CENTER 
Ingatlanberuházó Kft., indirectly owned by the Company, acquired the real estate property of 22 hectares in 
total, registered under several parcel numbers, located in the area bordered by Üllői út - Halomi út, 1182 
Budapest, Budapest. 

2021/I BOND CANCELLED 

The Company fully met its repayment, redemption and interest payment obligations in respect of the series of 
bonds WINGHOLDING 2021/I ("Bond") issued by the Company under ISIN code HU0000358445 on the date 
specified in the Final Terms relating to the Bond. 

BOND AUCTION 

The Company concluded a successful bond auction in the framework of the Bond Funding for Growth Scheme of 
the National Bank of Hungary on 20 September 2021. Bonds of a total nominal value of HUF 25,300,000,000 were 
marketed, with an average 3.44% yield and a 10-year term. 

CONCLUSION OF A SHARE SALE TRANSACTION 

A member of the Company’s group, WINGPROP Zrt. signed a Business Share Sale and Purchase Agreement for 
the sale of 100% ownership of WIPEUROPA Ingatlanfejlesztő Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság. The share purchase 
transaction was successfully completed on 9 November 2021 when contingent criteria had been met. 

CONCLUSION OF A SALE AND PURCHASE TRANSACTION 

Through the Gladiátor II Ingatlan Befektetési Alap and Gladiátor V Ingatlan Befektetési Alap, represented by 
Gladiátor Alapkezelő Zrt., sale and purchase agreements were signed separately for office buildings B, C, I and D 
in INFOPARK, Budapest, and the criteria for entry into force were met. The sale and purchase transaction for the 
INFOPARK buildings B, C, and I signed by Gladiátor V. Ingatlanfejlesztő Befektetési Alap was concluded on 15 
November 2021. 

CONCLUSION OF A SALE AND PURCHASE TRANSACTION 

In November 2021 through the Gladiátor II Ingatlan Befektetési Alap, represented by Gladiátor Alapkezelő Zrt. 
(in the Company’s consolidation circle), a sale and purchase agreement was signed separately for the sale of 
office building D in INFOPARK. The sale and purchase transaction was successfully completed on 14 December 
2021 when contingent criteria had been met. 

PROJECT FINANCE CONTRACT 

ParkWest 2 Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft., indirectly owned by the Company, concluded a project financing agreement 
with CIB Bank Zrt. in the maximum value of HUF 7,516,801,971. The purpose of the loan is the financing of phase 
II of Park West residential development. 

PURCHASE OF INVESTMENT UNITS OF PRIVATE EQUITY FUND 

WINGEUROPE Zrt. acquired the ownership of a block of securities representing 78% of the units of the SKY I. 
Private Equity Fund under the Investment Unit Sale and Purchase Agreement. 

PUCHASE OF SHARES 

On 21 December 2021, LOGIWIN Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft., indirectly owned by the Company, entered into a Share 
Sale and Purchase Preliminary Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Airport City 
Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. and Airport City Phase B Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. The transaction was successfully closed 
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on 27 January 2022, following the fulfilment of the contingent criteria and the signing of the final sale and 
purchase agreement. 

EXECUTION OF LOAN AGREEMENT 

PROPWIN Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft. indirectly owned by the Company, concluded a refinancing and development loan 
framework agreement with RAIFFEISEN Bank Zrt. in the maximum value of EUR 21,297,500. The purpose of the 
development loan is the financing of the LIGET CENTER office building development project. 

EXECUTION OF LOAN AGREEMENT 

MAGNUM HUNGARIA INVEST Kft. indirectly owned by the Company, concluded a refinancing and development 
loan framework agreement with SBERBANK MAGYARORSZÁG Zrt. and MKB BANK Nyrt. in the maxiumum 
amount of EUR 36,400,000, based on which disbursement started as of 22 December 2021. The loan facility is 
to refinance the former acquisition loan and to finance the renovation of the EUROCENTER Shopping Mall.  
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RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 
 

    Kassák Residence 

The first project of the WING Group is a three-phase 
development of 231 apartments taking place in District 
13, with the first phase being the construction of Kassák 
Residence.  
Phase I was completed in the first half of 2020; in August 
2020 Kassák Residence received the final occupancy 
permit. In the first half of 2021 the remaining available 
apartments were sold and thus the project comleted. 
 

 

 

 

Kassák Passage 

The second phase of the Kassák home development 
project, the development of the Kassák Passage, 
continued in 2021. Structure construction was 
completed during the year. The project is expected to be 
delivered by the end of 2022. Of the 263 apartments, 
only 20 were still waiting to be sold at the end of 
December 2021. 

 
 

 

 

 
 
           Kassák Terrace 

Preparations for phase III of the Kassák project are 
ongoing, construction is commenced in summer 2022. 
246 apartments are built in the Kassák Terrace 
projectto be delivered in 2025. The registration period 
started in December 2021, and 22 apartments were 
registered for by the end of the year.  
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Metropolitan Garden 

WING Group’s second residential project was 
implemented in Országbíró utca close to Béke tér 
in District 13. 
107 apartments were developed in the one-phase 
project with a net total space of 6,700 m2 for sale.  
The project was completed in the first half of 
2021, the apartments were delivered ans the 
project closed at the end of 2021 when the last 
apartment was sold. 

 

 
 

         Park West phase I 

WING Group’s third residential project is 
implemented in a Joint Venture with Shael 
Ingatlanforgalmazó és Befektető Kft. Total space for 
sale in the three-phase project will cover 14,600 m2.  
The development of the first phase of 229 
apartments was launched in the first half of 2019 
and was completed by the end of 2021. Delivery is 
going on. By the end of the year all but two 
apartments were sold. 
 

 

 

Park West phase II 

Parallel to pahse I, the preparation works of the 
second phase began in Q4 2020. The development 
includes the construction of 234 apartments, of which 
83 were sold by the end of 2021. The project is 
expected to be delivered at the end of Q3 2023. 
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                    Le Jardin 

The location of Wing Group’s new residential project 
is Rozsnyai street in District 13. The two-phase project 
included the construction of 314 apartments. Sales 
commenced in June 2021 and by the end of the year 
89 were sold. Construction is scheduled to start in the 
summer of 2022, and the new apartments are 
expected to be ready for occupation in 2025. 

 
 

 

SALES RESULTS OF RESIDENTIAL PROJECT IN THE END OF 2021 

 

 



  WINGHOLDING ZRT.  -  Annual Report 2021 

 

 
21 

 

KEY NEW LEASES AND RENEWALS (INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE) 

                      

                    East Gate Business Park 

Delivered in 2021, the D3 hall building of 9,200 m3 
with the 20% office area reached 100% lease. The 
halls of the park that had been delivered earlier 
have since been operating at a 100% utilisation 
level. In 2021 two large tenants, Lear Corporation 
Kft. and Magyar Posta Zrt. both extended their 
contracts.  

 

 

 

      East Gate PRO 

The second phase of the successful  East Gate 
Business Park, East Gate PRO offers 60,000 m2 area 
for lease in a total of 6 halls. The development of the 
first two halls, totalling more than 20,000 m2, is 
currently under development with a 50% pre-leasing 
rate, and is expected to be handed over in Q3 2022. 
Four more halls are planned to be built on the site.  

 

 

Login Business Park 

In the Login Business Park, located at the foot of the 
Megyeri Bridge and next to the M0 ring, the 
development of the new 5,200 m2 building started 
in September 2020, and the entire area was leased 
at the beginning of 2021. The tenant of the new hall 
moved in the property in August 2021. 
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                Infopark B, C, and I buildings 

Of the total 41,000 m2 of office space in the Infopark 
campus-style buildings in District XI, 39,000 m2 was  
leased by the end of 2021.   

 

 

 

 

                   

                  Liget Center and Auditorium 

As of 2024 Magyar RTL Televízió Zrt. moves in the 
buildings next to Városliget. After a customised, full-
scale historic renovation, the Liget Auditórium 
building overlooking the Városligeti fasor will be 
transformed into a modern, A+ category media 
complex, which will house the RTL Hungary news 
directorate and news studios on an area of 9,000 m2.  

 

 

                           HOP - Hungária Office Park 

From summer 2021 the 3 ha former Siemens site is 
named Hungária Office Park. The site, formerly a 
telephone factory, was purchased by WING in 2018 and 
development plans were prepared. As a first step the 
Gizella LOFT was constructed and delivered in the 
second half of 2020. In the first half of 2021, the 
building had a new tenant: TK Elevator Service Center 
Kft. moved in next to TÜV Rheinland Intercert Kft., 
inreasing the leased area to 90% with this 

approximately 2,000 m2 extension. 
HOP 1 building also saw a new tenant in the first half of the year: the National Bank of Hungary rents about 3,000 
m2 in the property with utlisation thus reaching 100%. 
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                Honvéd Center Office Building 

 

In a prominent location in the centre of Budapest, the 
property consists of two parts: an "OLD" building built in 1899 
and a "NEW" building built in 1998. The office building in 
district 5 was fully renovated, which resulted in a new group 
of tenants. Hungarian Investment Promotion Agency Non-
profit Zrt. increased its area to more than 3,800 m2 in the 
renovated property thus occupying the “OLD” building in 
total. Upper floors of the “NEW” part are occupied by Wallis 
Asset Management Zrt. 
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Representations 
 
I, the undersigned, hereby represent that WINGHOLDING Zrt. fully guarantees that the report 
published on this day concerning the results of WING Group for 2021 was prepared in line with 
applicable accounting regulations and according to the best of our knowledge, that it gives a fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial standing, and the profit or loss of WINGHOLDING Zrt. and the 
consolidated companies, and that the consolidated management report provides a fair view of the 
standing, development and performance of WINGHOLDING Zrt. and the consolidated companies. 

I also represent that the consolidated financial statements of WINGHOLDING Zrt. were prepared with 
respect to the International Financial Reporting Standards and cover the entirety of WING Group’s 
activities, and that the financial statements for the period ending on 31 December 2021 were audited 
by an independent auditor.    
 
 
Budapest, 27 April 2022 
 
 
 
 
Noah M. Steinberg 
WINGHOLDING Zrt. 
Chairman-CEO 
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WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság  
 

Notes published on pages 35-104 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
  

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Notes 2021  2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
Continuing operations    restated* 
   

    
  Investment revenues 5 75,874,981  63,524,374 

  Revenue from contracts with customers 6 121,275,348  107,860,084 

  Income  197,150,329  171,384,458 

  
     

  Material costs and mediated services  -108,387,751  -95,118,283 

  Depreciation and amortisation 12, 15 -1,644,545  -1,482,193 

  Employee benefits expense 38 -9,009,613  -7,459,897 

  Services used  -5,370,065  -13,832,164 

  Other gains (+) and losses (-) 8 -2,486,851  -2,118,980 
  Income from financial transactions 9 1,731,602  478,678 
  Of this, interested calculated with the effective interest rate method  1,731,602  478,678 

  Finance expenses 10 -19,410,587  -13,576,825 

  Of this, interested calculated with the effective interest rate method  -19,366,469  -13,532,707 

  
Gains (+) / losses (-) from the impairment of financial assets 

 
-33,674  329,306 

  Other expenditures  -646,110  -434,555 
  Share of the profit/loss of associates 17 1,410,039  -592,370 

  Unrealised exchange rate gain (+)/loss (-)  3,691,245  -22,401,390 

       
  Profit before tax of continuing operations  56,994,019  15,175,785 
       

  Income tax 11 -4,629,797  -3,870,748 

    
   

  Current-year profit from continuing operations  52,364,222  11,305,037 
       

Discontinued operations  
   

  Profit for the year from discontinued operations 20 -1,265,612  1,162,373 
       

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS  

51,098,610  12,467,410 

   
 

   

From continuing and discontinued operations  
   

 Attributable to owners of the parent  44,009,494  9,715,768 

 To non-controlling interest  7,089,116  2,751,642 

  
  51,098,610  12,467,410 

   
 
*The reclassification in the comparative figures for Revenue from Investments and Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers is detailed in Note 5.  
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Notes published on pages 35-104 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
  
For the year ended 31 December 2021 – continued Notes 2021  2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
       
       

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS 

 51,098,610  12,467,410 

       

Other comprehensive income  
   

   
 

   

 Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 
 

1,877,367  1,400,376 

 Change in the net value of cash flow hedges 24 2,414,763  -1,678,281 

 

Change in deferred tax in relation to change in the net value of cash flow 
hedges 24 

-217,329  151,045 

    
   

 Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss  4,074,801  -126,860 

    
   

 Other comprehensive income that may not be reclassified to profit or loss  0  0 

 
  

 
   

Other comprehensive income  4,074,801  -126,860 

    
   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  55,173,411  12,340,550 

  
 

 
   

Part of total profit and loss      
 Attributable to owners of the parent  48,092,000  9,476,341 

 To non-controlling interest  7,081,411  2,864,209 

  
     

  
 

 55,173,411  12,340,550 
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CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
  
As of 31 December 2021 Notes 31 December 2021  31 December 

2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
       

Assets     
 Fixed assets     
  Tangible assets 12 12,384,397  9,412,412 

  Real property for investment 13 338,993,017  444,110,258 

  Goodwill 14 579,162  607,015 

  Other intangible assets 15 5,764,873  361,849 

  Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures 17 58,618,381  26,171,907 

  Deferred tax assets 11 6,234,264  5,539,522 

  Other financial assets 18 34,119,115  19,668,966 

    
   

 Total fixed assets  456,693,209  505,871,929 

       
       
 Current assets     
  Inventories 19 155,898,518  97,143,038 

  Trade and other receivables 21 23,510,324  22,469,876 

  Tax assets 11 1,217,420  576,402 

  Other financial assets 18 6,611,858  1,055,746 

  Cash and bank account 39 119,630,335  71,730,148 

    
   

 Total current assets  306,868,455  192,975,210 

    
   

 Assets classified as held for sale 20 114,330,198  128,538,318 

    
   

Total assets  877,891,862  827,385,457 
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CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
  
As of 31 December 2021 – continued Notes 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
       

Equity and liabilities     
 Capital and reserves     
  Registered capital 22 5,000  5,000 

  Reserves 24 -3,245,362  -2,306,119 

  Retained earnings 23 148,091,070  117,988,946 

  Translation reserve  3,909,898  2,024,826 

  
Equity attributable to owners of the company 

 
148,760,606  117,712,653 

    
   

  Non-controlling interests 25 66,788,315  53,787,258 

    
   

 Total equity  215,548,921  171,499,911 

   
    

 Non-current liabilities  
   

  
Loans and bonds payable 26 353,314,017  396,029,024 

  Other financial liabilities 27 6,645,562  4,987,686 

  Deferred tax liabilities 11 23,297,020  27,241,537 

  Provisions 28 4,301,903  4,321,297 

  Other liabilities 29 10,845,626  13,933,232 

 Total non-current liabilities  398,404,128  446,512,776 

    
   

 Short-term liabilities  
   

  Trade and other payables 30 33,371,473  29,464,937 

  
Loans and bonds payable 26 105,977,748  82,545,774 

  Other financial liabilities 27 1,007,639  1,081,735 

  Tax liabilities 11 1,180,899  131,628 
  Provisions 28 6,315,243  2,750,155 
  Other liabilities 29 61,472,279  32,452,965 

 Total current liabilities  209,325,281  148,427,194 

    
   

  

Liabilities directly associated with assets 
classified as held for sale 20 54,613,532  60,945,576 

    
   

 Total liabilities  662,342,941  655,885,546 
      

Total equity and liabilities  877,891,862  827,385,457 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2021  Notes  Registered 
capital 

 
Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve 

 

Translation 
reserve for 
subsidiaries 
disclosed in 

different 
currencies 

 Retained 
earnings 

 
Attributable 

to the 
Company 

 
Non-

controlling 
interests 

 Total 

    thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
                 

Balance at 31 December 2019    5,000  -778,883               624,450   113,717,981  113,568,548  56,554,656  170,123,204 
                        

Total comprehensive profit and loss    0  -1,527,236  1,400,376  9,715,768  9,588,908  2,751,642  12,340,550 
Profit or loss for the year    0  0  0  9,715,768  9,715,768  2,751,642  12,467,410 
Other comprehensive income    0  -1,527,236  1,400,376  0  -126,860  0  -126,860 

Dividend  23  0  0  0  -1,378,430  -1,378,430  0  -1,378,430 
Increase of subsidiary interests  23, 25  0  0  0  -2,297,043  -2,297,043  -13,041,406  -15,338,449 
Disposal of investments in subsidiaries  23, 25  0  0  0  -1,769,330  -1,769,330  6,395,366  4,626,036 
Capital increase in subsidiary  25  0  0  0  0  0  1,127,000  1,127,000 

                 

Balance at 31 December 2020    5,000  -2,306,119  2,024,826  117,988,946  117,712,653  53,787,258  171,499,911 
                        

Total comprehensive profit and loss    0  2,197,434  1,885,072  44,009,494  48,092,000  7,081,411  55,173,411 
Profit or loss for the year    0  0  0  44,009,494  44,009,494  7,089,116  51,098,610 
Other comprehensive income    0  2,197,434  1,885,072  0  4,082,506  -7,705  4,074,801 

Dividend  23  0  0  0  -19,288,257  -19,288,257  -6,576,648  -25,864,905 
Increase of subsidiary interests  23, 25  0  0  0  2,244,210  2,244,210  12,490,519  14,734,729 
Disposal of investments in subsidiaries  23, 25  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 
Capital increase by external owner  25  0  0  0  0  0  5,775  5,775 
Reclassifications of cash flow hedging 
reserve 

 24  0  -3,136,677  0  3,136,677  0  0  0 
                 

Balance as at 31 December 2021    5,000  -3,245,362  3,909,898  148,091,070  148,760,606  66,788,315  215,548,921 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
  

For the year ended 31 December 2021  Notes  2021  2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
       

Cash flows from operating activities       

  
     

Retained profit for the year    55,173,411  12,340,550 
Adjustments:       

Income tax recognised in the profit or loss – expense + / 
income – 

 11  4,629,797  4,308,407 

Share of the profit/loss of associates    -1,410,039  764,369 
Income from investment activities    16,095  -546,532 
Gain on bargain purchase    -3,782,481  0 
Impairment on goodwill recognised    27,853  0 
Finance costs recognised under profit or loss    17,410,115  8,488,052 
Investment revenue recognised in profit or loss    -9,342,246  4,259,868 
Proceeds from the sale of tangible and intangible assets    -21,264,848  -811,585 
Change in the fair value of investment properties    -21,608,962  -40,625,927 
Net gain (-) / loss (-) arising on financial liabilities 

recognised at fair value through profit or loss 
   -1,319,143  2,148,768 

Change in impairment of receivables:    225,848  43,109 
Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets    1,644,545  1,482,193 
Change in provisions  28.2  510,989  -5,625,329 
Foreign exchange gain (-) / loss (+)    -3,604,372  21,608,983 

  
     

Adjusted profit or loss for the year  
  17,306,562  7,834,926 

  
     

Changes in working capital       

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade and other receivables  21  7,032,787  -11,991,032 
Increase (-) /decrease (+) in inventories  19  8,745,593  13,589,591 
Increase - / decrease + in other assets  

  -690,885  -448,837 
Adjusted decrease of trade and other payables  30  -2,660,584  -10,712,502 
Decrease (-) / increase (+) in other payables  

  4,509,426  -5,307,923 
       

Cash-flows from operating activities    34,242,899  -7,035,777 

  
     

Financing expenses  10  -11,983,433  -14,002,502 
   Of which interest paid    -11,983,433  -14,002,502 
Income taxes paid    -10,141,373  -2,199,945 

  
     

Net cash flows from operating activities    12,118,093  -23,238,224 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
  
For the year ended 31 December 2021 – continued  Notes  2021  2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
       

Cash flows from investing activities       

  
     

Other short-term loans given - / repayment +    -11,607,927  -18,473,142 
Investments in associated companies    -32,951,183  0 
Reclassification of cash and bank accounts to assets held for 
sale 

 20  -12,750  -3,597,509 

Payments for property, plant and equipment and 
investment property 

 12, 
13 

 -50,994,733  -114,144,051 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and investment property 

   143,264,820  4,699,550 

Payments for intangible assets  15  -41,539  -71,318 
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries  35  -2,756,015.00  -552,850.00 
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries  34  49,449,010  2,758,269 

  
     

Net cash generated by investing activities    94,349,683  -129,381,051 
       

Cash flows from financial operations       

  
     

Proceeds from issuing shares  25  5,775  1,127,000 
Borrowings  32  75,288,665  199,791,695 
Repayment of borrowings  32  -116,150,575  -64,311,904 
Dividend paid to owners of the Group  23  -18,356,208  -1,378,430 

  
     

Net cash flow used in financing activities    -59,212,343  135,228,361 

  
     

Net decrease - /increase+ in cash and cash equivalents    47,255,433  -17,390,914 

  
     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  39  71,730,148  87,233,433 

  
     

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash 
held in foreign currencies 

   644,754  1,887,629 

       

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  39  119,630,335  71,730,148 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. General information 
WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság (hereinafter 
„WINGHOLDING Zrt.” or “Company” or together with the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures included in 
this consolidated financial statements referred to as the “Group”) is a corporation incorporated in Hungary, 
involved in the real estate and construction industry. The list of the principal activities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries are listed in note 16. The registered seat of the Company is at Máriássy street 7, H-1095 Budapest. 
The registration number of the Company is 01-10-046503. The major shareholder of WINGHOLDING Zrt. is 
DAYTON-Invest Kft. The ultimate owner of DAYTON-Invest Kft. is Tibor Veres.  
These financial statements are disclosed using thHUF, unless otherwise indicated. Activities performed abroad 
are disclosed in line with the accounting policy presented in Note 3. 

Group website: www.wing.hu 
 
2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS)  
A) Effects of the adoption of new IFRS standards and amendments effective as from 1 January 2021 
 
The following standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and 
adopted by the EU are effective for the current period: 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” with IFRS 9 delay (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2021), 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021), 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” – Covid 19-Related Rent Concessions applied after 30 June 2021 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021).  

 
The Group does not expect the adoption of these standards to have a material impact on the Group's financial 
statements.  
 
B) New and amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU but not yet 
effective  
 

- Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”; IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”; IAS 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Annual Improvements (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022), 
 

- IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” including amendments to IFRS 17 (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

- Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023), 
 

- Amendments to IAS 8  “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” – Definition 
of accounting estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).  
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C) New and amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not adopted by the EU  

The IFRSs adopted by EU do not significantly differ from the regulations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”), except for the below new standards, modifications and new interpretations which 
were not yet adopted by EU by the reporting date: 
 

- Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
- Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” –  Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

Single Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

- IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” IFRS —Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9―Comparative Information 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
- IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2016) – the European Commission has decided not to launch the endorsement process of this interim 
standard and to wait for the final standard. 

 
The adoption of these standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations will have no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
 
  



WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

37 
 

3. Significant accounting policies 
The following accounting policies are the most significant for the financial statements: 
 
3.1 The basis of accounting 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). As for issues not regulated in the IFRSs, in line with the 
IFRSs, the Group applies Act C of 2000 on Accounting. 
 
The person required to sign off the financial statements: Noah M. Steinberg (1012 Budapest Lovas út 16.)  The 
person responsible for bookkeeping: Waller Kornél (Registration number: 191944). The Group’s presentation 
currency and the parent company's functional currency is the Hungarian Forint. The Group determines the 
functional currency for each subsidiary and measures items in each entity's financial statements in that functional 
currency. 
 
The Group prepares the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared on the basis of the cost principle with the exception of certain financial 
instruments and investment property, which have been measured at their fair values in the statement of financial 
position. Items of the consolidated comprehensive income statement were calculated in line with the accruals 
principle. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hungarian Forints (HUF) and amounts are 
expressed in thousand HUF. The accounting and other records of the members of the Group are maintained and 
kept in accordance with the local regulations and accounting requirements. The members of the Group modify 
their local financial statements to ensure IFRS compliance. 
 
The presentation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management of the 
Group to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and their reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management makes estimates of the fair value 
of investment property (Note 13) and the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment (Note 
12). Actual values may differ from these estimates. 
 
Future changes in economic conditions, business strategies, regulatory requirements, accounting rules and other 
factors could result in a change in estimates that could have a material impact on future financial statements. 
 
The Company was incorporated on 29 October 2009, and the Company was registered by the Court of Registry 
on 30 October 2009.  Based on this the Company prepared IFRS financial statements first for the period ended 
31 December 2009. 
 
3.2 The basis of the consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and the enterprises 
controlled directly or indirectly (“subsidiaries”) by the Company. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. 
 
The Company revaluates whether it still controls an investee if facts and circumstances imply that there has been 
a change to one or more of the three elements of control mentioned above. 
 
The Company presents non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of financial position, within 
equity, separately from the equity attributable to the owners of the parent. 
 
The Group recognises the results generated by subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date on which control is obtained until the date of disposal of the subsidiaries, if any. 
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If a subsidiary applies an accounting policy different from the consolidated accounting policy, the figures of that 
subsidiary are adjusted to conform to the Group's accounting policy. 
 
The intragroup transactions and their results as well as outstanding balances are eliminated from the 
consolidated financial statements upon consolidation. 
 
3.3 Foreign currency translation 

As at the balance sheet date the Group revaluates all the items denominated in foreign currencies using the rates 
published by the Hungarian National Bank as at the balance sheet date.  Income and expenses arising in foreign 
currencies are converted at the rate of exchange on the transaction date. Resulting foreign exchange gains or 
losses are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for: 
 
• exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 

productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets if they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; 

• exchange differences on certain transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; 
and  

• exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss on settlement of monetary items. 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are expressed in HUF using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and 
expense are translated on the average exchange rates of the given period, except if the fluctuation is significant 
in the given period, in which case translation takes place on the exchange rate effective in the day of the 
transactions. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity. 
 
On the disposal of a foreign interest (i.e. either a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or 
a disposal resulting in loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or resulting in loss of 
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over 
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect 
of that operation attributable to the owners of the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Furthermore, in case 
of partial disposal of a subsidiary, which does not result in the Group’s loss of control over the subsidiary, the 
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences attributable to the Group is reclassified to non-
controlling interest and is not recognised in profit and loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or 
jointly controlled entities not involving the loss of the Group’s significant influence or joint control), the 
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.  
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments on the identified assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the current closing rate 
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange rate differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity. 
 
3.4 Business combinations 
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Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed in each business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Acquisition-related costs, other than costs of issuing debt or equity securities, are charged as a lump sum to profit 
or loss when incurred. 
 
3.5 Investment in associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control over those policies. 
 
The Group measures associated companies based on the equity method, where investments in associated 
companies are disclosed at historical cost on initial recognition, then the book value is increased or decreased in 
order to recognise the Group’s share in the investee’s profit generated since the acquisition. The Group’s share 
of profit of associates is recognised in the Group’s own profit. Dividend from associated companies decrease the 
investment’s book value. The Group's share of other comprehensive income of associates is recognised in the 
Group's own other comprehensive income.  The share of other comprehensive income of the associate includes 
the change in the revaluation of property, plant and equipment or the change in the translation difference. 
 
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the point in time when its investment ceases to be 
an associated company, according to the following: 
 

• if the associated company becomes a subsidiary, the Group recognises its investment pursuant to IFRS 
3 Business combinations and IFRS 10. 

• if the interest held in the previously associated company no longer qualifies as significant influence, and 
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Any difference of the following is recognised by the Group in profit or loss: 
 

• the fair value of the interest retained and revenue from disposal of the interest share held in the 
associated company; and 

• the book value of the interest at the point in time when the application of the equity method was 
discontinued. 

If the Group discontinues the use of the equity method, then it recognises amounts related to the given 
investment previously recognised by it in other comprehensive income on the ground of the same principle that 
would apply if the previously associated company had disposed of the related assets and liabilities directly. 
If the Group’s ownership interest in an associated company decreases, but the Group continues to apply the 
equity method, the Group must reclassify the part of profit or loss leading to the decrease of ownership share 
from other comprehensive income to profit and loss, if the profit or less would have to be reclassified to profit 
and loss upon disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 
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3.6 Goodwill 

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the 
acquisition date). Goodwill is the sum of the consideration paid, the value of the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree by the acquirer less the fair 
value of the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. 
 
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the 
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair 
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 
 
Goodwill is not amortised in accordance with IFRSs but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is lower than its carrying amount the impairment loss is first 
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to other assets of the unit 
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Impairment loss recognised for goodwill is 
not reversed in a subsequent period. 
 
On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or 
loss on disposal. 
 
Determining the fair value of the assets acquired may take a long time. In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 
3, the value of net assets acquired as well as the resulting goodwill or negative goodwill are finalised by the Group 
within one year from the date of acquisition (measurement period). The value of net assets and goodwill 
(negative goodwill) is recognised by the Group in the financial statements issued in the measurement period at 
a value that is based on its best estimate at the time of issue; however, such estimate may change during the 
measurement period. In accordance with the rules under IFRS 3 and IAS 8, these changes are treated by the 
Group not as corrections, but as adjustments relating to the measurement period. 
 
3.7 Revenue from contracts with customers  

3.7.1 Revenue from construction contracts  

For investment contracts, the performance obligation is satisfied on an ongoing basis. The Group measures 
progress of its performance obligations using the input method, which takes into account resources used, hours 
worked and costs incurred. The Group recognises income in proportion to the total expected expenditure 
required to settle the obligation. The contracting parties set milestones in investment contracts. Upon reaching 
the specified milestone, the Group invoices the revenue to the customer. Until the construction is invoiced, the 
Group presents the work performed as a contractual asset, and reclassifies it to trade receivables when the 
invoice is issued. 

3.7.2 Revenue from hotel services 

Within this activity the Group provides hotel and catering services. Revenue from hotel services is recognised 
when control of the goods or services has been transferred to the customer. Revenue is recognised in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to become entitled. 
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3.7.3 Revenue from property management 

The performance obligation in respect of the operation of real estate is satisfied on an ongoing basis. The 
percentage of completion is determined by the Group on the basis of hours worked and/or costs incurred. 

3.7.4 Lease and sale of residential properties 

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of residential property when the obligation to perform has been 
satisfied. The obligation to perform is fulfilled when the property is handed over to the buyer, which is carried 
out on the basis of the handover report. 
 
3.8 Investment Income 

3.8.1 Rental income from investment properties 

The Group recognises lease income on a straight-line basis in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 16 (Note 
3.9.1). 
 
3.8.2 Profit of disposal of investment properties and subsidiary holding investment 

properties 

The Group derecognises the subsidiary holding investment property when it loses control over the subsidiary 
and, at the same time, the Group recognises the gain on disposal of the subsidiary. 
 
3.8.3 Current year revaluation of investment properties 

The Group measures investment property at fair value. The change in fair value is presented under investment 
income. 
 
3.9 Leases 

3.9.1 The Group as lessor 

Lease contracts are classified as financial leases if in the course of the lease basically all the risks and the 
ownership of the underlying asset are transferred to the lessee. All other lease contracts are recognised as 
operating lease. 
 
The Group recognises assets held under finance leases as a receivable in the statement of financial position at 
the commencement date, for the same amount as the net investment in the lease. Profits from financial leases 
are recognised over the term of the lease and show the permanent recovery of the Group's net current lease 
investment accordingly. The initial value of financial lease receivables includes direct costs such as commissions. 
 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
3.9.2 The Group as lessee 

The lessee recognises a right-of use asset and a lease liability on the date of origination of the lease. 
 
Exceptions include short-term leases and leases where the asset concerned is of small value: in these cases the 
the Group recognises lease fee as expense over the lease term with a straight-line or other systematic method if 
that better reflects the distribution of profit. 
 
On the date of origination, the value of the lease liability is the present value of the lease fees not paid until the 
date of origination, discounted at the lease’s internal interest rate, or if it is not included in the contract, then at 
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the incremental lessee’s rate. After initial recognition, the Group increases the lease liability by the periodic 
interest or decreases it by the value of the lease payments made. 
 
The value of the right-of-use asset on the commencement date is the vale of the lease liability at initial 
recognition increased by the lease fees paid on or before the commencement date, decreased by lease 
incentives, and the lessee’s initial direct costs and the lessee’s estimated costs related to the decommissioning 
and removal of the underlying asset, and reconstruction of the venue, and restoration of the state of the 
underlying asset in line with the terms of lease, except if the costs were incurred with respect to the production 
of the inventories. 
 
3.10 Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
3.11 Income tax expense 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. From FY 2017, in Hungary 
the corporate income tax rate is 9% of the individual tax base. Polish subsidiaries are subject to a 19% corporate 
income tax rate. 
 
3.11.1 Current year taxation 

Currently payable taxes depend on the taxable income for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it does not include items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current 
tax liability is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
The Group only offsets its actual tax liabilities and actual tax assets against each other if the Company: 
 

(a) has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts; and  

(b) wishes to settle them on a net basis, or wishes to realise the receivables and settle the liability at the 
same time. 

 
3.11.2 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the calculation of taxable income. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

 
The Group recognises a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates to the extent that, and only to the extent that, it is probable that the temporary 
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difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority. 
 
3.11.3 Current and deferred tax for the period 

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to 
items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), 
in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss, or where they arise from the initial accounting for 
a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in the 
accounting for the business combination. 
 
3.12 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, 
are stated in the statement of financial position at their cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. 
Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy. Similarly to other tangible assets, for such assets, depreciation accumulates from the 
date when the property is ready for use. 
 
Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not 
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. 
 
Freehold land is not depreciated. 
 
Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and 
properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. 
Freehold land and construction in progress are not depreciated. The estimated useful life, residual value and the 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effect of any change in estimates recognised 
for future periods. 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 
 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or 
loss of the current year. 
 
3.13 Investment real property 

Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property 
under construction for such purposes), is measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Profit and loss from fair value measurement 
are disclosed by the Group in the year in which they arise. 
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The investment property is derecognized by the Group upon disposal, or when the investment property is  
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Profit or loss 
from withdrawal or disposal of investment property should be determined as the difference between the net 
income from the disposal of the asset and the book value of the asset, and should be recognised in profit or loss 
in the period of withdrawal or disposal. 
 
3.14 Intangible assets 

3.14.1 Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
estimated useful life and the method of amortisation are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, 
with the effect of any change in estimates recognised for future periods.  
 
3.14.2 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately. 
 
3.15 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any).  
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
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3.16 Inventories 

Inventories are stated in the financial statements at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories are 
classified as inventories expected to be recovered within a year and those expected to be recovered after more 
than one year. By the nature of the business, the Group recognises as inventories all costs that are incurred 
during the construction of the real property ready for sale, including loan costs. 
 
3.17 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.  
For onerous contracts, the Group makes a provision when it is probable that the total cost will exceed the 
contract revenue. 
 
3.18 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

3.18.1 Derivative financial instruments 

In the normal course of business, the Group also enters into contracts for derivative financial instruments that 
require a low initial investment relative to the total contract value, or whose value is a function of the underlying 
product and is due in the future. Derivative financial instruments include forward interest rate contracts, interest 
swaps, forward transactions and forex swaps, as well as options transactions. These financial instruments are 
conducted by the Group for hedging purposes, to cover the interest rate and forex risk of its transactions 
conducted in the financial markets. 
 
Derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. Fair values are obtained 
from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and options pricing models as appropriate. All 
derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. 
 
3.19 Derivative instruments that qualify as fair value or cash flow hedge transactions 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 on hedge accounting. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
The Group reports the cumulative fair value difference in cash flow hedging reserves. The gain or loss related to 
the hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in profit or loss and included in the statement of comprehensive income 
under "other gains and losses". Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in 
the same line as the recognised hedged item.  Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the 
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies 
for hedge accounting. 
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3.20 Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
or at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)  

a) Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)  
 

The Group measures equity instruments held for trading at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). If the equity 
instrument is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably decide to measure that equity instrument at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) at initial recognition. Equity instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, the Group measures equity instruments at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in other 
comprehensive income. Gains and losses from cumulative remeasurement on the disposal of equity instruments 
are not reclassified to profit or loss, but are reclassified to retained earnings. 
 
Debt instruments that the Group holds for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets are measured using the FVTOCI valuation principle. Debt instruments measured initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in the carrying amount of debt instruments that result from foreign 
exchange gains or losses, impairment losses recognised or reversed and interest income calculated using the 
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt 
instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

b) Securities measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

The Group measures investments in equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group 
designates the measurement of the equity instrument at fair value through other comprehensive income upon 
initial recognition. The Group may elect this option if the equity instrument is not held for trading or is not related 
to contingent consideration from a business combination.  

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or FVTOCI criteria are classified as FVTPL. However, 
in the case of debt instruments that meet the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria, the Group may irrevocably 
decide, at initial recognition, to designate them as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if this eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (an accounting mismatch) that would 
otherwise arise if the assets or liabilities were measured or the gains or losses on them recognised on a different 
basis.  The Group has no debt instruments that are accounted for on a FVTPL basis. 
 
3.21 Financial assets measured at amortised cost (AC) 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when they are held for cash flow collection. At certain times, the 
conditions of the contractual cash-flows result in such cash-flows that are merely the payments of the interest 
received on the principal and the outstanding capital amount. 
 
Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method 
of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any 
loss allowance. 
 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights for cash flows expires, or the assets are transferred. 
When financial assets are derecognized, the difference between the carrying value (as of the date of 
derecognition) and the consideration received is recognised in the income statement. 
 
When the contractual cash flows of the financial asset are modified, but the modification does not lead to the 
derecognition of the financial asset, the Group recalculates the gross carrying value of the financial asset in a way 
that the expected future cash flows are rediscounted with the original effective interest rate. 
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Interest is recognised with the effective interest method. 
 
The Group measures expected credit losses as the difference between the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the estimated present value of future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest 
rate. The adjustments are recognised in profit or loss as an impairment loss or gain. 
 
4. Accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are regularly reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
4.1 Fair value of investment properties 

The Group measures investment properties at fair value (Note 13) with changes in fair value recorded in the 
profit or loss. The fair value measurement of real estate is classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The valuation of the property is based on the income approach using the discounted cash flow technique, which 
takes into account future income from rental income (including rental guarantees), property sales and other 
expenses incurred.  The rates used to determine the residual values recognised in the cash flow is derived from 
estimates based on prior agreements, letters of intent, valuations by external valuers or market knowledge.  The 
rates used also take risk into account.  Risk is assessed individually for each property, depending on its condition.  
 
4.2 Assets classified as held for sale 

The Group reclassifies subsidiaries that typically own investment property or investment property to assets held 
for sale (Note 20).  In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations, the Group recognises such assets at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.  As in determining the fair value of investment property, management makes estimates and 
assumptions in determining the fair value less costs to sell of assets held for sale.  
 
4.3 Financial instruments measured at fair value 

The Group measures cash flow hedge transactions at fair value (Note 27). The fair value of derivative transactions 
qualifies as expert estimate constructed from observable input; therefore the fair value is on Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
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4.4 Impairment of trade receivables 

Impairment losses recognised on trade receivables are based on historical default rates, while taking into account 
forward-looking macroeconomic data that characterise the industry (Note 21). 
 
4.5 Inventories 

In determining the value of inventories held by the Group at the balance sheet date, it takes into account current 
market prices from the development market, expected selling prices and information from advance sales 
contracts entered into by the Group.  The assumptions used in the calculation of depreciation are mainly based 
on prevailing property market prices in the relevant market segment.  The value of land included in inventories 
is dependent on the suitability of the land to meet the Group's current and future operating needs based on 
management's assessment.  
 
4.6 Functional currency 

In determining the functional currency of a subsidiary, the Group's management considers the primary and 
secondary factors set out in the relevant standard, although there may be cases where primary and secondary 
characteristics are mixed.  In such cases, management uses its best judgement in determining the functional 
currency that best reflects the economic effects of the transactions, events and conditions. 
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5. Investment revenue 

    2021  2020 
    thHUF  thHUF 

    restated      
Rental income     
 Rental income from investment properties  26,962,493  24,806,923 
    26,962,493  24,806,923 

       
Revenue from other investment     

 Profit of disposal of subsidiary holding 
investment properties 

 10,607,858  -540,512 

 Proceeds from disposal of investment 
property  18,178,024  -574,130 

 Current year revaluation of investment 
properties 

 20,008,614  40,625,927 
 Other (aggregate of immaterial items)  117,992  -793,834 
    48,912,488  38,717,451 

        

    75,874,981  63,524,374 
 
In 2021, the Group sold its shares in Elitur Invest Zrt., M43 Kft., NEO Property Services Zrt, WINMARK Kft and 
WIPEUROPA Kft. 
 
A significant part of the line "Gains on sales of investment properties" consists of the sales of Infopark B, C, D, I 
properties. 
 
The amount of expenses directly linked to operating lease fee income from investment property was thHUF 
29,862,325 (in 2020: thHUF 9,343,372). The amount of expenses directly linked to investment property not 
generating income was thHUF 28,350 (2020: thHUF 17,281).  
 
The Group reclassified rental income in the amount of thHUF 9,226,059 from revenue from customer contracts 
to investment income for comparative 2020 figures. The Group believes that the presentation of the item in 
investment income more faithfully reflects its economic substance.  The lines affected by the reclassification 
have been marked by the Group as 'restated'.  The reclassification has no impact on other line items in the 
financial statements. 
 

 Before restatement Reclassificatio
n Restated 

Investment revenue 54,298,315 9,226,059 63,524,374 
Rental income from investment properties 15,580,864 9,226,059 24,806,923 
Revenue from contracts with customers 117,086,143 -9,226,059 107,860,084 
Lease and sale of residential properties 74,449,420 -9,226,059 65,223,361 
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6. Revenue from contracts with customers 

An analysis of the Group’s management and service revenue for the year from continuing operations (excluding 
investment income – see Note 5) is as follows: 

  2021  2020 
  thHUF  thHUF 
    restated      

Lease and sale of residential properties  106,354,238  65,223,361 
Revenue from property management  6,510,078  32,776,415 
Revenue from construction contracts  470,995  6,556,990 
Revenue from hotel services  1,787,070  1,221,398 
Revenue from the supply of administrative and other 
services  

280,636 
 

274,498 

Revenues from fund management activity  65,216  125,742 
Revenue from the rendering of architectural services  83,085  221,939 
Marketing service revenues  103,384  127,767 
Other revenues  5,620,646  1,331,974 
     

  121,275,348  107,860,084 
 
The Group recognises revenue from investment contracts on an ongoing basis using the input method. The 
customer contracts do not include significant financing components or a right of return. 
 
The timing of revenue recognised in relation to investment contracts is consistent with the timing of payment of 
the related performance obligations. 
 
7. Segment information 
From an organisational point of view, the Group has seven key segments: 
 
Office segment: The Office segment includes companies that are primarily engaged in the lease and operation of 
office-type investment property. 
 
Industry and Logistics segment: The Industry and Logistics segment comprises companies that are primarily 
engaged in the lease and operation of industrial, logistics, warehouse and related office-type investment 
property. 
 
Retail segment: The Retail segment comprises businesses that are primarily engaged in the lease and operation 
of store-type investment property, shops and related offices, warehouses and parking space. 
 
Hotel segment: The Hotel segment includes companies that are engaged in hotel operation. 
 
Residential property segment: The Residential property segment contains members that are engaged in the 
development, sale and renting out of residential property. 
 
Real property related services segment: The real property related services segment includes companies whose 
activity is designed to support the operation of the other segments with administrative, planning, technical 
advisory, asset management, holding and other property related services. 
 
Real estate construction: This segment includes member companies engaged in construction as a general 
contractors.  
 
Financial information for these segments are presented in the tables on the following pages.
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Additional financial 
information on the 
operating segments 
for the period ended 
31 December 2021 

 
Real estate 

development and 
investment 

 
Development 

and investment 
in industrial and 
logistics property 

 
Development and 
investment in retail 

property 
 

Hotel 
development, 

investment and 
operation 

 Real estate 
construction 

 Services related to 
real estate 

 
Residential 

property 
development 

and sale 

 Other  Intersegment 
screening 

 Total 

  
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

 
thHUF 

                     

Investment income 
from outside the 
Group 

 

44,181,932  9,313,372  9,783,459  2,126  0  11,910,051  470,204  213,837  0  75,874,981 

Investment income 
from customers in 
another segment 

 

14,282,351  5,904  5,321  0  0  810  0  0  -14,294,386  0 

                     
Total income from 
investment 

 
58,464,283  9,319,276  9,788,780  2,126  0  11,910,861  470,204  213,837  -14,294,386  75,874,981 

                     
Revenue from outside 
the Group 

 
3,428,470  189,268  342,969  1,852,346  470,995  3,295,085  108,108,369  5,606,790  0  123,294,292 

Revenue from 
customers in other 
segments 

 

2,394,387  1,847  1,714  120  19,294  2,304,296  335,212  0  -5,056,870  0 

                     
Sales revenue total 

 
5,822,857  191,115  344,683  1,852,466  490,289  5,599,381  108,443,581  5,606,790  -5,056,870  123,294,292 

                     
Financing income 

 
78,582  71,009  304,742  1,330  0  340,403  853,415  83,124  0  1,732,605 

                     
Financing expenses 

 
-6,600,646   -700,886  -1,845,111  -110,480  0  -3,961,100  -4,381,222  -1,811,402  0  -19,410,847 

                     
Pre-tax profit 

 
26,248,331  7,901,492  2,945,369  351,028  -114,618  5,109,884  14,396,571  -69,445  0  56,768,612 

                     

Income tax 
 

-299,515  -510,784  -113,892  17,719  -26,846  -667,302  -2,832,513  -196,664  0  -4,629,797 
                     

Total assets 
 

312,804,834  64,155,196  129,527,567  4,831,962  176,475  94,801,367  224,948,071  46,646,390  0  877,891,862 
                     
Current and non-
current liabilities 

 
217,498,562  25,372,002  80,247,204  3,936,346  18,939  121,995,891  149,359,654  63,914,343  0  662,342,941 

                     
Depreciation and 
amortisation 

 
-578,383  -44,778  -14,010  -237,800  0  120,440  -93,438  -796,576  0  -1,644,545 

                     
Share of the 
profit/loss of 
associates 

 

0  0  -1,477,401  0  0  -424,112  3,311,552  0  0  1,410,039 

                     
Participation in 
associates 

 
0  0  18,770,527  0  0  29,919,223  9,928,551  80  0  58,618,381 

Additional financial 
information on the 
operating segments 
for the period ended 
31 December 2020 

 

Real estate 
development and 

investment 

 

Development and 
investment in 
industrial and 

logistics property 
 

Development and 
investment in retail 

property 

 

Hotel 
development, 

investment and 
operation 

 

Real estate 
construction 

 

Services related to 
real estate 

 

Residential 
property 

development 
and sale 

 

Other 

 

Intersegment 
screening 

 

Total 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
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Investment income 
from outside the 
Group  

38,989,044  8,492,043  5,637,306  1,898  0  275,184  911,068  -12,459  0  54,294,084 

Investment income 
from customers in 
another segment  

2,330,711  8,311  11,766  0  0  8,793,619  0  0  -11,144,407  0 

                     
Total income from 
investment  

41,319,755  8,500,354  5,649,072  1,898  0  9,068,803  911,068  -12,459  -11,144,407  54,294,084 
                     

Revenue from 
outside the Group  

11,600,701  1,116,788  5,502,448  1,158,668  6,556,990  9,651,315  87,736,697  1,970,558  0  125,294,165 

Revenue from 
customers in other 
segments  

3,689,828  956  -101,798  88,018  4,696,568  3,620,735  0  0  -11,994,307  0 

                     
Sales revenue total  15,290,529  1,117,744  5,400,650  1,246,686  11,253,558  13,272,050  87,736,697  1,970,558  -11,994,307  125,294,165 

                     
Financing income  621,959  270  149  74  0  87,110  -220,322  0  0  489,240 

                     
Financing expenses  -3,467,707   -689,517  -1,019,638  -116,049  0  -3,418,311  1,719,389  -6,584,992  0  -13,576,825 

                     
Pre-tax profit  22,732,665  5,167,776  -456,230  -339,838  3,695,511  -8,861,964  4,010,219  -9,527,183  0  16,420,956 

                     

Income tax   -2,752,742   -416,439   500,944   38,729   -214,128   -41,125   -3,682,073   2,696,086   0   -3,870,748 

                     
Total assets  441,883,739  59,975,075  112,246,188  6,089,325  2,185,075  30,125,504  116,012,643  58,867,907  0  827,385,456 

                     
Current and non-
current liabilities  

209,476,867  29,859,564  55,331,890  4,145,156  1,502,893  118,064,294  50,732,689  186,772,192  0  655,885,545 
                     

Depreciation and 
amortisation  

-134,785  -31,111  -89,321  -241,774  0  -177,820  -18,316  -789,066  0  -1,482,193 

                     
Share of the 
profit/loss of 
associates  

0  0  -3,358,394  0  0  163,614  2,602,410  0  0  -592,370 

                     
Participation in 
associates  

9,140,332  0  9,037,553  0  0  235,258  7,758,764  0  0  26,171,907 
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The segment report includes the results of discontinued operations on the corresponding income statement 
lines. 
 
Geographical information 

  Revenue from external customers  Fixed assets * 

  
2021  2020  31  

December 2021 
 31  

December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
         
Hungary  14,893,613  29,438,367  318,687,009  278,338,431 
revenue related to 
discontinued operation  2,018,945  8,208,041  n/a  n/a 

Poland  108,380,621  86,613,665  98,731,820  200,447,913 
Bulgaria  20,058  16,093  0  1,750,545 
           

  123,294,292  116,068,125  417,418,829  480,536,889 

* Fixed assets do not include financial instruments and deferred tax assets 

The Group had no customer from which it received more than 10% of its sales revenue in 2021 and 2020. 

 
8. Other income and expenses 

  
2021 

 
2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Other income  5,292,952  3,935,149 
Changes in provisions +  0  3,385,264 
Indemnity, default interest received  421,104  164,703 
Subsidies received   97,781  78,961 
Gain on bargain purchase  3,782,481  0 
Other not significant income  991,586  306,221 

     

Other expenditure  -7,779,803  -6,054,129 
Change in provisions -  -510,989  0 
Other taxes and contributions -  -3,949,788  -3,038,004 
Net foreign exchange rate loss realised -  -1,984,176  -384,576 
Default penalty, damages, late interest -  -63,466  -101,266 
Net value of assets derecognised due to impairment and 
scrapping of tangible assets -  

-137,924 
 

-479,376 

Funding granted -  -41,197  -62,366 
Receivables forgiven, debt assumed -  -157,637  -55,579 
Impairment of goodwill -  -27,853  0 
Other not significant expenses  -906,773  -1,932,962 

  
 

 
 

  -2,486,851  -2,118,980 
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9. Finance income 

  

2021 

 

2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Interest income  
 

  
Financial assets at amortised cost      

Bank deposits  325,905  48,110 

Other financial assets at amortised cost  1,334,789  430,568 

Cash flow hedge reserve reversed to profit or loss 
  70,908  0 

  1,731,602  478,678 

 
10. Expenditure of financial transactions 

  

2021 

 

2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Interest paid on loans and bank loans  9,833,823  11,043,773 
Interest paid on bonds  9,522,684  3,088,092 
Interest paid on lease purchases  493,029  309,151 
Total interest paid in the current year  19,849,536  14,441,016 
Decreased: borrowing costs capitalised on assets  -438,949   -864,191 

     

Total financial expenditures  19,410,587  13,576,825 
 
The capitalisation rate applied to the Group's borrowing costs is 1.17% (2020: 1.23%) 
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11. Income taxes 
11.1 Income tax recognized through profit or loss 

   

2021 

 

2020 

   thHUF  thHUF 
     

Tax expense comprises:     
 Current tax expense  -10,150,116  -732,304 

      
 Deferred tax recognised in profit/loss  5,520,319  -3,138,444 

 
Deferred tax income/expense relating to the origination and 
reversal of temporary differences  

1,303,495 
 

4,903,752 

 Deferred tax income/expense related to revaluation of 
investment properties 

 4,337,563  -4,022,171 

 Other deferred tax expense/income relating to the 
origination and reversal of temporary differences 

 -120,739  -4,020,025 

       

 Deferred tax recognised in other comprehensive income  -217,329  151,045 

 
Tax income/ expense  
recognised directly in other comprehensive income 

 -217,329  151,045 

 
     

 
Total tax expense /income  
relating to continuing operations  

-4,847,126 
 

-3,719,703 

 
11.2 Current tax assets and liabilities 

   31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

   thHUF  thHUF 
Current tax assets     
 Tax overpayment  1,217,420  576,402 

      

   1,217,420  576,402 
Tax liabilities for the current year    

 

 Income taxes payable  1,180,899  131,628 
      

   1,180,899  131,628 
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11.3 Deferred tax balances 

   
31 December 2021 

 
31 December 2020 

   thHUF  thHUF 
     

Tax effect of temporary differences by title     
 Tangible assets  -1,893,315  -1,134,369 

 Inventories  -2,594,075  -1,494,709 

 Interest swap transactions  1,117,546  1,736,609 
 Revaluation of bonds, loans  344,163  667,794 
 Revaluation of loans granted  -915,279  -1,088,118 

 Provisions  1,035,225  45,177 

 Doubtful receivables  40,059  39,065 

 Deferred income  -59,044  -74,490 
 Associates   -1,013,037  -1,081,343 
 Revaluation of long-term investments  9,566,505  9,470,803 
 Fair value of investment properties  -16,810,828  -21,833,628 
 Other  13,775  -617,706 

       

   -11,168,305  -15,364,915 

     
 

      
Unused carry-forward-able loss  

 
 

 

 Tax for carry-forwardable loss  5,148,344  4,391,883 

     
 

Impairment of deferred tax assets    -11,042,795  -10,728,983 
      

     
 

Net deferred tax liability  -17,062,756  -21,702,015 
 
Losses to be carried forward are expected to be used in the next periods; therefore deferred tax assets will be 
recovered. 
 
The maturity of the losses carried forward for which the Group has recognised deferred tax is shown below: 
 
Maturity 
date  

Amount of loss to be 
matured 

2022  446,388 
2023  1,165,153 
2024  6,058,956 
2025  6,668,754 
2026  6,250,713 
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The assets and liabilities in the schedule above have been presented by their origination. In the financial 
statements the items which can be legally offset were netted off. Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet are as follows: 
 

  
31 December 2021 

 
31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

     
Deferred tax assets  6,234,264  5,539,522 

     

Deferred tax liabilities  23,297,020  27,241,537 

     
Net deferred tax liability  -17,062,756  -21,702,015 

 
The Group's operations are subject to corporate tax according to the country of operation of the subsidiary as 
follows:   
 

  Effective CIT rate  
  %  
Bulgaria  10  
Poland  19  
Hungary  9  

 
Tax liability may be calculated from the accounting results: 
 

  
2021 

 
2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

    
 

Pre-tax profit  56,994,019  15,175,785  

   
 

 

Calculated tax liability  -10,979,324  -1,506,097 
Effect of profit not constituting the tax base.  9,631,452  1,638,005 
Increase from effect of revenues exempt from taxation  0  0 
Tax liabilities of previous years  -40,211  299,565 
Effect of non-deductible costs  -3,750,384  -1,181,396 
Effect of deferred losses used  178,827  -2,813,979 
Effect of deferred tax liability  -543,442  -280,563 
Minimum tax payable under a legal regulation  867,203  -26,283 
Effect of tax credit  6,082  0 
Difference from different tax rates  0  0 

   
 

 

Income tax expense (-) / income (+)  -4,629,797  -3,870,748  
      

Tax recognised in other comprehensive income  -217,329  151,045  
      

Total income tax expense (+) / income (–)  -4,847,126  -3,719,703  
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Historical cost  17,193,570  13,078,363 
Accumulated depreciation  -4,809,173  -3,665,951 

    
 

  12,384,397  9,412,412 

    
 

Land and buildings and related valuable rights  7,198,539  6,207,825 
Machinery and equipment  2,100,731  1,826,399 
Pending investments  716,044  623,127 
Right-of use assets  2,369,083  755,061 

    
 

  12,384,397  9,412,412 
 

  

Right-of use 
assets 

 

Land and 
buildings 

and 
related 

valuable 
rights 

 
Machinery 

and 
equipment 

 Pending 
investments 

 Total 

  thHUF   thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 

Historical cost           

Balance as of 31.12.2019  1,078,207  5,506,952  3,117,820  636,429  10,339,408 

           
Increase  201,801  451,444  885,735  1,172,217  2,711,197 
Due to acquisition of subsidiary  0  1,125,459  95,457  0  1,220,916 
Reclassification from investment 
property 

 0  1,030,000  0  0  1,030,000 

Reclassification to assets 
classified as held for sale 

 0  -60,968  -393,260  -1,280  -455,508 

Decrease due to capitalisation of 
assets 

 0  0  0  -1,337,179  -1,337,179 

Derecognition due to sale and 
scrapping 

 -223,959  -66,566  -313,385  0  -603,910 

Lease reassessment  -56,014  0  0  0  -56,014 
Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

 0   36,173  40,340  152,940  229,453 

           

Balance as at 31.12.2020  1,000,035  8,022,494  3,432,707  623,127  13,078,363 

           
           
           
           

 
 

Right-of use 
assets  

Land and 
buildings 

and 
 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 
 Pending 

investments  Total 
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related 
valuable 

rights 
  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
           
Increase  1,885,956  218,383  796,319  1,107,619  4,008,277 
Due to acquisition of subsidiary  0  1,271,711  474,734  0  1,746,445 
Reclassification from investment 
property  0  272,914  0  0  272,914 

Reclassification to assets 
classified as held for sale  0  0  0  0  0 

Decrease due to capitalisation of 
assets  0  0  0  -1,014,702  -1,014,702 

Derecognition due to sale and 
scrapping  -137,345  -113,625  -700,026  0  -950,996 

Lease reassessment  -1,431  0  0  0  -1,431 
Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries  0  27,336  27,364  0  54,700 

           
Balance as at 31.12.2021  2,747,215  9,699,213  4,031,098  716,044  17,193,570 

           
Accumulated depreciation           

Balance as of 31.12.2019  133,160  1,354,860  1,561,102  0  3,049,122 
           

Ordinary depreciation 
recognised in the current year 

 129,577  495,894  663,018  0  1,288,489 

Impairment recognised in the 
current year 

 0  0  0  0  0 

Depreciation due to acquisitions  0  0  0  0  0 
Derecognition  -17,763  -28,220  -594,348  0  -640,331 
Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

 0  -7,865  -23,464  0   -31,329 

            

Balance as at 31.12.2020  244,974  1,814,669  1,606,308  0  3,665,951 

           
Ordinary depreciation 
recognised in the current year  745,115  216,441  461,888  0  1,423,444 

Impairment recognised in the 
current year  0  0  0  0  0 

Depreciation due to acquisitions  0  465,499  191,917  0  657,416 
Derecognition  -625,890  -4,497  -351,868  0  -982,255 
Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries  13,933  8,562  22,122  0  44,617 

           
Balance as at 31.12.2021  378,132  2,500,674  1,930,367  0  4,809,173 

  

Right-of use 
assets 

 

Land and 
buildings 

and 
related 

valuable 
rights 

 
Machinery 

and 
equipment 

 Pending 
investments 

 Total 

  thHUF   thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
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Net value           
Balance as at 31.12.2020  755,061  6,207,825  1,826,399  623,127  9,412,412 
Balance as at 31.12.2021  2,369,083  7,198,539  2,100,731  716,044  12,384,397 

 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the following useful life figures: 
 

Buildings 20 years 
Machinery and equipment 5-15 years 

Right-of use assets 

The Group shall account for depreciation of the 
right-of-use asset from the commencement date 
until the earlier of the end of its useful life or the 
end of the lease term. 

 
 
13. Investment real property 

 

  

Real property for 
investment 

 Investment property 
construction in progress  

Total 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
 

 
  

   

Value of investment properties on 
31.12.2019 

 268,793,502  130,288,278  399,081,780 

       

Investment expenditure  0  111,432,854  111,432,854 
Revaluation of assets  23,346,733  17,279,194  40,625,927 
Completed capex  141,857,840  -141,857,840  0 
Disposals  -8,044,352  0  -8,044,352 
Reclassification to assets held for 
trading 

 -51,645,854  -53,160,139  -104,805,993 

Reclassification from inventories  0  2,520,708  2,520,708 

Reclassification to tangible assets  -1,030,000  0  -1,030,000 

Impact of FX reclassification  1,657,890  2,671,444  4,329,334 

  .  .  . 

Value of investment properties on 
31.12.2020 

 374,935,759  69,174,499  444,110,258 

       
       
       
       
       
       
Investment expenditure  0  31,686,670  31,686,670 
Revaluation of assets  14,066,760  5,941,854  20,008,614 
Completed capex  16,631,836  -16,631,836  0 
Reclassification to construction in 
progress  -6,493,700  6,493,700  0 
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Real property for 
investment 

 Investment property 
construction in progress  

Total 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
Due to acquisition of subsidiary  8,781,929  0  8,781,929 
Disposals  -85,212,694  0  -85,212,694 
Reclassification to assets held for 
trading  -52,964,481  -35,672,311  -88,636,792 

Reclassification from inventories  0  10,666,249  10,666,249 
Reclassified as inventories  -3,295,432  -1,052,010  -4,347,442 
Reclassification to tangible assets  -272,914  0  -272,914 
Impact of FX reclassification  1,420,712  788,427  2,209,139 
       
Value of investment properties on 
31.12.2021  267,597,775  71,395,242  338,993,017 

 
 
Due to the nature of its activities, the Group uses external funds for the financing of qualifying assets. The 
borrowing costs directly related to the qualifying assets are 100% capitalised. 
 
In several phases, the Group issued a series of fixed-interest EUR-denominated bonds with various maturities, 
then used these funds to finance its subsidiaries on various terms in a way that the Group had other liquid assets 
in addition to the external funds involved for general purposes. 
 
The fair value of secured investment property was thHUF 384,259,303 at 31 December 2021 (2020: thHUF 
488,743,326). 
 
Investment properties include leased real property and real property to be developed.  
 
As a result of the acquisition of DKR Echo Invest S.A. and DKR Echo Investment Sp. z o.o. (direct control over the 
Archicom S.A. group) the value of investment property increased by the value of the Wrocław City2 project and 
the value of the Gajków and Wrocław lands. 
 
In 2021, the Group sold its shares in Elitur Invest Zrt., M43 Kft., NEO Property Services Zrt, WINMARK Kft and 
WIPEUROPA Kft, as well as the real properties of Infopark B, C, D, I – these transactions decreased the value of 
investment property.  
 
Due to the intention to sell within 12 months, the Group classified the following investment properties and 
investment property subsidiaries as assets held for sale: 
 

• Face2Face I and II. office building (Katowice) 
• West4 Business Hub I office building (Wrocław) 
• land (Radom) 
• Bulmag Real Estate Eood  
• C.3.I Management Eood  
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The Group had investment properties assessed by internal and external experts to determine their fair value. To 
determine fair value, experts used the following methods: 
 

• Market or turnover analysis based on comparable data 
• Reproduction measurement method 
• Return measurement method (primarily leased property) 

 
The measurement methods above fall under Level 3 category of the fair value hierarchy. In 2021 there was no 
reclassification in the fair value hierarchy levels. Measurement methods did not change. Changes in the fair value 
of investment property are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income under "Investment income". 
 
The discount rate used in valuations is considered an unobservable input. The discount rates used in the 
valuations fall within the range of 3.79% to 10.0%. 
 
In the case of properties located in Hungary, assessment was carried out by certified appraisers having recent 
experience in the area and category of the investment property. Of the total reported value of investment 
property in Hungary, 97.97% is presented on the basis of a valuation by a third-party appraiser with expertise. 
The fair value of the properties located in Poland is assessed with the board’s approval, using known market 
transactions, offers, letters of intent, and the assessor’s industry knowledge and experience.  
 
14. Goodwill 

  Goodwill 

  thHUF 
Historical cost  

 

On 31 December 2019   2,291,228 

Due to acquisition of subsidiary  0 
Derecognized on disposal of subsidiary  0 
Reclassification to assets classified as held for sale  -1,684,213 

On 31 December 2020  607,015 

Due to acquisition of subsidiary  0 
Derecognized on disposal of subsidiary  0 
Reclassification to assets classified as held for sale  0 
On 31 December 2021  607,015 

   
Accumulated impairment   
On 31 December 2019   0 
Current-year impairment  0 
Derecognized on disposal of subsidiary  0 
On 31 December 2020   0 
Current-year impairment  27,853 
Derecognized on disposal of subsidiary  0 

On 31 December 2021  27,853 

   
Net value   
On 31 December 2020  607,015 

On 31 December 2021  579,162 
 
The goodwill is allocated to the following cash-generating units: 
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31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Services related to real estate  579,162  602,684 
Real estate development and investment  0  4,331 

  
 

 
 

  579,162  607,015 
 
Goodwill was recognised by the Group in 2009 on the acquisition of the Company's subsidiaries. The goodwill 
recognised on 31 December 2021 was related to the acquisition of WING Zrt. in 2009. 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Group assessed the value of goodwill and where the carrying amount of cash-
generating units at the balance sheet date was higher than the related expected recoverable amount, 
impairment loss was recognised.  
 
The recoverable amount of cash-generating units is determined by the Group on the basis of a value-in-use 
calculation based on a 1-year financial plan approved by management, with an annual discount rate of 15%. The 
cash flows beyond the five-year period are determined using the annual constant growth rate of 8.5% published 
by the Central Statistical Office. 
 
15. Other intangible assets 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Historical cost  7,107,868  1,230,785 
Accumulated amortisation  -1,342,995  868,936 

    
 

  5,764,873  361,849 

    
 

Value of contract portfolio  0  0 
Licences  408,542  361,849 
Trade mark  5,356,331  0 

 
As a result of the acquisition of the shares of DKR Investment S.A. and DKR Sp. z o.o. (indirectly Archicom S.A.), 
the Group recognised the “Archicom" trademark as an intangible asset.  The Group recorded a deferred tax 
liability of PLN 12,674 thousand in its books in relation to the trademark. The Group's management has 
determined that there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the services and goods sold under the 
trademark managed by the Group are expected to generate financial benefits and therefore the trademark is 
treated as an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life. The Group does not recognise amortisation for the 
trademark, but reviews the useful life at each reporting period to determine whether events and circumstances 
continue to support the view that the useful life of the asset is still indefinite and performs an annual impairment 
test of the trademark.  
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Archicom Group estimated the value of the Archicom trademark for impairment 
using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method based on the Group's five-year financial plan for the period 2022-
2026.  The analysis took into account, among other things, the underlying cash flows from revenues from the 
sale of products and services and marketing expenses. 
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Key assumptions used in the impairment test: 

• value in use was determined using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method  
• the recoverable amount was determined by considering the Archicom S.A. Group as a cash 

generating unit 
• the royalty rate was set by the Group at 3,91 % 
• the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) was set at 11,86 %, while the expected rate of return on 

intangible assets was 17,47 % 
• the projected cash flow period assumed by the Group was 5 years (from 2022 to 2026)  
• revenue growth was set at 5% over the 5-year period, while no growth was expected over the long-term 

period 

The current year changes to intangible assets is presented in the following table: 
 

  

Value of 
contract 
portfolio  

Licences  Trade mark 
 

Total 

 
 thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 

Historical cost         

 
 

       
At 31 December 2019  9,105,000  1,324,882  0  10,429,882 

        
 

Additions  0  225,260  0  225,260 
Purchased via company acquisition  0  18  0  18 
Decrease  0  -139,124  0  -139,124 
Reclassification to assets classified as 
held for sale  

-9,105,000  -198,111  0  -9,303,111 

Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

 0  17,860  0  17,860 

         

At 31 December 2020  0  1,230,785  0  1,230,785 

         
Additions  0  162,625  0  162,625 
Purchased via company acquisition  0  352,838  5,356,331  5,709,169 
Decrease  0  -7,219  0  -7,219 
Reclassification to assets classified as 
held for sale 

 0  0  0  0 

Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

 0  12,508  0  12,508 

  
       

At 31 December 2021  0  1,751,537  5,356,331  7,107,868 

         
         
         
         
         
         

Accumulated depreciation         
         

At 31 December 2019  379,375  936,611  0  1,315,986 
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Value of 
contract 
portfolio  

Licences  Trade mark 
 

Total 

Amortisation recognised in the current 
year 

 0  193,704  0  193,704 

Extraordinary depreciation recognised 
in the current year 

 0  0  0  0 

Taken via company acquisition  0  0  0  0 
Derecognition  0  -273,368  0  -273,368 
Reclassification to assets classified as 
held for sale 

 -379,375  0  0  -379,375 

Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

 0  11,989  0  11,989 
         

At 31 December 2020  0  868,936  0  868,936 
         

Amortisation recognised in the current 
year 

 0  221,101  0  221,101 

Extraordinary depreciation recognised 
in the current year 

 0  0  0  0 

Taken via company acquisition  0  229,738  0  229,738 
Derecognition  0  -1,357  0  -1,357 
Reclassification to assets classified as 
held for sale 

 0  0  0  0 

Effect of revaluation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

 0  24,577  0  24,577 

  
 

 
     

At 31 December 2021  0  1,342,995  0  1,342,995 

         
Net value         

At 31 December 2020  0  361,849  0  361,849 

At 31 December 2021  0  408,542  5,356,331  5,764,873 
 
No impairment of intangible assets was recognised in the current year. 
 
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:  
 
Licences:       3-5 years  
Trademark:       Indefinite life  
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16. Subsidiaries 
The subsidiaries of the Company as at 31.12.2021 were: 
 

Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

ANDRÁSSY PALOTA Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

ASPECTUS ARCHITECT Zrt.   architectural 
activities Hungary 92.25 92.25 

Aurora Ingatlan Befektetési Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
BCE Universitas Kft. (as of 04.02.2022: 
RPORT COURT Kft.)   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 

BUILDWING Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Bulmag Real Estate Eood   real estate sale Bulgaria 51.00 51.00 
BULWIN Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 51.00 51.00 
C.3.I Management Eood   real estate sale Bulgaria 51.00 51.00 
"CS36" Kft.    real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
EAST GATE BUSINESS PARK Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
ECOSERWING Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
ECOTRANS INGATLAN Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Elitur Invest Zrt.   asset management Hungary 0.00 100.00 
EURÉKA PARK Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
GLADIÁTOR Befektetési Alapkezelő Zrt.   fund management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Gladiátor II. Ingatlan Befektetési Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Gladiátor III. Ingatlan Befektetési Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Gladiátor V. Ingatlanfejlesztő 
Befektetési Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

Gladiátor VI. Ingatlan Befektetési Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Gladiátor VII. Ingatlanfejlesztő 
Befektetési Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

Gorba EOOD   real estate sale Bulgaria 51.00 51.00 
KÖNYVESPARK Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
KRAOT Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
LIVING I. Property Development 
Investment Fund   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

LIVING II. Ingatlanfejlesztő Befektetési 
Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

LIVING III. Ingatlanfejlesztő Befektetési 
Alap   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 0.00 

LIVING-Service Kft.   property and facility 
management Hungary 100.00 100.00 

LIVING-Szabolcs Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 55.00 55.00 
LOGIWIN Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 0.00 
M43 Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 0.00 100.00 
Magnum Hungaria Invest Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Manhattan Development Global Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
MÁRIÁSSY HÁZ Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
MEDIUS Tours Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
MEVINVEST Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
MOM-Park MFC Kft.  „v.a.”   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

NEO Property Services Zrt.   property and facility 
management Hungary 0.00 100.00 

ParkWest 2 Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 55.00 55.00 
Property Service Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
PROPWIN Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
PROWINEMP Munkavállalói 
Résztulajdonosi Program Szervezet 
(ESOP organisation) 

  ESOP Organisation Hungary 0.00 0.00 

REALWINGEST Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
S-HOTEL Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Skylight City Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
SOPIANAE-PROJEKT Kft.    real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
TCW ARRABONA Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
TCW HONVÉD IRODAHÁZ Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
TCW Liget Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
TCW QUATTRO Kft.    real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

TCW Zrt.   

business and 
management 
consultancy 

activities, property 
management 

Hungary 100.00 100.00 

TSZ DEVELOPMENT Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
TSZ PORTFOLIO Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
TUDINGMA Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
URBAN CONSTRUCT Kft.   construction activity Hungary 100.00 100.00 
V 45 Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WEU-Invest Kft. „v.a.”   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINASSET Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINCENTER EUROPE Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINDEVELOP PROJEKT Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINDIRECT Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINERSZ-ING Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WING IHC Zrt.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 

WING Zrt.   property 
development Hungary 97.36 96.03 

WINGEUROPE Zrt.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINGLINE Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINGPROP Zrt.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINGREAL Kft.    asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINGSERVE Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINHUN PROJEKT Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINMEGA Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 0.00 
WINMARK Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 0.00 100.00 
WINPARK PROJEKT Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINSZERIM Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINSZIM Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WINTSZ Kft.   asset management Hungary 100.00 100.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

WIPEUROPA Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 0.00 100.00 
WIPNORG Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPR Alfa Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPR Éta Kft. „v.a.”   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPR MÉDIA Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPROPA CENTER Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPROP-Invest Kft. „v.a.”   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPR PORT Kft.   hotel operation Hungary 100.00 100.00 
WPR QUARTUS Kft.   real estate sale Hungary 100.00 100.00 
Yorven EOOD   real estate sale Bulgaria 51.00 51.00 
Lisala Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 94.50 92.82 
Echo Investment S.A.   real estate sale Poland 66.00 66.00 
53 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA w 
likwidacji   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 

Avatar - Projekt Echo - 119 Sp. z o.o. 
SKA   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 

Babka Tower- Projekt Echo 93 Sp. z o.o. 
sp.k.   residential property 

development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Bełchatów - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA 
w likwidacji   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

City Space - GP Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Supersam City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Rondo 1 City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Plac Unii City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
City Space Management Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Cornwall Investments Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
React - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 
Dagnall Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Dellia Investments - Projekt Echo - 115 
sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Doxent Investments Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Duże Naramowice - Projekt Echo - 111 
Sp. z o.o. SKA    residential property 

development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo - Advisory Services Sp. z o.o.   management 
consulting Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo - Arena Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - Aurus Sp. z o.o.   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - Babka Tower Sp. z o.o. w 
likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo - Babka Tower Sp. z o.o. Sp. k.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 
Echo - Browary Warszawskie Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - Browary Warszawskie Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.    residential property 

development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo - Galaxy Sp. z o.o. w likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - Galaxy Sp. z o.o. SKA   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - Nowy Mokotów Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo - Nowy Mokotów Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Echo - Opolska Business Park Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - Opolska Business Park Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   services related to 

real estate Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo - Property Poznań 1 Sp. z o.o.   construction activity Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo - SPV 7 Sp. z o.o.   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 
Tryton - City Space GP Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 
Echo Investment ACC - Grupa Echo Sp. z 
o.o. Sp.K.   accounting services Poland 100.00 100.00 

Echo Investment Project 1 S.R.L.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Echo Investment Project Management 
S.R.L.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Elektrownia RE Sp. z o.o.   property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Fianar Investments Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Galeria Libero - Projekt Echo 120 Sp. z 
o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Galeria Nova - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. 
SKA   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Galeria Tarnów - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. 
SKA    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Gleann Sp. z o.o. w likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Gosford Investments Sp. z o.o.   residential property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

GRO Nieruchomości Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Kasztanowa Aleja  - Grupa Echo Sp. z 
o.o. Sp. k.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Kielce - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Klimt House - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp. 
k.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Malta Office Park - Grupa Echo Sp. z 
o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Metropolis - Projekt Echo 121 Sp. z o.o. 
SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Oxygen - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA w 
likwidacji   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Park Postępu - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. 
SKA  w likwidacji   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 

Park Rozwoju III - Projekt Echo - 112 Sp. 
z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Perth Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
PHS - "Grupa Echo" Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Pod Klonami - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp. 
k.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Potton Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
PPR - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Princess Investment Sp. z o.o.   residential property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt 1 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 12 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Projekt 13 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA w 
likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt 132 - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 

Projekt 133 - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Nobilis - City Space GP Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 14 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA w 
likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

React - Dagnall Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 16 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 17 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Cinema Asset Manager - Grupa Echo sp. 
z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Face2Face - Stranraer Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 21 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA w 
likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Midpoint 71 - Cornwall Investments Sp. 
z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt 5 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Beethovena - Projekt Echo - 122 
Sp. z o.o. SKA    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt CS Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 104 Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 108 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 111 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 112 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 113 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 115 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 116 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 119 Sp. z o.o. w likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 120 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 121 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 122 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 123 Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 127 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 128 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 129 Sp. z o.o.   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 130 Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 131 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 135 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt Echo - 135 Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   services related to 
real estate Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt Echo - 136 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt Echo - 136 Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   residential property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt Echo - 137 Sp. z o.o.   residential property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt 139 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Projekt 140 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Aquarius - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

142 - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Beethovena - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt 144 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 145 - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt 146 - City Space - GP Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt 147 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt 148 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. Sp. 
k.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt Echo - 93 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 99 Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt K-6 - Grupa Echo Sp. z o.o. SKA 
w likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt Naramowice - Grupa Echo Sp. z 
o.o. SKA   residential property 

development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt Saska Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 95.00 95.00 
Pudsey Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Pure Systems Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

Q22 - Projekt Echo - 128 Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   services related to 
real estate Poland 100.00 100.00 

Sagittarius - Projekt Echo - 113 Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.   services related to 

real estate Poland 100.00 100.00 

Seaford Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Selmer Investments Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Selmer Investments Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Senja 2 Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Shanklin Sp. z o.o. w likwidacji   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Stranraer Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Strood Sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 100.00 
Swanage Sp. z o.o.   group financing Poland 100.00 100.00 
Symetris - Projekt Echo - 131 Sp. z o.o. 
Sp.K.    services related to 

real estate Poland 100.00 100.00 

Taśmowa - Projekt Echo - 116 Sp. z o.o. 
SKA   residential property 

development Poland 100.00 100.00 

ZAM - Projekt Echo - 127 Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   residential property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Villea Investments Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Bowen Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 

RPGZ IX Sp. z o.o.    residential property 
development Poland 100.00 100.00 

Projekt 150 – Shanklin Sp.  z o.o. Sp. k.   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 
Projekt 151 - Projekt 13 - Grupa Echo 
Sp. z o.o SKA SK   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Projekt 152 - Projekt 14 - Grupa Echo 
Sp. z o.o SKA SK   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt 153 - Projekt 21 - Grupa Echo 
Sp. z o.o SKA SK   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt 154 - Projekt K-6 - Grupa Echo 
Sp. z o.o SKA SK   real estate sale Poland 0.00 100.00 

Projekt Echo - 139 Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 140 Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 141 Sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 142 Sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 143 Sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 144 Sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
Projekt Echo - 145 Sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 100.00 
DKR Echo Investment sp. z o.o.   asset management Poland 100.00 0.00 
DKR Echo Invest S.A.   asset management Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom S.A.   real estate sale Poland 74.32 0.00 
Archicom Residential sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Residential 2 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Consulting sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Stabłowice sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Jagodno 5 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Bartoszowice 1 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 2 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 3 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 4 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 5 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 6 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 7 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 8 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 9 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 10 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 11 sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 12 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 14 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
MICHELIN POLSKA Sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 17 sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 18 sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 19 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości JN1 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości JN2 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości JN3 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości Club House 
sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 

Archicom Nieruchomości Residential sp. 
z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
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Name of subsidiary: 
 

Activities 
Place of 

incorporation and 
operation 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31 2020.12.31 

Archicom Holding sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Cadenza Hallera sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Lofty Platinum 1 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Jagodno sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Jagodno sp. z o.o. – sp. k.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Marina 3 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Marina 4 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Marina 5 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
TN Stabłowice 1 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Dobrzykowice Park sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Byczyńska 1 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Nieruchomości 20 sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Space Investment Strzegomska 3 
Otyńska sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 

Space Investment Strzegomska 3  
Kamieńskiego sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 

Archicom Investment sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Strzegomska Nowa sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
AD Management sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Sp. z o.o. – Realizacja 
Inwestycji – sp. k.    services related to 

real estate Poland 100.00 0.00 

Archicom Asset Management sp. z o.o.   accounting services Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom Fin sp. z o.o.   group financing Poland 100.00 0.00 
P16 Inowrocławska sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Altona Investments sp. z o.o.   real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 
Archicom RW sp. z o.o.    real estate sale Poland 100.00 0.00 

 
The Polish subsidiaries are owned by the Groupvia Echo Investment S.A., in which the Group holds a 66% share. 
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17. Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures 
The joint ventures and associated companies as at 31.12.2021 are the following: 

Name of undertaking 
 

Activities  
Place of 

incorporation 
and operation 

 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31. (2020.12.31.) 

AKKO Invest Nyrt.   asset management   Hungary   30.10 (00.00) 
PW3 Kft.   real estate sale   Hungary   19.75 (00.00) 
Sky I. Magántőke Alap   asset management   Hungary   78.00 (00.00) 
WEBC Kft. "v.a."  
(terminated by voluntary dissolution)   real estate sale   Hungary   0.00 (16.60) 

MOM-MANAGEMENT Kft. "v.a." 
(terminated by voluntary dissolution)   property operation   Hungary   0.00 (33.33) 

Rosehill Investments Sp. z o.o.   asset management   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 
Berea Sp. z o.o.    real estate sale   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 
Projekt Echo - 138 Sp. z o.o. Sp.K.   real estate sale   Poland   46.20 (45.26) 
Projekt Echo - 138 Sp. z o.o.   asset management   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 
R4R Poland Sp. z o.o.   asset management   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Łódź Wodna Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Wrocław Kępa Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Wrocław Rychtalska Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Warszawa Browary Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Leasing Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Poznań Szczepanowskiego Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Warszawa Taśmowa Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Warszawa Woronicza Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Gdańsk Kołobrzeska Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R RE Sp. z o.o.    letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Kraków 3 Maja Sp. z o.o.    letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Warszawa Wilanowska Sp. z o.o.    letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R RE Wave 3 Sp. z o.o.    letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Kraków Puszkarska Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   0.00 (30.00) 

Pimech Invest Sp.z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

M2 Hotel Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R RE Wave 4 Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 
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Name of undertaking 
 

Activities  
Place of 

incorporation 
and operation 

 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting rights 

held (%) 
 2021.12.31. (2020.12.31.) 

R4R Kraków JPII Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (30.00) 

R4R Wrocław Jaworska II  Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R Gdańsk Stocznia Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R Wrocław Park Zachodni Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

M2 Biuro Sp. z o.o.    letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R Łódź Kilińskiego Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R Gdańsk Zielony Trójkąt Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R SPV 10 Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R Wrocław Grabiszyńska Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

Hotel Kraków Romanowicza Sp. z. o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

R4R Poznań Nowe Miasto Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

Hotel Kraków Zabłocie Sp. z o.o.   letting of residential 
property   Poland   30.00 (00.00) 

Management has determined that the Group does not have unilateral control over joint ventures, irrespective 
of ownership interest, and therefore includes them in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. 
 
Financial data for the Group's associates and joint ventures are as follows (aggregated data are presented on 
the basis of the individual IFRS financial statements): 
 
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
    restated*      

Current assets 42,422,998  10,636,623 
Fixed assets 455,987,283  254,268,409 

Total assets 498,410,281  264,905,032 
     

Short-term liabilities 53,053,373  27,355,421 
Non-current liabilities 309,197,431  175,070,902 

Total liabilities 362,250,804  202,426,323 

 
   

 

Net assets 136,159,477  62,478,709 

 
   

 

Group’s share of net assets of associates and joint ventures 52,717,284  22,608,431 

     
  2021  2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
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Total revenue and investment income 48,740,491  7,218,802 

 
   

 

Total profit for the period 10,785,865  -2,699,453 
     

Profit from continuing operations 10,785,867  -2,699,453 
     

Profit from discontinued operations 0  0 
     

Other comprehensive income -1,127  0 
     

Group’s share of profit of associates and joint ventures 1,410,039  -827,860 

 
   

 

Dividend and interim dividend received from associates and 
joint ventures 0  0 

 
The purchase price of the associates and joint ventures differed from the value of their net assets at the time of 
acquisition, which is why the carrying amount exceeds the value of the Group's equity by HUF 5,901,097 
thousand.  
 
* The Group's share of equity of associates and joint ventures has been restated for comparative 2020 figures 
due to a calculation difference. As a result of the restatement, the value has been adjusted from HUF 15,026,054 
thousand to HUF 22,608,431 thousand. The restatement has no impact on the other parts of the financial 
statements.  
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18. Other financial assets 

  
31 December 2021 

 
31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
 

    
Loans to associates  25,127,717  16,856,268 
Other receivables from associates  3,952,738  0 
Other long-term loans  602,774  0 
Other short-term loans  687,868  956,943 
Liquid assets deposited for long term  0  0 
Loans to associated parties  4,439,249  2,936,995 
Impairment recognised on loans   -38,676   -25,494 
Interest rate SWAP receivables  1,519,437  0 
Other non-current financial assets  4,439,866  0 

     

  40,730,973  20,724,712 

     
Short-term  6,611,858  1,055,746 
Long-term  34,119,115   19,668,966 

     

  40,730,973  20,724,712 
 
Those loans to associates that are denominated in Polish zloty bear interest at a variable rate linked to the WIBOR 
base rate, while those that are denominated in euro bear fixed interest rates. 
Other receivables from associates are the discounted deferred purchase price related to the sale of shares. 
Loans to associated parties comprise the loans to the parent company. Loans to the parent company are 
denominated in HUF; their interest rate is a variable rate linked to the base rate of the central bank. 
Other non-current financial assets are receivables from the sale of a subsidiary, which are denominated in Polish 
zloty and bear fixed interest rates. 
 
19. Inventories 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Capitalised costs of residential property development  29,625,083  9,608,713 
Land held for the construction of residential property  8,862,722  5,340,308 
Work in progress  117,055,398  51,625,672 
Goods  344,040  16,154,988 
Raw materials  11,275  14,413,357 

      

  155,898,518  97,143,038 
 
Inventories typically include residential developments. The capitalised costs of residential property development 
include, inter alia, design fees, construction costs and interest expenses that can be capitalised under IAS 23. 
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The cost of inventories recognised as expenses during the year was thHUF 87,250,377 (2020: HUF 69,613,944). 
In 2021, the depreciation recorded on inventories was HUF 4,582 thousand, while the write-back was HUF 1,693 
thousand. 
 
Inventories include properties under development related to specific projects, which are not homogeneous in 
nature and are not interchangeable, so that the cost of inventories is assigned to them by specific identification 
of their individual costs. 
 
As of 31 December 2021 inventories included inventories with a carrying value of HUF 16,936,811 thousand 
pledged as security (2020: HUF 10,513,543 thousand). 
 
20. Discontinued operations and assetsheld for sale 
 
Discontinued operations 
 
On 7 September 2020, Wingholding Zrt made an announcement to capital market players, stating that the 
directly owned Wing Zrt concluded a share sale and purchase agreement regarding the transfer of a share 
package representing 100% of the share capital of NEO Property Services Zrt as its subsidiary. 
 
NEO Property Services Zrt. is a significant separate line of the Group, which performs real property related 
services in Hungary. By selling NEO Property Services Zrt., the Group no longer provides such services, i.e. these 
are classified as discontinued operations. The Group recognises the assets and liabilities of NEO Property Services 
Zrt. in "Assets classified as held for sale" and "Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale" 
in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the results for 2020 and 2021 are presented 
separately in the statement of comprehensive income under "Discontinued operations". 
 
The transfer of the share of NEO Property Services Zrt. was completed on 16 February 2021. 
 
The following table demonstrates the results of discontinued operations related to NEO Property Services Zrt. 
 
 2021 

 
2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 
    
Income (Revenues and financial income) 2,019,949  8,208,041 
Expenditures -1,794,541  -6,955,332 
Profit before tax of discontinued operations 225,408  1,252,709 
Income tax related to activities ceased: -1,491,020  -90,336 
Profit from discontinued operations -1,265,612  1,162,373 

 
Cash-flow related to discontinued operations was as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 thHUF thHUF 
   
Operating cash flow 1,027,599 1,618,494 
Investment cash flow -12,468 -88,358 
Financing cash flows 0 0 
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Assets classified as held for sale 
 
As the following companies meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale at the end of the financial year, the 
Group presents the assets and liabilities of the following companies as assets and liabilities held for sale: 
 

• Bulmag Real Estate Eood  
• C.3.I Management Eood  

In addition to the above, the Group reclassified real property in Warsaw (Moje Miejsce II), in Katowice (Face2Face 
I & II), in Łódź (Fuzja CD & J) and Wrocławban (MidPoint 71 and West4 Business Hub I, as well as a plot of land in 
Gdańsk that they intend to sell within 12 months.  
 
The assets held for sale and the related liabilities are shown in the table below: 
 
 

 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 
    

Fixed assets 114,309,939  119,206,911 
Tangible assets 0  91,688 
Real property for investment 114,308,461  109,247,264 
Goodwill 0  1,684,213 
Other intangible assets 0  8,183,746 
Investment in associates 0  0 
Deferred tax assets 0  0 
Other financial assets 1,478  0 
    
Current assets 20,259  9,331,407 
Inventories 0  400 
Trade and other receivables 6,331  5,701,323 
Tax assets 1,178  18,625 
Other financial assets 0  0 
Cash and bank account 12,750  3,611,059 

     
Assets classified as held for sale 114,330,198  128,538,318 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
 thHUF  thHUF 
    
Non-current liabilities 144,862  15,216,750 

Loans and bonds payable 0 
 

12,699,988 

Other financial liabilities 0  0 
Deferred tax liabilities 144,862  897,581 
Provisions 0  0 
Other liabilities 0  1,619,181 

    
    
    
    
Short-term liabilities 54,468,670  45,728,826 
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21. Trade and other receivables 

  
31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

    
 

Trade receivables (debtors)  7,893,973  6,581,924 
Allowance for doubtful debts  -2,908,996  -1,298,530 

  
 

 
 

  4,984,977  5,283,394 

  
 

 
 

Prepayments  1,071,277  3,468,824 
Deferral of purchase price due for the discount period  656,044  827,669 
VAT receivables  7,134,427  1,082,607 
Given advance, deposit  4,441,197  2,510,837 
Interim dividend  1,024,400  0 
Receivables from other taxes and contributions  101,283  8,065,660 
Lease receivables  0  0 
Receivables from assignment of receivables  15,815  61,854 
Receivables relating to shares  500,000  0 
Receivables from the sale of property  1,676,985  0 
Bond receivable related to the purchase of property  803,000  0 
Other non-significant receivables  1,100,919  1,169,031 

  18,525,347  17,186,482 

  
 

 
 

  23,510,324  22,469,876 

 
  

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Trade and other payables 1,742  5,968,646 

Loans and bonds payable 49,203,183 
 

39,330,694 

Other financial liabilities 0  314,448 
Tax liabilities 0  0 
Provisions 0  114,946 
Other liabilities 5,263,745  92 

    
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held 
for sale 54,613,532  60,945,576 
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21.1 Trade receivables 

The Group applies the simplified expected credit loss model for trade receivables, whereby the expected credit 
loss is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit loss. 
 
The aging of the gross value of trade receivables is shown in the table below: 
 
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
Day     
     
0  2,581,434  3,652,573 
1-30  527,368  1,063,134 
31-90  435,817  429,995 
91-180  1,252,017  89,909 
181-365  355,620  356,800 
365+  2,741,717  989,513 
Total gross value  7,893,973  6,581,924 
Impairment  -2,908,996  -1,298,530 
Net value  4,984,977  5,283,394 

21.1.1 Reconciliation of credit losses on trade receivables 

 2021  2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

    
Opening balance -1,298,530  -1,392,853 
Impairment recognised -2,259,918  -430,343 
Released impairment 694,292  543,189 
Revaluation difference -44,840  -18,523 
Closing balance -2,908,996  -1,298,530 

 
22. Registered capital 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Registered capital  5,000  5,000 

  
 

  

  5,000  5,000 

  
 

  
Registered capital comprises  

 
  

  
 

  
49 fully paid ordinary shares of series “A” with a total 
nominal value of thHUF 100  

4,900 
 

5,000 

1 fully paid ordinary shares of series “B” with a total 
nominal value of thHUF 100  100  0 

  
 

  

  5,000  5,000 

 
All issued shares are ordinary shares with the general rights attached to ordinary shares. 
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23. Retained earnings 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Opening balance  117,988,946  113,717,981 

     
Profit attributable to owners of the Company  44,009,494  9,715,768 
Dividend payment  -19,288,257  -1,378,430 
Increase of participation in subsidiary  2,244,210  -2,297,043 
Disposal of investments in subsidiaries  0  -1,769,330 
Reclassifications from cash flow hedge reserve  3,136,677  0 

     
End of the year  148,091,070  117,988,946 

 
After 2021, the Board of Directors recommends dividend payment in the amount of thHUF 9,000,000 for the 
owners of the Group. 
 
24. Reserves 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Balance at beginning of year  -2,306,119  -778,883 
     
Changes in cash flow hedges  2,414,763  -1,678,281 
Deferred tax changes related to changes in cash flow 
hedges  

-217,329  151,045 

Reclassifications from cash flow hedge reserve  -3,136,677  0 

  
   

End of the year  -3,245,362  -2,306,119 
 
The liabilities recognised as a result of the valuation of the interest rate swap deals increased by HUF 2,503,089 
thousand during the year as a result of which the cash flow hedging reserve increased by HUF 2,414,763 thousand 
as a change in value. As the Company sold its share in WIPEUROPA Kft. in 2021, the related provision of HUF 
88,326 thousand was transferred to the net result. The cash flow hedge reserve reclassification line also includes 
the reserve related to SWAP transactions derecognised prior to the 2020 financial year, amounting to HUF 
3,225,003 thousand, which were not previously reclassified to net profit.  The prior period error is a 
reclassification between retained earnings and the valuation reserve for cash flow hedges, as such there is no 
impact on profit or loss or equity. 
 
As the amount of the liability recognised decreased, the amount of corresponding deferred tax asset decreased 
by thHUF 217,329. 
 
The Group reviewed the effectiveness of cash flow hedges. The hedge effectiveness is within the threshold set 
by the Group, so the total change in fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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25. Non-controlling interests 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Balance at beginning of year  53,787,258  56,554,656 
     
Sale of shares and participations  0  6,395,366 
Rate of capital increase  5,775  1,127,000 
Increase of subsidiary interests  12,490,519  -13,041,406 
Dividends paid to external shareholders  -6,576,648  0 
Share of accumulated reserve  7,081,411  2,751,642 

     
End of the year  66,788,315  53,787,258 

 
26. Loans and debts from bond issue 
 

  
31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Bank loans  194,232,232  251,909,529 
Bonds payable  246,358,845  215,105,309 
Lease related liabilities  18,700,688  11,559,960 

     

  459,291,765  478,574,798 

     
Short-term  105,977,748  82,545,774 
Long-term  353,314,017  396,029,024 

     

  459,291,765  478,574,798 
 
Bank loans are variable interest loans depending on the reference interest rate. The reference interest rate in 
case of loans denominated in HUF is the the actual interest rate of the Hungarian National Bank and it is EURIBOR 
in case of the loans denominated in Euros, while reference interest rate in case of loans taken out in Zloty is 
WIBOR. The loan agreements are long-term loans, the terms of the loans is between 3 and 10 years. General 
covenant of the loan agreements is the property value to loan balance, the agreed minimum amount of which 
was met by the Group. 
 
The security of the loans are mortgage on the properties, assignment of sales revenue, lien established on 
investments. 
 
Bond movements in the current year: 
 

Name of bond ISIN code Foreign 
exchange 

Opening balance 
Issue Maturity 

Closing balance 
Interest rate 

2021.01.01 31.12.2021 

WINGHOLDING 2021/I HU0000358445 EUR 33,943,000 0 33,943,000 0 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2022/I HU0000359062 EUR 64,184,000 0 0 64,184,000 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2024/I HU0000359070 EUR 23,950,000 0 0 23,950,000 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2024/II HU0000359088 HUF 3,831,000,000 0 0 3,831,000,000 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2030/I HU0000359666 HUF 54,700,000,000 0 0 54,700,000,000 Fixed 3.5% 

WINGHOLDING 2031/I HU0000360805 HUF 0 25,300,000,000 0 25,300,000,000 FIXED 3% 

1/2017 PLECHPS00225 PLN 155,000,000 0 -155,000,000 0 Wibor 6M + 
margin 
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Name of bond ISIN code Foreign 
exchange 

Opening balance 
Issue Maturity 

Closing balance 
Interest rate 

2021.01.01 31.12.2021 
2/2021 (previously: 
2/2017 and 1/2018) 

PLECHPS00258 / 
PLECHPS00282 PLN 186,550,000 16,860,000 0 203,410,000 Wibor 6M + 

margin 

1/2019 PLECHPS00308 PLN 96,510,000 0 0 96,510,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

1/2020 PLO017000012 PLN 150,000,000 0 0 150,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

1P/2020 PLO017000020 PLN 100,000,000 0 0 100,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

1/2021 PLO017000046 PLN 0 195,000,000 0 195,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

E series issuance PLECHPS00225 PLN 100,000,000 0 -100,000,000 0 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

F series issuance PLECHPS00233 PLN 125,000,000 0 0 125,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

G series issuance PLECHPS00241 PLN 75,000,000 0 0 75,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

Issuance of H series PLECHPS00266 PLN 50,000,000 0 0 50,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

I series issuance PLECHPS00274 PLN 50,000,000 0 0 50,000,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

J and J2 series issuance PLECHPS00290 PLN 33,832,000 0 0 33,832,000 Wibor 6M + 
margin 

1P/2021 PLO017000053 PLN 0 151,000,000 0 151,000,000 FIXED 5% 

1E/2020 PLECHPS00316 EUR 40,000,000 0 0 40,000,000 Fixed 4.5% 

2P/2020 PLO017000038 EUR 12,800,000 0 -12,800,000 0 Fixed 6% 

A series issuance - PLN 8,768,120 0 0 8,768,120 
10% 

2% 

B series issuance - PLN 8,306,640 0 0 8,306,640 
10% 

2% 

C series issuance - PLN 4,614,800 0 0 4,614,800 
10% 

2% 

D series issuance - PLN 4,614,800 0 0 4,614,800 
10% 

2% 

M3/2018 PLARHCM00065 PLN 0 50,000,000 0 50,000,000 Wibor 3M + 
margin 

M4/2019 PLARHCM00073 PLN 0 60,000,000 0 60,000,000 Wibor 3M + 
margin 

M5/2020 PLO221800025 PLN 0 90,000,000 0 90,000,000 Wibor 3M + 
margin 

 
27. Other financial liabilities 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Financial liabilities at fair value 
    

Interest swap transactions                   3,566,332   6,069,421 
Call option                   4,086,869   0 

     
  7,653,201  6,069,421 

     
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Short-term part of financial liabilities at fair value  1,007,639  1,081,735 
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Non-current part of financial liabilities at amortised cost  6,645,562  4,987,686 

     
  7,653,201  6,069,421 

For some loans denominated in EUR, the Group minimized the risk of the variable interest rates by entering into 
interest-rate swaps. As a result, as at 31.12.2021 the fair value of the contracted future interest payments exceed 
the originally contracted amount of interest payments by HUF 3,566,331 thousand (by HUF 6,069,421 thousand 
as at 31.12.2020), therefore the Group recognises HUF 3,566,332 thousand as interest-rate swap loss. The 
originally agreed EURIBOR based interest is swapped for a fixed interest in case of these loans by the Group. 
 
The Group has a call option of HUF 4,086,869 thousand on 31 December 2021 for 8% of Archicom’s shares. 
 
The fair value of derivative transactions qualifies as expert estimate constructed from adequate input; therefore 
the fair value is on Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
28. Provisions 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Provisions for onerous contracts  0  298,286 

Provisions for expected profit shares  3,406,728  3,669,779 

Provisions for rent guarantees  1,312,423  980,817 

Provisions made for expected liabilities, 
fines, and pending lawsuits 

 5,244,246  2,021,555 

Other provisions  653,749  101,015 

     

  10,617,146  7,071,452 

     
Short-term  6,315,243  2,750,155 
Long-term  4,301,903  4,321,297 

 
 
Provisions for expected profit-sharing arise from agreements under which the investor is obliged to pay the 
capital representing its share of the investment. The capital is contributed to the entities that carry out the 
project through loans or issuing bonds. At the time of sale of the project, the capital is returned to the investor, 
together with the profit share due. 
 
When an investment property is sold, it may not be fully occupied at the time of sale. In certain cases, the Group 
guarantees the payment of the rent for a limited period. 
 
The timing of the realisation of provisions for expected liabilities, fines and pending litigation and guarantees is 
difficult to estimate, but it is highly probable that they will be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date. 
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Provisions 

for onerous 
contracts  

Provisions for 
expected profit 

shares   

Provisions for 
rent 

guarantees  

Provisions made 
for expected 

liabilities, fines, 
and pending 

lawsuits  

Other 
provisions Total 

Opening balance at 
01.01.2021 298,286 3,669,779 980,817 2,021,555 101,015 7,071,452 

Provisions 
recognised during 
the year 

0 121,376 771,596 3,360,926 770,060 5,023,958 

Provisions released -298,286 -424,268 -659,405 -2,098,415 -592,908 -4,073,282 
Due to acquisitions 0 0 199,808 1,945,713 362,010 2,507,531 
Eliminated on 
disposal of a 
subsidiary 

0 0 0 -79,806 0 -79,806 

Exchange 
differences 0 39,841 19,607 94,273 13,572 167,293 

Closing balance 
31.12.2021 0 3,406,728 1,312,423 5,244,246 653,749 10,617,146 

 
Of the net amount of provisioning shown in the table above (HUF 5,023,958 thousand) and provision utilisation 
(HUF 4,073,282 thousand) (which is HUF 950,676 thousand), HUF 439,687 thousand was recognised directly in 
the balance sheet and HUF 510,989 thousand in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
29. Other liabilities 

  
31 December 2021 

 
31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Caution related to rental agreements  1,133,807  1,314,645 
Advances received from customers    71,184,098  45,071,552 

     

  72,317,905  46,386,197 
     

Short-term  61,472,279  32,452,965 
Long-term  10,845,626  13,933,232 

 
Other liabilities include a balance of thHUF 71,184,098 received from customers as contractual obligation at the 
balance sheet date. 
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30. Trade and other payables 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Trade payables  22,811,097  13,098,184 
Accrued expenses  3,305,134  4,945,454 
Prepaid income  2,883,295  6,245,188 
Tax, transfer tax and contribution payables*  1,799,220  2,483,575 
Employee benefits payable (see note 38)  766,257  1,386,312 
Other non-significant liabilities  1,806,470  1,306,224 

    
 

  33,371,473  29,464,937 

 
* Taxes, duties and contributions payable include taxes and contributions relating to wages and VAT. 
 
Revenue amounting to thHUF 6,245,188 was recognised as income that was included in contractual obligations 
at the end of the previous period. 
 
31. Lease related liabilities 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Short-term leasing liabilities  8,591,465  3,822,080 
Non-current lease liabilities  10,109,223  7,737,880 

  
 

 
 

  18,700,688  11,559,960 

 
  Maturity analysis 

     
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

  
 

 
 

     

within one year  6,924,178  5,716,983 
Later than one year and not later than five years  8,471,436  5,778,117 
beyond 5 years  3,858,205  2,328,222 

  
 

 
 

                 19,253,819   13,823,322 
 
 2021  2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 
    

Depreciation on right of use assets 745,115  129,577 
of which depreciation related to real property 399,684  21,925 
of which depreciation related to vehicles 345,431  107,652 

Interest recognised on lease liabilities 788,290  44,118    
Total cash outflows of leases 2,932,466  155,385 
Costs related to small value and short-term leases 2,062,870  233,456 
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32.  Changes in liabilities related to financing activities 

 
   Non-cash changes  

 

1 January 
2021 

Financing 
cash flows (i) 

Revaluation 
of foreign 
exchange 

items 

Derecognition 
due to 

subsidiaries sold 

Due to 
acquisitions 

Impact of 
effective 
interest 

rate 
valuation 

Reclassification Lease 
reassessment 

Addition 
of new 
leases 

Other 
changes 

31 December 
2021 

             
Loan and bond 
payables 478,574,798 -40,861,910 784,764 -31,680,842 2,109,561 8,452,955 -9,169,859 -1,409,312 8,246,605 44,245,005 459,291,765 

            
Total liabilities 
from financing 
activities 

478,574,798 -40,861,910 784,764 -31,680,842 2,109,561 8,452,955 -9,169,859 -1,409,312 8,246,605 44,245,005 459,291,765 

 
33. Key financial data of subsidiaries with major non-controlling interest 

 
The value of non-controlling interests in the balance sheet is HUF 66,788,315 thousand, of which HUF 800,541 
thousand was recognised for LIVING-Szabolcs Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft., HUF 1,163,273 thousand for Park West 2 Kft., 
and HUF 64,555,986 thousand for Lisala sp. z o.o. In case of other subsidiaries with non-controlling interest, the 
impact of external owners is not significant for the Group. 
 
Before filtering the intra-group items, assets, liabilities, revenue, profit and dividend paid were recognised in full 
value. 
 
 

  
LIVING-Szabolcs 

Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft.  
Park West 2 Kft. 

 
Lisala sp. z o.o. 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 

       
Current year closing value of non-
controlling interests  

800,541 
 

1,163,273 
 

64,555,986 

       
Fixed assets  43,127  16,140  134,242,809 

       
Current assets  10,876,682  3,153,882  203,204,378 

       
Non-current liabilities  8,819,231  0  190,636,053 

       
Short-term liabilities  432,440  764,307  202,361,256 

       
Revenue  1,812  2,455  127,053,784 

       
Comprehensive income  -4,022  -3,688  10,111,761 

       

Change to cash and cash equivalents 
 

595,295 
 

445,716 
 

25,188,306 

 
 
 
There are no items recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to subsidiaries with major non-
controlling interest (NCI). 
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Subsidiary 
 Registered 

office 

 
Non-controlling interest held 

(%)  

The gain or loss 
attributable to the non-

controlling interest  

Accumulated amount of 
non-controlling interest 

   (HUF thousand)  (HUF thousand) 

  

31 December 
2021   31 December 

2020 
 

2021   2020 
 

31 
December 

2021 
  

31 
December 

2020 
LIVING-Szabolcs 
Ingatlanfejlesztő Kft.  

Budapest 
 

45.00  45.00 
 

-1,810  -7,919 
 

800,541  943,721 

Park West 2.  Budapest  45.00  45.00  -1,660  -1,777  1,163,273  1,164,932 
Lisala sp. z o.o.  Poland  5.50  7.18  7,152,442  4,090,942  64,555,986  51,454,053 

 
34. Disposal of subsidiaries 
In 2021, the Group sold its shares in Elitur Invest Zrt., NEO Property Services Zrt., M43 Kft., WINMARK Kft., and 
WIPEUROPA Kft. Key financial data of the sale of participations are shown in the table below: 
    

2021  2020 
   thHUF  thHUF 

1. Consideration received     
 

Consideration received 
 

51,582,973  1,421,963  
Deferred purchase price receivable 

 
3,952,738  0  

Total consideration received 
 

55,535,711  1,421,963    
   

2. Value of net assets over which the Group has no control   
   

   
 

 
 

   
 

Tangible assets 
 

411,933  414,139  
Real property for investment 

 
62,271,966  8,639,289  

Goodwill 
 

1,684,213  0  
Other intangible assets 

 
8,183,562  0  

Other financial assets 
 

242,500  0  
Total fixed assets 

 
72,794,174  9,053,428    

   
 

Cash and bank account 
 

6,086,701  1,510,973  
Trade and other receivables 

 
6,596,231  340,563  

Inventories 
 

5,334  4,292,287  
Total current assets 

 
12,688,266  6,143,823    

   

 Loans and bonds payable  29,086,237  0 
 Other financial liabilities  10,403  0 

 Deferred tax liabilities  1,169,379  0 

 Provisions  79,807  0 
 Other liabilities  396,427  0 

 Non-current liabilities  30,742,253  0    
   

      
      
      
       

Loans and bonds payable 
 

0  11,347,984  
Trade and other payables 

 
7,330,983  1,636,793  

Tax liabilities 
 

50,580  0 
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2021  2020  

Short-term provisions 
 

114,946  0  
Other short-term liabilities 

 
1,050,213  0  

Total current liabilities 
 

8,546,722  12,984,777    
      

Value of net assets 
 

46,193,465  2,212,474    
   

3. Gain from the disposal of subsidiaries     
   

   
 

Consideration received 
 

51,582,973  1,421,963  
External owner 

 
0  250,000  

Deferred purchase price payment obligation  3,952,738  0  
Value of net assets sold 

 
-46,193,465  -2,212,474    

      
Total 

 
9,342,246  -540,511  

of this, recognised in income from continuing operations 

 

10,607,858  -540,511 
 

of this, recognised in profit from discontinued operation 

 

-1,265,612  0 
   

   

4. Net cash flows from the sale of subsidiaries     
   

   
 

Consideration paid in cash 
 

55,535,711  1,421,963  
Funds transferred 

 
-6,086,701  -1,510,973    

       
49,449,010  -89,010 

 
35. Acquisition of subsidiaries 
35.1 Value of assets and liabilities obtained upon acquisition 

On April 22, 2021, Echo Investment S.A. entered into a purchase agreement with Dorota Jarodzka-Śródka, 
Kazimierz Śródka and Rafał Jarodzki - the founders of the Archicom Group - to purchase all shares of DKR 
Investment Sp. z o.o. (now DKR Echo Investments Sp. z o.o.) and all shares of DKR Invest S.A. 
 
Through the transaction, the Group indirectly acquired 16,945,487 shares in Archicom S.A.., representing 66.01% 
of the share capital and entitling the holder to 65.99% of the voting rights. 
 
Archicom S.A. is a company listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange.  The two subsidiaries of Archicom S.A., 
Archicom Polska S.A. and Archicom Studio Projekt Sp z o.o. Sp.K. are outside the scope of the transaction.   
 
The acquisition of shares in DKR (indirectly Archicom) is in line with Echo Investment's strategic objective to 
become a national leader in the retail sector. At the end of 2020, Archicom had built around 2,000 apartments 
and prepared 4,200 apartments in Wrocław and Kraków.  Once the transaction is finalised, the Echo-Archicom 
Group will be the largest residential property developer in Poland, with a total of 7,000 apartments for sale and 
rent to be developed in 2021. Archicom operates mainly in Wrocław.  The company has grown from a family-
owned design studio and has a track record of 160 completed projects, including the renovated Browary 
Wrocławskie complex, the award-winning Olimpia Port residential complex and the first exclusive Lofty project 
in Wrocław. Archicom is a strong, recognisable brand with a share of almost 15% of the Wrocław residential 
market.   
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The total purchase price has been set at PLN 482.4 million (HUF 37.6 billion), of which PLN 188 million (HUF 14.6 
billion) was achieved through a bond issue by Echo Investment S.A.  The bonds were issued on 22 April 2021 with 
a fixed annual interest rate of 5% and redemption date of 22 October 2024.   
 
In connection with the sale of the stake in Archicom S.A., Echo Investment and the partners of DKRA Sp. z o.o. 
have entered into an option agreement under which Echo Investment, or a legal entity designated by it, will be 
entitled to acquire all the shares in the share capital of DKRA Sp. z o.o. by 15 March 2023, which owns 8.31% of 
the shares in Archicom S.A. on substantially the same terms as those applicable to the indirect acquisition of 66% 
of the shares in Archicom S.A. on 22 April 2021. The consideration for this type of acquisition will be increased 
by the amount of interest at the rate of 6% per annum from 15 March 2021 until the date of execution of the 
option contract. In the event that Echo Investment S.A. does not exercise its right under the call option, the 
shareholders of DKRA Sp. z. o.o. will have the opportunity to sell their shares in the share capital of the company 
to Echo Investment. 
 
As a result of the option agreement, the Company has analysed the requirements of IFRS 10 to determine 
whether it meets all the conditions that currently allow it to access the financial results of the non-controlling 
interests in the acquired business. The Company concluded that the contractual rights resulted in an economic 
position as if it effectively owned the non-controlling interests.  On this basis, the non-controlling interest has 
been recognised and measured in the consolidated financial statements on a purchase price allocation basis.  
The value at the acquisition date was PLN 53.8 million (HUF 4.2 billion), which was recorded as part of the 
purchase price at nominal value.   
 
The Group has performed an analysis and concluded that the transaction meets the definition of a business 
within the meaning of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The investment properties acquired are fully operational 
and the transaction involved the acquisition of the entire business and operations. In view of the above, the 
criteria for the subject matter of the transaction to be considered a business are met and the transaction has 
been accounted for using the acquisition method. The Group acquired control as of 22 April 2021. 
 
The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase on the transaction.  Taking into account the requirements of 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group has reassessed the completeness of the identification of the assets and 
liabilities acquired and the procedures used to determine their value.  As a result of the procedures performed, 
the Group considered that it was appropriate to recognise the gain on bargain purchase, which is recognised in 
Other income and expense. The Group believes that there were a number of reasons for the gain on the bargain 
purchase, the most important of which related to changes in the market conditions for the sale of the 
apartments, which were favourable to the Company.  
 
The Group believes that the gain on the transaction arose from a number of circumstances, the most significant 
of which was the change in the market conditions for residential sales that were favourable to the Company.   
The valuation of the assets of the Archicom Group showed the largest increase compared to the carrying value 
in the group of residential properties where construction has been completed and the apartments have not yet 
been fully delivered.  The favourable purchase transaction was also influenced by the valuation of the Archicom 
Group trademark, the value of which was confirmed by an independent expert at PLN 66,704 thousand (HUF 5.2 
billion). 
 
As a result of the fair value measurement of current assets and inventories, the Group recognised PLN 88,026 
thousand (HUF 6.9 billion) as an increase in value and recorded deferred tax of PLN 16,725 thousand (HUF 1.3 
billion). As part of intangible assets, the Group identified the trademark "Archicom" with an indefinite useful life. 
The value of the trademark as determined by an independent expert at the acquisition date was PLN 66,704 
thousand (HUF 5.2 billion). The Group recognised a deferred tax liability of PLN 12,674 thousand (HUF 1 billion) 
in relation to the recognised trademark.    
 
The fair value of trade and other receivables acquired at the acquisition date was PLN 60,135 thousand (HUF 4.7 
billion), while the gross value of receivables from contracts entered into was PLN 83,816 thousand (HUF 6.5 
billion). The Group's best estimate of the probable recovery of the acquired trade and other receivables is PLN 
60 135 thousand (HUF 4,7 billion).    
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In connection with the transaction, the Group incurred costs of PLN 8,663 thousand (HUF 0.7 billion) in the 
current period related to the acquisition of DKR shares, which were to the profit for the period as costs.  
 
The fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities is illustrated in the table below:   
 thHUF 
Other intangible assets 5,312,933 
Tangible assets 1,055,859 
Real property for investment 8,515,081 
Other financial assets 7,127,663 
Deferred tax assets 2,483,198 
Fixed assets 24,494,734 
  
Inventories 67,155,056 
Tax assets 536,066 
Trade and other receivables 1,607,111 
Other financial assets 3,711,586 
Cash and bank account 16,000,746 
Current assets 89,010,565   
Total assets 113,505,299 
  

Loans and bonds payable 14,813,176 
Provisions 529,837 
Deferred tax liabilities 3,509,727 
Other liabilities 2,079,017 
Non-current liabilities 20,931,757 
  

Loans and bonds payable 7,176,044 
Tax liabilities 733,675 
Trade and other payables 23,485,552 
Provisions 2,395,170 
Other liabilities 3,150,449 
Short-term liabilities 36,940,890 
  

Total liabilities 57,872,647 
  

Net assets 55,632,652 
Non-controlling interest in proportion to identifiable net assets 14,286,991 
Consideration 37,563,180 
Gain on bargain purchase 3,782,481 
  

Consideration includes the following:  

Cash 18,733,994 
Issue of bonds 14,637,680 
Put/call option (nominal value) 4,191,506 
Total consideration 37,563,180 

 
The profit and sales of the acquired subsidiary are illustrated in the table below: 
 
  2021 

  thHUF 
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Revenue for the current year consolidated period  39,398,595 
Comprehensive profit and loss for the current year 
consolidated period 

 11,262,574 

 
If the transaction had taken place on 1 January 2021, Archicom S.A. would have contributed HUF 131,287,091 
thousand in revenue and HUF 26,225,716 thousand in profit to the Group's consolidated performance. 
 
36. Financial instruments 
36.1 Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.  
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed in notes 25 and 31 offset by cash 
and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-
controlling interests). 
 

36.1.1 Gearing ratio 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Debt capital (i)  459,291,765  478,574,798 
Cash and bank account  -119,630,335  -71,730,148 

     

Net debt capital  339,661,430  406,844,650 

     

Equity (ii)  215,548,921  171,499,911 

     

Net equity to debt ratio  63.5%  42.2% 

 
(i) Debt is defined as long- and short-term borrowings and liabilities relating to bond issue (excluding derivatives 
and financial guarantee contracts) 
(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital. 
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36.2 Key accounting policies 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the 
bases of measurement, and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3. 
 
36.3 Categories of financial instruments 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

  
 

 
 

Financial assets     
Cash and bank account                  119,630,335   71,730,148 
Loans and receivables                    45,715,950   26,008,106 

  
 

 
 

Financial liabilities  
 

 
 

Lease liabilities                    18,700,688   11,559,960 
Loans                  194,232,232   251,909,529 
Bonds payable                  246,358,845   215,105,309 
Derivative financial instruments                       7,653,201   6,069,421 

 
Credit loss may arise in relation to cash and bank balances, loans provided, derivatives, bank deposits, as well as 
trade receivables and receivables due from tenants. As of 31 December 2021, the Group assessed the non-
payment risk based on historical data. GThe expected credit loss rate is defined based on these historical data. 
Considering the types of financial assets. as well as the related collaterals, the Group overall considers the 
expected credit risk low. The amount of impairment recognised is included in Notes 18 and 21. 
 
The following table shows impairment recognised on expected credit loss: 
 

31 December 2021 
 

Assets measured at amortised cost 
 phase 1 

 thHUF 
       

  
Gross book value  

Impairment 
recognised under 

IFRS 9 
 AC 

Trade receivables (debtors)  7,893,973  -2,908,996  4,984,977 
Loans given to associated parties  25,127,717  -32,122  25,095,595 
Other short-term loans  5,127,117  -6,554  5,120,563 

       

  38,148,807  -2,947,672  35,201,135 
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31 December 2020 

 

Assets measured at amortised cost 
 phase 1 

 thHUF 
       

  
Gross book value  

Impairment 
recognised under 

IFRS 9 
 AC 

Trade receivables (debtors)  6,581,924  -1,298,530  5,283,394 
Loans given to associated parties  16,856,268  -23,191  16,833,077 
Other short-term loans  3,893,938  -2,303  3,891,635 

       

  27,332,130  -1,324,024  26,008,106 
 
36.4 Financial risk management objectives 

The Group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk 
reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. 
 
36.5 Foreign currency risk management 

Due to its loans denominated in Euros the Group is exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group collects its rental 
income on Euro basis which provides a natural hedging to meet the debt service obligations for euro loans. 

36.5.1 Foreign exchange risk 

The tables below demonstrate how much the Group’s profit would have changed, if the EUR rate had moved +/- 
10% compared to 369.00 HUF/EUR at year end. 
 
Foreign exchange risk – trade receivables       

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

        
Trade receivables in EUR 1,283,338   737,740 
Assumed exchange rate change  +/- 10 p.p.    +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit 128,334   73,774 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect 22,636   8,412 
Effect on after-tax profit 105,698   65,362 
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Foreign exchange risk – loan receivables       

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

    
Loan receivables in EUR 7,584,857   2,739,866 
Assumed exchange rate change  +/- 10 p.p.    +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit 758,486   273,987 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect 99,721   52,057 
Effect on after-tax profit 658,765   221,929 

    
        
Foreign Exchange Risk – loan liabilities       

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

    
Liabilities from loans in EUR 15,311,400   886,845 
Assumed exchange rate change  +/- 10 p.p.    +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit 1,531,140   88,685 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect 290,705   16,850 
Effect on after-tax profit 1,240,435   71,834 

 
    
Foreign Exchange Risk – loans       

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

    
Loans in EUR 192,201,912   210,284,146 
Assumed exchange rate change  +/- 10 p.p.    +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit 19,220,191   21,028,415 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect 2,582,620   2,895,735 
Effect on after-tax profit 16,637,571   18,132,679 

    

        

Foreign exchange risk – bonds       
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

    
Bonds in EUR 50,755,384   67,007,730 
Assumed exchange rate change  +/- 10 p.p.    +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit 5,075,538   6,700,773 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect 633,449   819,792 
Effect on after-tax profit 4,442,090   5,880,981 
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Foreign exchange risk – cash and bank balances       

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 

    
Cash and bank balances in EUR 20,553,193   22,995,622 
Assumed exchange rate change  +/- 10 p.p.    +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit 2,055,319   2,299,562 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect 264,675   230,660 
Effect on after-tax profit 1,790,644   2,068,902 

 
36.6 Interest rate risk management 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks due to changes in interest rates. The risk of changing interest was 
mitigated by entering into interest-rate swaps. Other financial liabilities recognised for interest-rate swaps are 
thHUF 3,566,332 (thHUF 6,069,421 as at 31.12.2020). (refer to Note 27).  The tables below present the changes 
to financial income and financing costs that would have occurred if the interest rate had been 100 points higher. 
 
Interest rate risk – bonds       

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
  thHUF   thHUF 

    
Bond liabilities 246,358,845   215,105,309 
Finance costs relating to bond liabilities 9,522,684   9,043,945 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.   +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on financing 
costs 

2,463,588   2,151,053 

Effect on pre-tax profit 2,463,588   2,151,053 
Income tax recognised 351,081   304,231 
Effect on after-tax profit  2,112,507   1,846,822 
    
    
Interest rate risk – loans       

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
  thHUF   thHUF 
    

Loan portfolio 194,232,232   251,909,529 
Finance costs relating to loans 10,326,852   5,254,505 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.   +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on financing 
costs 1,942,322   2,519,095 

Effect on pre-tax profit 1,942,322   2,519,095 
Income tax recognised 249,541   381,818 
Effect on after-tax profit  1,692,781   2,137,278 

        
    
    
    
Interest rate risk – Cash and cash equivalents       

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
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  thHUF   thHUF 
    

Balance of cash and cash equivalents 119,630,335   71,730,148 
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 325,905   51,384 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.   +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on interest 
income 1,196,303   717,301 

Effect on pre-tax profit 1,196,303   717,301 
Income tax recognised 165,747   90,905 
Effect on after-tax profit  1,030,556   626,397 

 
        
Interest rate risk – loans granted       

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

 thHUF  thHUF 
        

Portfolio of loans granted 30,857,608   29,107,353 
Interest income from loans granted 1,082,889   1,458,243 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.   +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on interest 
income 308,576   291,074 

Effect on pre-tax profit 308,576   291,074 
Income tax recognised 52,900   51,527 
Effect on after-tax profit  255,676   239,546 

 
36.7 Liquidity risk management 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing 
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities.  

36.7.1 Liquidity risk tables 

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group can be required to pay. 
 

On 31 December 2021 

 

in 1 month 1 - 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 1 - 5 years beyond 5 

years 

  thHUF thHUF thHUF thHUF thHUF 
Loans  7,291,047 2,160,633 60,940,034 87,369,507 72,081,332 
Bonds payable  0 6,362,490 62,456,367 128,391,657 74,164,200 
Derivatives  27,704 131,025 250,615 2,389,778 1,035,431 
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On 31 December 2020 

 

in 1 month 1 - 3 
months 

3 - 12 
months 1 - 5 years beyond 5 

years 

  thHUF thHUF thHUF thHUF thHUF 
Loans  5,538,633 7,086,682 76,354,798 138,215,639 99,004,046 
Bonds payable  0 12,289,950 45,374,657 120,801,462 55,930,750 
Derivatives  19,030 301,256 1,561,778 3,472,531 1,486,356 

 
36.8 Fair value of financial instruments 

Financial instruments are measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost approximates their fair value. 
 
37. Associated party transactions  
Associated parties include owners of the Group, members of the Board and the Supervisory Board and 
associated entities. 
 
37.1 Associated party transactions  

The following table shows the results of associated party transactions and B/S balances: 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Loans to parent company  4,439,161  2,936,995 
Loans to other associated parties  330,000  0 
Loans to associates  23,389,945  16,267,110 
Loans to key management personnel  0  0 

     

Trade and other receivables due from the parent company  0  0 
Trade and other receivables from other associated parties  151,682  180,049 
Trade and other receivables from associates  4,658,761  646,299 
Trade and other receivables from key management 
personnel  371  9,991 

     

Trade and other payables to parent company  0  0 
Trade and other payables to other associated parties  107,085  244,045 
Trade and other payables to associates  382  0 
Trade and other payables to key management personnel  0  0 

     

     
     
     

Income from the parent company  60,311  42,555 
Income from other associated parties  1,096,828  846,131 
Income from associates  5,130,716  23,589,880 
Income from key management personnel  450  286,733 

     

Expenses incurred in relation to the parent company  0  0 
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31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

Expenses incurred in relation to other associated parties  1,049,535  950,678 
Expenses incurred in relation to associates  264,029  1,146 
Expenses incurred in relation to key management 
personnel  3,611  0 

 
37.2 Transactions with key management personnel 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

 
    

Board of parent company  170,325  208,698 
Supervisory Board of parent company  238,597  85,421 
Key management personnel of subsidiaries  1,619,340  1,049,006 

     

  2,028,262  1,343,125 

  
 

  
Of these, in total:     

short-term employee benefits  1,366,635  1,070,786 

benefits after the termination of employment  0  0 

other long-term benefits  0  0 

severance money  0  0 

share-based payment  661,627  272,339 

     
 
The Group considers as key management personnel the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory 
Board of WINGHOLDING Zrt., the management and the Supervisory Board of Wing Zrt., as well as the senior 
management of its subsidiaries, including the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Boards of 
its subsidiaries and the management of its subsidiaries. 
 
Key management personnel and members of the Board hold a total of 68,396 employee shares issued by WING 
Zrt., and 812,721 shares issued by Echo Investment S.A. Of key management personnel, 6 persons participate in 
the ESOP Programme described in Note 38. 
  



WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

101 
 

38. Employee benefits expense 
In 2018 WING Zrt., a member of the Group, launched an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which qualifies as 
share based payment. The Group measures related liabilities at fair value by the end of each reporting period, 
and changes in fair value are recognised against the profit for the year. In the profit for the year ended 31 
December 2021, the Group recognised thHUF 630.233 against current year profit under expenses of employee 
benefits in relation to expected payments through ordinary shares contributed to the ESOP.  
 
The payment is conditional on WING Zrt.'s performance meeting or exceeding the performance indicators set 
out in the remuneration policy in force for the Employee Share Ownership Plan. 
 
The fair value of the payout is determined based on the value of the WING Zrt. shares allocated to the Employee 
Stock Ownership Plan at the balance sheet date. 
 
39. Cash and cash equivalents 

  

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Cash and bank balances  102,924,025  62,208,363 
Restricted cash*  16,706,310  9,521,785 
Investment units  0  0 

  
 

 
 

  119,630,335  71,730,148 
 
* Restricted cash includes balances in collateralised bank accounts that serve as collateral for debt service on 
loans. 
 
40. Operating lease arrangements 
40.1 The Group as lessor 

Operating leases relate to the investment property owned by the Group. All operating lease contracts contain 
market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an 
option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period. 
 
The property rental income earned by the Group from its investment property, all of which is leased out under 
operating leases, amounted to thHUF 26,962,493 (2020: thHUF 24,806,923). 
 
Lease contracts with future term do not pose significant risk for the Group, as due to the quality and location of 
the investment properties, their future lease will not be difficult for the Group.  
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Maturity analysis of the lease contracts for the following years is as follows: 
 

  
31 December 2021 

 
31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
within one year  19,322,892  25,909,722 
1-2 years  21,166,599  27,205,982 
2-3 years  20,031,500  26,201,414 
3-4 years  16,877,220  22,187,660 
4-5 years  15,718,977  18,186,890 
beyond 5 years  56,544,997  73,138,525 

      
Total  149,662,185  192,830,193 

 
41. Events following the reporting period 
On 21 December 2021, LOGIWIN, a member of the Group, entered into a Share Sale and Purchase Preliminary 
Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Airport City Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. and Airport City Phase 
B Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. The share purchase transaction was successfully completed on 27 January 2022. 
 
On 1 February 2022, REALWINGEST Kft., a member of the Group, signed a Loan Agreement with Unicredit Bank 
Hungary Zrt. for a total amount of EUR 12,100,000, for the financing of the first phase of the EAST GATE PRO 
logistics development.  Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, the loan may be drawn down in accordance 
with the progress of the project once the drawdown conditions have been met. 
 
The Company has issued HUF 9 billion of bonds (ISIN code: HU0000361357) under the Bond Funding for Growth 
Scheme announced by the National Bank of Hungary.   The bonds have a maturity of ten years and a fixed interest 
rate of 5%. First trading day of the securities:  4 April 2022 
 
On March 11, 2022, LOGIWIN Kft., a member of the Group, signed a credit facility agreement with ERSTE Bank 
Hungary Zrt in the amount of EUR 35,000,000, - for the purpose of refinancing the purchase price of the AIRPORT 
CITY Logistic Park. According to the loan agreement, the loan can be drawn down after the fulfilment of the 
prescribed drawdown conditions.  
 
In January and March 2022, Echo Investment issued two series of bonds to individual investors for PLN 50 million 
each.  The bonds have a maturity of 3 and 4 years respectively and bear interest at 6 months WIBOR + 4%.  
 
Echo Investment S.A. sold its office building West 4 Business Hub I after the balance sheet date. 
 
On 24 February 2022, AFI Europe signed a preliminary agreement to purchase shares in the Towarowa 22 project 
from the EPP Group.  Under the agreement, AFI Europe becomes a partner of Echo Investment in the commercial 
part of the Towarowa 22 project with 70% of its shares.  The transaction is subject to several commercial 
conditions and an anti-monopoly licence.  
 
Management has assessed the impact of the Russian-Ukrainian war that broke out in February 2022 on the 
Group's business and, based on these assessments, the immediate and direct impact of the war on the Group's 
financial position and thus on the financial statements cannot be reliably quantified at this time due to the rapid 
change of events. However, as the Group is not directly present in these markets, there is no direct exposure. 
However, the crisis that has developed may have indirect economic effects that could affect the corporate sector 
and the general public and thus indirectly affect the operation and management of the Group.  Based on current 
information, the economic sanctions against Russia have no direct impact on the Group.  Crises and sanctions 
can have spill-over economic effects in the medium and long term (shortages of raw materials and base materials 
in the construction industry, inflationary effects, financing difficulties, interest rate increases, etc.), and the social 
effects of the situation can also adversely affect the real estate market through a reduction in demand.  
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Construction material manufacturers may face problems in the supply of raw materials and/or components, 
which may delay planned property deliveries.  Deterioration in macroeconomic indicators such as inflation, 
volatility of the forint exchange rate, and deterioration in the interest rate environment may also have a negative 
impact on the Group's financing.  They may also adversely affect the cash flow of the Group.  A significant 
weakening of the forint after the outbreak of the war could affect the financial result in 2022.  The Group has 
already anticipated an increase in energy prices when planning its operating costs, but the extent of this increase 
may increase further with the outbreak of war. 
 
The Management of the Group will keep the situation under constant review, but considers that the going 
concern principle will not be jeopardised.     
 
The voluntary dissolution of Sberbank in Hungary (Sberbank Magyarország Zrt.) started after the reporting date. 
Among the members of the Group, Manhattan Development Global Kft. is materially affected, as Manhattan 
Development Global Kft. has a bank loan outstanding to Sberbank, which is expected to be assigned to another 
financial institution in the course of Sberbank's dissolution. 

Uncertainty caused by the coronavirus pandemic 

With regard to the economic environment caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, for the purposes of the 2021 
financial statements, based on the available information, the management reviewed the processes potentially 
affecting operation and liquidity, on the one hand in the light of events that took place before the date of closing 
the balance sheet, and on the other hand in the light of going concern: 

a) reviewing the impact of events before the balance sheet date 

• there were no significant delays or deficiencies in sales revenue (expected or received) by the balance 
sheet date; 

• in this period the Company experienced no payment difficulties or increase in overdue receivables at 
larger lessees; 

• there were no liquidity issues in this period, liquidity needed for the operation of the Company and 
subsidiaries is ensured; 

• the Company’s management is monitoring government and authority measures pertaining to the 
coronavirus epidemic. Future business plans have been prepared taking into account the epidemic 
situation. The necessary revision will be made in the light of incoming monitored information; 

• Loan contract obligations (loan covenants) were met and the management considers that it will be able 
to comply with debt obligations in the 2022 financial year, as well.  

b) expected impact of events potentially affecting going concern in the next reporting periods: 

The Company’s subsidiaries have a long-term lease portfolio comprising lessees in stable financial positions; 
therefore the potential financial effects of future difficulties or force majeure situations affecting the lessees’ 
payments are not significant, and the Company’s subsidiaries have the necessary securities from the lessees if 
outstanding receivables increased; 

• temporary or long-term drops in revenue that could endanger operation are not expected due to the 
wide range of functions of lessees and their high number;  

• as a result of the above, the calculation of any future financial impact of potential difficulties in fulfilling 
contractual obligations (liquidated damages for late performance or default, compensation and liability 
for damages in the case of contract amendment, termination, rescission, etc.) will be possible in the 
next few months based on continuous monitoring; 

• we do not expect liquidity problems and high liquidity management risks due to consistent liquidity 
management, and resources are available as required for debt service. The financing of the Company 
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and its subsidiaries is ensured by the existing loan agreement and we do not expect lack of funding or 
increased financing costs; 

• balance sheet items (inventories, receivables, investments, securities, real estate) remain to be 
measured in accordance with the accounting regulations and policies; impairment and depreciation will 
be recognised as necessary based on actual available information; 

• We do not consider future compliance with loan contract obligations (loan covenants) problematic, the 
Company and its subsidiaries are able to meet their contractual obligations;  

• in the light of the above, there is no information that would imply an inability to continue as a going 
concern and related material uncertainty, and continued operation is ensured in 2022. 

 

42. Off-balance sheet items 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

    
 

Contingent liabilities to third parties     
 – guarantees and collaterals  160,756,728  111,537,415 
 - pending court proceedings  311,885  1,389,426 

  161,068,613  112,926,841 
 
The guarantees and collaterals include financial and non-financial guarantees, as well as suretyship agreements. 
Contingent liabilities were recognised at nominal value. In the Group’s opinion, the value of guarantees and 
collaterals is close to zero, as the probability of resorting to collaterals is extremely low. 
 
43. Other information 
the following table shows the breakdown of audit and non-audit fees paid to Deloitte Auditing and Consulting 
Ltd. and other Deloitte entities: 
 
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

    
 

Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Ltd.     
     
Wingholding Zrt. - audit fees, separate and consolidated 
financial statements  

24,210 
 

22,000 

Statutory audit provided to other Group members  36,900  39,000 
Other non-audit services  0  0 

  
 

 
 

     

     

     
     
Other Deloitte entity  

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

Statutory audit services  63,532  52,674 
Audit related assurance services  12,447  10,704 
Tax advisory services  31,044  24,404 
Other non-audit services  44,989  0 



WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

105 
 

 
44. Signing off the financial statements 
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 27 April 2022.
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Notes published on pages 114-139 form an integral part of the separate financial statements. 

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 Notes 2021  2020 
    restated 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     
     
Continuing operations  

 
 

 

     
Revenue from the rendering of services 6 0  0 
Dividend received  10,100,000  4,981,000 
Interest income 7 3,435,438  2,839,443 
of this, interested calculated with the effective interest rate 
method  3,435,438  2,839,443 

Income  13,535,438  7,820,443 
     
Other gains and losses 8 -94,521  -4,458,909 
Performance of subcontractors  0  0 
Services used  -154,981  -149,985 
Depreciation and amortisation  0  -7 
Finance expenses 9 -4,580,465  -4,014,753 
Other expenditures  -73,923  -140,785 
Gains or losses from derecognition of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost (AC)  0  0 

Impairment of financial assets  89,206  -349,551 
     
Profit before tax of continuing operations  8,720,754  -1,293,547 
     
Income tax 10 -8,028   31,460 
     
Current-year profit from continuing operations  8,712,726  -1,262,087 
     
Discontinued operations     
     
Profit for the year from discontinued operations  0  0 
     
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING AND 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

8,712,726  -1,262,087 

     
     
     
From continuing and discontinued operations     

Attributable to owners of the parent  8,712,726  -1,262,087 
To non-controlling interest  0  0 
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 Notes 2021  2020 
    restated 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     
     
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING AND 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  8,712,726  -1,262,087 

     
Other comprehensive income     
     
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss  0  0 

     
Other comprehensive income that may not be reclassified 
to profit or loss  0  0 

     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  8,712,726  -1,262,087 

     
     
     
Of the total comprehensive income:     

Attributable to owners of the parent  8,712,726  -1,262,087 
To non-controlling interest  0  0 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

As of 31 December 2021 Notes 2021. 
31 December 

 2020. 
31 December 

 2020. 
1 January 

    restated  restated 
  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
       
Assets  

     
       
Fixed assets       
       
Intangible assets 11 0  1  8 
Associated companies 12 30,626,869  20,581,869  20,584,822 
Long-term loans given to associated parties 13 105,867,365  118,518,276  94,428,359 
Deferred tax assets 10 73,942  81,971  50,511 
Additional capital payments returned 16 156,655  152,186  152,186 
 

      
Total fixed assets  136,724,831  139,334,303  115,215,886 
       
       
Current assets       
       
Receivables from associated parties 13 4,465,301  2,973,697  0 
Tax assets 10 1,212  1,212  1,212 
Other assets 14 63,409  136,119  218,766 
Cash and bank account  20,493,007  2,085,360  15,439,288 
       
Total current assets  25,022,929  5,196,388  15,659,266 
       
Total assets  161,747,760  144,530,691  130,875,152 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

As of 31 December 2021 Notes 2021. 
31 December 

 2020. 
31 December 

 2020. 
1 January 

    restated  restated 
  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
       
       

Equity and liabilities       
       
Equity       
       
Registered capital 15 5,000  5,000  5,000 
Retained earnings  18,915,184  26,852,458  28,114,545 
       
Total equity  18,920,184  26,857,458  28,119,545 

       
Non-current liabilities       
       
Bonds payable 17 89,683,309  91,952,967  43,133,701 
Long-term loans  0  0  14,873,400 
Liabilities to associated parties 19 25,774,758  13,181,151  42,944,743 
       
Total non-current liabilities  115,458,067  105,134,118  100,951,844 

       
Short-term liabilities       
       
Trade and other payables 18 51,973  22,648  35,932 
Liabilities to associated parties 19 0  0  635 
Bonds payable 17 27,317,536  12,516,467  1,767,196 
       
Total current liabilities  27,369,509  12,539,115  1,803,763 
       
Total liabilities  142,827,576  117,673,233  102,755,607 
       
Total equity and liabilities  161,747,760  144,530,691  130,875,152 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Notes Registered 
capital 

 
Retained 
earnings  Total 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
       
Balance as of 31.12.2019  5,000  36,528,688  36,533,688 
Correction of revaluation of investment 
units 5 0  -8,414,143  -8,414,143 

Restated opening balance as at 
01.01.2020  5,000  28,114,545  28,119,545 
       

Total comprehensive income  0  -1,262,087  -1,262,087 
   Profit or loss for the year  0  -1,262,087  -1,262,087 
   Other comprehensive income  0  0  0 
       

Dividend  0  0  0 
       

Balance as at 31.12.2020  5,000  26,852,458  26,857,458 
       

Comprehensive income for the year  0  8,712,726  8,712,726 
   Profit or loss for the year  0  8,712,726  8,712,726 
   Other comprehensive income  0  0  0 
       

Dividend  0  -16,650,000  -16,650,000 
       

Balance as at 31.12.2021 15, 16 5,000  18,915,184  18,920,184 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2021  2021  2020 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
 

    

Profit or loss for the year  8,712,276  -1,262,086 
Dividend received  -10,100,000  -4,981,000 
Income tax recognised in the profit or loss – expense + / income –  8,028  -31,460 
Financing costs recognised under profit or loss  4,182,364  4,014,753 
Unrealised net foreign exchange rate loss + / profit -  233,596  4,226,328 
Impairment recognised  -89,206  352,504 
Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets  0  7 
     

  2,947,508  2,319,046 
Changes in working capital      
Increase - / decrease + in trade and other receivables  0  -2,111,961 
Increase - / decrease + in other assets  -1,403,810  24,711 
Decrease in trade and other payables  29,305  821,192 
Change in liabilities to founders and other payables  0  0 
 

 

    

Cash-flows from operating activities  1,573,003  1,052,988 

      
Financing expenses  -4,610,220  -3,116,058 
Income taxes paid  0  0 
      
  -4,610,220  -3,116,058 
 

 

    

Net cash flows from operating activities  -3,037,217  -2,063,070 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
 

    

Loans granted  -23,928,435  -66,368,907 
Repayment of loan received  38,494,860  15,636,673 
Capital increase in subsidiaries  -10,045,000  0 
Sale of business shares to subsidiaries  0  0 
Listing of investment units  0  0 
Redemption of investment unit  0  0 
Dividend received  9,366,300  0 
 

 

   

Net cash generated by investing activities  13,887,725  -50,732,234 
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 – continued  2021  2020 

Cash flows from financial operations     
     
Cash from bond issue  24,503,496  54,439,470 
Redemption of bonds  -12,280,298   
Additional capital payments returned  -4,469  0 
Loans from associated parties  11,960,000  1,150,950 
Repayment of loans from associated parties  -18,884  -1,279,091 
Borrowings  0  0 
Dividend paid to owners of the Company  -16,650,000  -14,873,400 
      
Net cash used in financing activities  7,509,845  39,437,929 

      
Net decrease - /increase+ in cash and cash equivalents  18,360,353  -13,357,375 

      
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  2,085,360  15,439,288 

      
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in 
foreign currencies 

 47,294  3,447 

      
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  20,493,007  2,085,360 
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. General information 
 
WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság (hereinafter 
„WINGHOLDING Zrt.” or “Company”) is a corporation incorporated in Hungary, involved in the real estate and 
construction industry. Principal activities specified in the articles of association: sale and purchase of own real 
estate. The registered seat of the Company is at Máriássy street 7, H-1095 Budapest. The registration number of 
the Company is 01-10-046503.  The major shareholder of WINGHOLDING Zrt. is DAYTON-Invest Kft. The ultimate 
owner of DAYTON-Invest Kft. is Tibor Veres.  
 
The Company was incorporated on 29 October 2009, and the Company was registered by the Court of Registry 
on 30 October 2009.  
 
The Company prepared its previous financial statements in accordance with Act C of 2000 on Accounting 
(Accounting Act). As of 2017, the Company prepares the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the EU, in accordance with Section 9/A of the Accounting 
Act. The Company prepared its first IFRS financial statements with a reporting date of 31 December 2017. In 
accordance with Section 114/C (3) of the Accounting Act, the IFRS transition date is 01.01.2017, and the transition 
date according to IFRS 1 is 01.01.2016. 
 
Company website: www.wing.hu 
 

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)  

 
A) Effects of the adoption of new IFRS standards and amendments effective as from 1 January 2021 
 
The following standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and 
adopted by the EU are effective for the current period: 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” with IFRS 9 delay (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2021), 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021), 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” – Covid 19-Related Rent Concessions applied after 30 June 2021 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021).  

 
The Company believes that the adoption of these standards and modification of existing ones does not 
significantly affect the financial statements. 
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B) New and amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU but not yet 
effective  
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following standards, amendments to the existing 
standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU were not yet effective: 
 

- Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”; IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”; IAS 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Annual Improvements (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022), 

- IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” including amendments to IFRS 17 (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

- Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023), 
 

- Amendments to IAS 8  “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” – Definition 
of accounting estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
The Company believes that the adoption of these standards and modification of existing ones will not significantly 
affect the financial statements in the period of first time adoption. 
 
C) New and amended standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not adopted by the EU  
 
The IFRSs adopted by EU do not significantly differ from the regulations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”), except for the below new standards, modifications and new interpretations which 
were not yet adopted by EU by the reporting date: 
 

- Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

- Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” –  Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

- IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” IFRS —Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9―Comparative Information 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
- IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2016) – the European Commission has decided not to launch the endorsement process of this interim 
standard and to wait for the final standard. 
 

The adoption of these standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations will have no material 
impact on the separate financial statements of the Company. 
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3. Significant accounting policies 
 
The following accounting policies are the most significant for the separate financial statements: 
 
3.1 The basis of accounting 
 
The separate financial statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). 
 
The person required to sign off the financial statements: Noah M. Steinberg (1016 Budapest Lovas út 16.) The 
person responsible for bookkeeping: Kornél Waller (registration no.: 191944). 
 
The separate financial statements were prepared on the basis of the cost principle. Items of the separate 
comprehensive income statement were calculated in line with the accruals principle. The separate financial 
statements were prepared in Hungarian Forints, and rounded to thousand HUF. The accounting and other 
records of the Company are maintained and kept in accordance with the local regulations and IFRS accounting 
requirements.  
 
The presentation of separate financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management of the Company 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and their reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual values may differ from these estimates. The Company uses 
estimates to determine the useful lives, residual values and impairment of assets. 
 
Future changes in economic conditions, business strategies, regulatory requirements, accounting rules and other 
factors could result in a change in estimates that could have a material impact on future financial statements. 
 
3.2 Foreign currency translation 
 
As at the balance sheet date the Company revaluates all the outstanding receivables and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies using the rates published by the Hungarian National Bank as at the balance sheet date.  
Income and expenses arising in foreign currencies are converted at the rate of exchange on the transaction date. 
Resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recorded in the separate statement of comprehensive income. 
 
3.3 Investment in associated parties 
 
The Company reports its investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. The Company values its investments in the same investment category on the same basis and 
accordingly all subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.   
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3.4 Sales revenue 
 
3.4.1 Supply of services 
 
The Company recognises as revenue from the provision of services the revenue from services provided by 
subcontractors and mediated to members of the Group.  
 
3.4.2 Interest income 
 
For assets measured at amortised cost, the Company recognises interest income in profit and loss, using the 
effective interest rate method. 
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of a financial asset or 
liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortised cost of the financial liability. 
 
3.5 Foreign currencies 
 
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the separate financial 
statements, the results and financial position of the Company are expressed in Hungarian Forints (‘HUF’, ‘Ft’), 
which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the separate financial 
statements. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates published by the National Bank of Hungary prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  
 
3.6 Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, and 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the historical cost of those assets. The capitalisation of the borrowing costs must be 
terminated when the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale have essentially 
finished. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
3.7 Tax liability 
 
The Company’s income tax expense represents the sum of the tax actually payable and deferred tax. From FY 
2017, the corporate income tax rate is 9% of the individual tax base. 
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3.7.1 Current year taxation 
 
Currently payable taxes depend on the taxable income for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss as 
reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it does not include items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s 
current tax liability is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. 
 
3.7.2 Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
separate financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the calculation of taxable income. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax receivables 
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed by the Company at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax receivables and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority. 
 
3.7.3 Current and deferred tax for the period 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to 
items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity). 
In this case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect 
is taken into account in the accounting for the business combination. 
 
3.8 Intangible assets 
 
3.8.1 Acquired intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets purchased separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 
The estimated useful life and the amortisation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period. Changes to the estimates will be considered with regard to the future. 
 
3.8.2 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately.  
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3.9 Impairment of intangible assets excluding goodwill 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of itsintangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated by the Company in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any).  
 
3.10 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Company incurs an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits as a result 
of the performance of the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 
party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received if the entity settles the obligation.  The Company treats the reimbursement as a separate asset.  
 
3.11 Financial assets 
 
Financial instruments include loans given to associated parties, as well as cash and bank balances. 
 
Financial assets classified at amortised cost, or at FVTOCI are recognised in the financial statements at fair value 
adjusted with transaction costs. Transaction costs arising in relation to financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss (FVPL) are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The Company determines the classification of a financial asset based on the model used to manage the financial 
asset and the characteristics of the cash flows from the contract.  
 
3.11.1 Debt instruments 
 
The Company recognises debt instruments at amortised cost if they are held to collect contractual cash flows 
and the future cash flows of the financial instruments include solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, i.e. they meet the criteria of SPPI (solely payments of principal and interest). 
Typically loans to associated parties are included here.  However, the Company may also irrevocably elect, at 
initial recognition, to measure the debt instrument at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). 
 
If the debt instrument meets the SPPI criteria and the Company holds the financial asset for the combined 
purpose of collecting the contractual cash flows and selling the financial asset, the Company recognises the debt 
instrument at fair value through other comprehensive income unless it exercises the fair value option and 
accordingly measures the debt instrument at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
If the SPPI criteria are not met for debt instruments, they are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
3.11.2 Equity instruments 
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Equity instruments that the company has acquired for sale are recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
If the equity instrument is not acquired for sale, the Company has the following options: 
 

• exercise the option to measure it at fair value through other comprehensive income (irrevocable) 
or 

• measure the equity instrument at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset 
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the 
market concerned. They are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial 
assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. 
 
3.11.3 Impairment of financial assets 
 
Financial assets are assessed for increase of credit risk at the end of each reporting period. For financial assets, 
the Company recognises a 12-month expected credit loss if the increase in credit risk from initial recognition is 
not significant. In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, the Company recognises a lifetime expected 
loss. 
 
3.12 Financial liabilities 
 
The Company measures financial liabilities held for trading at fair value through profit or loss and all other 
financial liabilities at amortised cost unless it elects to measure them at fair value through profit or loss (fair value 
option).  
 
Liabilities from bond issuance are recognised by the Company at amortized cost. 
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4. Accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are regularly reviewed. Changes to the estimates will be considered 
with regard to the future. 
 
5. Correction of errors related to previous years 
 
In line with the Company's accounting policy, all subsidiaries are recognised using the cost method in the 
separate financial statements. The accounting policy complies with the requirements of IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements, which requires that investments in the same category should be valued using the same valuation 
method.   
 
In previous years, the Company reported the Aurora Ingatlan Befektetési Alap at fair value, which differs from 
the valuation of other subsidiaries and from the requirements of the accounting policy. 
 
In order to make the separate financial statements consistent with the Company's accounting policy, the 
Company has reclassified Aurora Ingatlan Befektetési Alap to subsidiaries retrospectively as of January 1, 2020 
and eliminated the related fair value difference. As a result of the reclassification, Aurora Ingatlan Befektetési 
Alap is presented both retrospectively and prospectively at cost less any impairment in the separate financial 
statements. 
 
The financial statement line items affected by the restatement and the effect of the restatement are illustrated 
in the tables below: 
 

 1 January 2020 Modification 1 January 2020 

 original  restated 
Assets 139,289,295 -8,414,143 130,875,152 

    
Fixed assets 123,630,029 -8,414,143 115,215,886 

    
Associated companies 20,499,822 85,000 20,584,822 
Investment units 8,499,143 -8,499,143 0 

    
    
 1 January 2020 Modification 1 January 2020 

 original  restated 
Equity 36,533,688 -8,414,143 28,119,545 

    
Retained earnings 36,528,688 -8,414,143 28,114,545 
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 31 December 2020 Modification 31 December 2020 

 original  restated 
Assets 153,458,336 -8,927,645 144,530,691 

    
Fixed assets 148,261,948 -8,927,645 139,334,303 

    
Associated companies 20,496,869 85,000 20,581,869 
Investment units 9,012,645 -9,012,645 0 

    
    

 31 December 2020 Modification 31 December 2020 

 original  restated 
Equity 35,785,103 -8,927,645 26,857,458 

    
Retained earnings 35,780,103 -8,927,645 26,852,458 

    
    
 2020 Modification 2020 

 original  restated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income    
    
Other comprehensive income    
    
Fair value difference of investment 
units 513,501 -513,501 0 

Other comprehensive income that may 
not be reclassified to profit or loss 513,501 -513,501 0 

    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -748,585 -513,501 -1,262,086 

 
The Company's ordinary shares are not listed on any domestic or foreign stock exchange or over-the-counter 
market and therefore the Company does not publish earnings per share. Accordingly, the effect of the correction 
of the error on earnings per share is not presented. 
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6. Revenue from the provision of services 
 
The Company recognises as revenue from the provision of services the revenue from services provided by 
subcontractors and mediated to members of the Group.  The Company did not recognise any revenue under this 
heading in 2021 or 2020. 
 

7. Interest income 
 

    
2021  2020 

    thHUF  thHUF 
     
Interest income from associated parties  3,313,174  2,819,917 
Interest income from financial institutions  122,264  19,526 
     

Interest income  3,435,438  2,839,443 
 
8. Other income and expenses 
 

  
2021  2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Unrealised exchange rate difference (- loss/ + gain)  -233,596  -4,226,328 
Realised exchange rate difference (- loss/ + gain)  139,109  -232,432 
Income from assignment  0  4,803 
Impairment of participations  0  -2,953 
Other  -34  -1,999 
     

Other income and expenses  -94,521  -4,458,909 
 
9. Finance costs 
 

  
2021  2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Interest paid to financial institutions  0  128,838 
Interest paid on bond payables  3,927,333  3,088,091 
Interest paid on loans from associated parties  653,132  797,824 
     

Finance costs  4,580,465  4,014,753 
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10. Income taxes 
 
10.1 Income tax recognized through profit or loss 
 

   
2021  2020 

   thHUF  thHUF 
Tax expense comprises:     
      

 
Deferred tax income/expense relating to the origination 
and reversal of temporary differences  

-8,028  31,460 
      

 
Income tax expense 

 
-8,028  31,460 

 
10.2 Current tax assets and liabilities 
 

   31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

   thHUF  thHUF 
Current tax assets     
 Tax overpayment  1,212  1,212 
      

   1,212  1,212 
 
10.3 Deferred tax balances 

   31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

   thHUF  thHUF 
      
 Tax for impairment recognised  73,942  81,971 
      

Net deferred tax assets  73,942  81,971 
 
The net deferred tax assets recognised in the individual financial statements are recovered on the basis of future 
plans. 
 
Tax liability may be calculated from the accounting results: 
 

  2021  2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 

     
Pre-tax profit  8,720,754  -1,293,547 
     

Tax liability (9%)   784,868  -116,419 

Effect of profit not constituting the tax base.  -784,868  0 

Negative tax base adjustment  0  116,419 

Impacts of deferred tax  -8,028  31,460 
      

Income tax revenue (+) expenditure (-)  -8,028  31,460 
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11. Intangible assets 
 

  31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     

Historical cost  75  75 
Accumulated amortisation  -75  -74 
     

Licences  0  1 
     

Total  0  1 

 

  Licences  Total 

  thHUF  thHUF 
Historical cost     
Balance as of 01.01.2020  75  75 
     

Increase  0  0 
Decrease  0  0 
     

Balance as at 31.12.2020  75  75 
     

Increase  0  0 
Decrease  0  0 
     

Balance as at 31.12.2021  75  75 
     

 

  Licences  Total 

  thHUF  thHUF 
Accumulated amortisation     
Balance as of 01.01.2020  67  67 
     

Amortisation recognised in the current year  7  7 
Derecognition  0  0 
     

Balance as at 31.12.2020  74  74 
     

Amortisation recognised in the current year  1  1 
Derecognition  0  0 
     

Balance as at 31.12.2021  75  75 
 
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation:  
 
Licences:       3-5 years  
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12. Associated companies 
Subsidiaries of the Company are listed below: 
 

Name of subsidiary: Activities  
Place of 

incorporation 
and operation 

 Proportion of ownership interest 
and voting rights held (%) 

 31.12.2021  2020.12.31 
        
Aurora Ingatlan 
Befektetési Alap property investment  Hungary  100.00  100.00 

MEVINVEST 
Vagyonkezelő Kft. asset management  Hungary  100.00  100.00 

Wing Zrt. 
property 

development 
 Hungary  95.75 (96.61)  99.40 (98.34) 

WING IHC Zrt. asset management  Hungary  100.00  100.00 
Wingeurope Zrt. asset management  Hungary  100.00  100.00 
Wingline Kft. real estate sale  Hungary  100.00  100.00 
Wingprop Zrt. asset management  Hungary  100.00  100.00 
Wingreal Kft. „v.a.” asset management  Hungary  100.00  100.00 

 
The share value and the equity value of the Company's subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

 31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

Name of subsidiary: 

Book value 
of share  Subsidiary’s 

equity  Book value 
of share  Subsidiary’s 

equity 

 thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
        
Aurora Ingatlan Befektetési Alap 85,000  10,052,490  85,000  9,012,645 

MEVINVEST Vagyonkezelő Kft. 3,000  186,251  
 3,000  281,172 

Wing Zrt. 20,462,822  42,394,164  20,462,822  29,242,752 
WING IHC Zrt. 10,050,000  21,263,267  5,000  -2,448,601 
Wingeurope Zrt. 5,000  7,802,458  5,000  10,450,997 
Wingline Kft. 16,000  200,926  16,000  2,158,832 
Wingprop Zrt. 5,000  21,103,615  5,000  7,003,652 
Wingreal Kft. „v.a.” 47  3,020  47  46 
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13. Receivables from associated parties 
 

  31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Long-term receivables from associated parties     
Loan receivables from subsidiaries  105,922,197  119,407,196 
Impairment charge recognised on loan receivables  -788,532  -888,920 
Dividend receivables from affiliates  733,700  0 
 

   
   

Long-term receivables from associated parties  105,867,365  118,518,276 
 
Short-term receivables from associated parties     
Loan receivables from the parent company  4,439,161  2,936,995 
Receivables from associated parties  59,187  58,566 
Impairment charge recognised on loan receivables  -33,047  -21,864 
     

Short-term receivables from associated parties  4,465,301  2,973,697 
 
As at 31 December 2021, all loans to associated parties are denominated in Hungarian Forint.  Part of the 
associated loans bear interest at a fixed rate and the other part bears interest at a rate linked to the central bank 
base rate published by the National Bank of Hungary. Loans to associated parties bear interest at market rates. 
 

14. Other assets 
 

  31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Prepaid expenses  63,409  136,119 
     

Other assets  63,409  136,119 
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15. Registered capital 
 

  31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Registered capital  5,000  5,000 
     

  5,000  5,000 
     

Registered capital comprises     
     
49 fully paid ordinary shares of series “A” with a total nominal value of 
thHUF 100  4,900  5,000 
1 fully paid ordinary shares of series “B” with a total nominal value of 
thHUF 100  100  0 
     

  5,000  5,000 
 
Of the dividend paid in the year under review, the dividend per share paid on 1 Series B ordinary share converted 
into ordinary shares on 13 April 2021 amounts to HUF 8,040 million. The dividend per share paid on the 49 
ordinary shares of Series A amounts to HUF 175,714,285.71, i.e. a total of HUF 8,610 million. 
 
16. Equity correlation table 
 
Equity correlation table at 31.12.2021       

 

Data according 
to IFRS 

 Profit after tax 
 Other 

comprehensi
ve income 

 Additional 
payment 

completed 
 Equity 

 thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
          

Registered capital 5,000   0   0   0   5,000 
Profit reserve 18,915,184   -8,712,726   0   -4,469   10,197,989 
After-tax profit 0   8,712,726   0   0   8,712,726 
Other comprehensive 
income 0  0  0  0  0 

Total 18,920,184   0   0   -4,469   18,915,715 
       
Equity correlation table at 31.12.2021 
restated 

     
 

 

Data according 
to IFRS 

 Profit after tax 
 Other 

comprehensi
ve income 

 Additional 
payment 

completed 
 Equity 

 thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
          

Registered capital 5,000  0  0  0  5,000 
Profit reserve 17,924,813  1,262,086  0  -152,186  19,034,713 
After-tax profit 0  -1,262,086  0  0  -1,262,086 
Other comprehensive 
income 8,927,645  0  -8,927,645  0  0 

Total 26,857,458  0  -8,927,645  -152,186  17,777,627 
 
 
  



WINGHOLDING Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság. 
Notes to the separate financial statements 
 

130 
 

 

17. Debts from bonds payable 
 

  31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Bonds payable  117,000,845  104,469,434 
     

  117,000,845  104,469,434 
     
Long-term  89,683,309  91,952,967 
Short-term  27,317,536  12,516,467 
     

  117,000,845  104,469,434 
 
 

Name of bond ISIN code 
Foreign 
exchan

ge 

Opening balance 

Issue Maturity 

Closing balance  Closing 

Interest 
rate 

2021.01.01 31.12.2021  balance 
31/12/2021 

Foreign 
exchange 

Foreign 
exchange   thHUF 

   Nominal value   AC  

WINGHOLDING 2021/I HU0000358445 EUR 33,943,000 0 33,943,000 0  0 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2022/I HU0000359062 EUR 64,184,000 0 0 64,184,000  24,137,294 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2024/I HU0000359070 EUR 23,950,000 0 0 23,950,000  8,953,052 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2024/II HU0000359088 HUF 3,831,000,000 0 0 3,831,000,000  3,880,406 Fixed 4% 

WINGHOLDING 2030/I HU0000359666 HUF 54,700,000,000 0 0 54,700,000,000  55,329,261 Fixed 3.5% 

WINGHOLDING 2031/I HU0000360805 HUF 0 25,300,000,000 0 25,300,000,000   24,700,832 FIXED 3% 

Total               117,000,845   

 

18. Trade and other payables 
 

  31.12.2021  2020.12.31 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Domestic trade payables  20,474  6,819 
FX creditors  7,029  2,191 
Accruals  24,450  11,212 
Short-term liabilities to credit institutions  20  2,426 
     

  51,973  22,648 
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19. Liabilities to associated parties 

  31.12.2021  31.12.2020 

  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Loans from associated parties  25,774,758  13,181,151 
Trade payables to associated parties  0  0 
     

Liabilities to associated parties  25,774,758  13,181,151 
 
The loan between the Company and its subsidiaries is fully denominated in Hungarian forints. The loans are 
floating rate loans linked to the central bank base rate published by the Magyar Nemzeti Bank. Loans from related 
parties are at market interest rates. 
 
20. Financial instruments 
 
20.1 Key accounting policies 
 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the 
bases of measurement, and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3. 
 
20.2 Financial risk management objectives 
 
The Company monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Company through 
internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk 
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest 
rate risk. 
 
20.3 Gearing ratio 
 

  31.12.2021  31.12.2020 
    restated 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Debt capital (i)  142,827,576  117,673,233 
Cash and bank account  -20,493,007  -2,085,360 
     

Net debt capital  122,334,569  115,587,873 

     
Equity (ii)  18,920,184  26,857,458 

     
Net equity to debt ratio  15.47%  23.24% 

 
(i) Debt capital consists of liabilities from bond issues and liabilities to associated parties 
(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Company that are managed as capital. 
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20.4 Categories of financial instruments 
   

  31.12.2021  31.12.2020 
    restated 
  thHUF  thHUF 
Financial assets     
Cash and bank account  20,493,007  2,085,360 
Loans and receivables  110,332,666  121,491,973 

     
Financial liabilities     
Loans and liabilities  25,774,758  13,181,151 
Bonds payable  117,000,845  104,469,434 
Long-term loans  0  0 
     

 
The historical cost of financial instruments measured at amortised cost reasonably approximates their fair value 
and therefore the fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost is not disclosed. 
 

Assets measured at amortised cost 
      

31.12.2021 
      

       
  

phase 1   
thHUF          

Gross Carrying 
amount 

 Expected Credit 
Losses (“ECL”) 

 Amortised cost 
       

Loan receivables from associated parties 
 

111,154,245  -821,579  110,332,666   
     

Total 
 

111,154,245  -821,579  110,332,666 

 
Assets measured at amortised cost 

      

2020.12.31 
      

       
  

phase 1   
thHUF          

Gross Carrying 
amount 

 Expected Credit 
Losses (“ECL”) 

 Amortised cost 
       

Loan receivables from associated parties 
 

122,402,757  -910,784  121,491,973   
     

Total 
 

122,402,757  -910,784  121,491,973 
       

20.5 Foreign currency risk management 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the stock of liabilities denominated in foreign currencies remains high, with a significant 
share of bonds issued in EUR. 
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The Company continuously monitors the risks arising from foreign currency exposure.  The Company's direct and 
indirect subsidiaries typically operate in markets where lease fees are denominated in foreign currency. This 
indirectly reduces the foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency liabilities. 
 
20.5.1 Foreign exchange risk 
 
The tables below demonstrate how much the Group’s profit would have changed, if the EUR rate had moved +/- 
10% compared to 369.00 HUF/EUR at year end. 
 
 
Foreign exchange risk - Loans and interest receivables       

    31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Loans and interest receivables in EUR   -  - 
Assumed exchange rate change    +/- 10%   +/- 10% 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit   -  - 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect   -  - 
Effect on after-tax profit    -  - 

 
 
 
Foreign Exchange Risk – loan liabilities and interest       

    31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    thousand HUF  thousand HUF 
     

Liabilities from loans in EUR and interest   -  - 
Assumed exchange rate change    +/- 10%   +/- 10% 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit   -  - 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect   -  - 
Effect on after-tax profit    -  - 
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Foreign Exchange Risk – loans       

    31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    thousand HUF  thousand HUF 
         
Loans in EUR   -  - 
Assumed exchange rate change    +/- 10%   +/- 10% 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit   -  - 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect   -  - 
Effect on after-tax profit    -  - 

 
Foreign exchange risk – bonds and interest       

    31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    thousand HUF  thousand HUF 
         
Bonds in EUR and interest   32,600,945  45,342,112 
Assumed exchange rate change   +/- 10 p.p.   +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit   3,260,095  4,534,211 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect   293,409  408,079 
Effect on after-tax profit    2,966,686  4,126,132 
        
     
     
Foreign exchange risk – cash and bank balances     
    31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    thousand HUF  thousand HUF 
         
Cash and bank balances in EUR   3,708,073  71,367 
Assumed exchange rate change    +/- 10 p.p.   +/- 10 p.p. 
Effect of exchange rate changes on other profit   370,807  7,137 
Estimated (deferred) tax effect   33,373  642 
Effect on after-tax profit    337,435  6,494 

 
20.6 Interest rate risk management 
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risks due to changes in interest rates. The tables below present the changes 
to financial income and financing costs that would have occurred if the interest rate had been 100 points higher. 
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Interest rate risk – bonds      

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thousand HUF  thousand HUF 
       

Bond liabilities 34,560,945  103,104,975 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.  +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on financing costs 345,609  1,031,050 
Effect on pre-tax profit 345,609  1,031,050 
Income tax recognised 31,105  92,794 
Effect on after-tax profit  314,505  938,255 

 
Interest rate risk – loans      

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thousand HUF  thousand HUF 

       
Loan portfolio  -   - 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.  +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on financing costs  -   - 
Effect on pre-tax profit  -   - 
Income tax recognised  -   - 
Effect on after-tax profit   -   - 

 
Interest risk - Loans received      

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thousand HUF  thousand HUF 

       
Portfolio of loans received 23,131,681   13,168,884 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.  +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on financing costs 231,317  131,689 
Effect on pre-tax profit 231,317  131,689 
Income tax recognised 20,819  11,852 
Effect on after-tax profit  210,498  119,837 

 
Interest rate risk – Cash and cash equivalents      

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

  thousand HUF  thousand HUF 

       
Balance of cash and cash equivalents 20,493,007   2,085,360 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.  +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on interest income 204,930  20,854 
Effect on pre-tax profit 204,930  20,854 
Income tax recognised 18,444  1,877 
Effect on after-tax profit  186,486  18,977 

 
Interest rate risk – loans granted      

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
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  thousand HUF  thousand HUF 

       
Portfolio of loans granted 106,763,007   119,737,246 
Estimated interest rate change +/- 1 p.p.  +/- 1 p.p. 
Impact of estimated interest rate change on interest income 1,067,630  1,197,372 
Effect on pre-tax profit 1,067,630  1,197,372 
Income tax recognised 96,087  107,764 
Effect on after-tax profit  971,543  1,089,609 

 
20.7 Liquidity risk management 
 
The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing 
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. 
 
20.7.1 Liquidity risk tables 
 
The following tables detail the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the Group can be required to pay. 
 

2021.12.31-én  in 1 month  1 - 3 months  
3 months - 1 

year  
between  

1 - 5 years  beyond 5 years 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
           
Bonds payable  0  0  27,811,494  37,654,584  74,164,200 
Liabilities to associated 
parties  0  0  0  28,801,170  0 

Total  0  0  27,811,494  66,455,754  74,164,200 
 

2020.12.31-én  in 1 month  1 - 3 months  
3 months - 1 

year  
between  

1 - 5 years  beyond 5 years 

  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF  thHUF 
           
Bonds payable  0  0  16,244,307  51,585,891  55,930,750 
Liabilities to associated 
parties  0  0  0  14,538,448  0 

Total  0  0  16,244,307  66,124,339  55,930,750 
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21. Associated party transactions  
 
Associated parties include owners of the Company, members of the Board and the Supervisory Board, its 
subsidiaries, and associated entities. Other than the transactions described below and in Notes 19 and 13, the 
Company has not had any related party transactions.  
 
21.1 Loans from and to associated parties 
 
Loans received from associated parties and loans granted to associated parties are disclosed in Notes 19 and 13. 
 
21.2 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board 
 

  2021  2020 
  thHUF  thHUF 
     
Board of Directors  0  0 
Supervisory Board  0  0 
     

  0  0 
 
22. Events following the reporting period 
 
Events following the separate and consolidated reporting period 
 
On 21 December 2021, LOGIWIN, a member of the Group, entered into a Share Sale and Purchase Preliminary 
Agreement for the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Airport City Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. and Airport City Phase 
B Ingatlanbefektetési Kft. The share purchase transaction was successfully completed on 27 January 2022. 
 
On 1 February 2022, REALWINGEST Kft., a member of the Group, signed a Loan Agreement with Unicredit Bank 
Hungary Zrt. for a total amount of EUR 12,100,000, for the financing of the first phase of the EAST GATE PRO 
logistics development.  Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, the loan may be drawn down in accordance 
with the progress of the project once the drawdown conditions have been met. 
 
The Company has issued HUF 9 billion of bonds (ISIN code: HU0000361357) under the Bond Funding for Growth 
Scheme announced by the National Bank of Hungary.   The bonds have a maturity of ten years and a fixed interest 
rate of 5%. First trading day of the securities:  4 April 2022 
 
On March 11, 2022, LOGIWIN Kft., a member of the Group, signed a credit facility agreement with ERSTE Bank 
Hungary Zrt in the amount of EUR 35,000,000, - for the purpose of refinancing the purchase price of the AIRPORT 
CITY Logistic Park. According to the loan agreement, the loan can be drawn down after the fulfilment of the 
prescribed drawdown conditions.  
 
In January and March 2022, Echo Investment issued two series of bonds to individual investors for PLN 50 million 
each.  The bonds have a maturity of 3 and 4 years respectively and bear interest at 6 months WIBOR + 4%.  
 
Echo Investment S.A. sold its office building West 4 Business Hub I after the balance sheet date. 
 
On 24 February 2022, AFI Europe signed a preliminary agreement to purchase shares in the Towarowa 22 project 
from the EPP Group.  Under the agreement, AFI Europe becomes a partner of Echo Investment in the commercial 
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part of the Towarowa 22 project with 70% of its shares.  The transaction is subject to several commercial 
conditions and an anti-monopoly licence.  
 
Management has assessed the impact of the Russian-Ukrainian war that broke out in February 2022 on the 
Group's business and, based on these assessments, the immediate and direct impact of the war on the Group's 
financial position and thus on the financial statements cannot be reliably quantified at this time due to the rapid 
change of events. However, as the Group is not directly present in these markets, there is no direct exposure. 
However, the crisis that has developed may have indirect economic effects that could affect the corporate sector 
and the general public and thus indirectly affect the operation and management of the Group.  Based on current 
information, the economic sanctions against Russia have no direct impact on the Group.  Crises and sanctions 
can have spill-over economic effects in the medium and long term (shortages of raw materials and base materials 
in the construction industry, inflationary effects, financing difficulties, interest rate increases, etc.), and the social 
effects of the situation can also adversely affect the real estate market through a reduction in demand.  
Construction material manufacturers may face problems in the supply of raw materials and/or components, 
which may delay planned property deliveries.  Deterioration in macroeconomic indicators such as inflation, 
volatility of the forint exchange rate, and deterioration in the interest rate environment may also have a negative 
impact on the Group's financing.  They may also adversely affect the cash flow of the Group.  A significant 
weakening of the forint after the outbreak of the war could affect the financial result in 2022.  The Group has 
already anticipated an increase in energy prices when planning its operating costs, but the extent of this increase 
may increase further with the outbreak of war. 
 
The Management of the Group will keep the situation under constant review, but considers that the going 
concern principle will not be jeopardised.     
 
The voluntary dissolution of Sberbank in Hungary (Sberbank Magyarország Zrt.) started after the reporting date. 
Among the members of the Group, Manhattan Development Global Kft. is materially affected, as Manhattan 
Development Global Kft. has a bank loan outstanding to Sberbank, which is expected to be assigned to another 
financial institution in the course of Sberbank's dissolution. 

Uncertainty caused by the coronavirus pandemic 

With regard to the economic environment caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, for the purposes of the 2021 
financial statements, based on the available information, the management reviewed the processes potentially 
affecting operation and liquidity, on the one hand in the light of events that took place before the date of closing 
the balance sheet, and on the other hand in the light of going concern: 

a) reviewing the impact of events before the balance sheet date 

• there were no significant delays or deficiencies in sales revenue (expected or received) by the balance 
sheet date; 

• in this period the Company experienced no payment difficulties or increase in overdue receivables at 
larger lessees; 

• there were no liquidity issues in this period, liquidity needed for the operation of the Company and 
subsidiaries is ensured; 

• the Company’s management is monitoring government and authority measures pertaining to the 
coronavirus epidemic. Future business plans have been prepared taking into account the epidemic 
situation. The necessary revision will be made in the light of incoming monitored information; 

• Loan contract obligations (loan covenants) were met and the management considers that it will be able 
to comply with debt obligations in the 2022 financial year, as well.  
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b) expected impact of events potentially affecting going concern in the next reporting periods: 

The Company’s subsidiaries have a long-term lease portfolio comprising lessees in stable financial positions; 
therefore the potential financial effects of future difficulties or force majeure situations affecting the lessees’ 
payments are not significant, and the Company’s subsidiaries have the necessary securities from the lessees if 
outstanding receivables increased; 

• temporary or long-term drops in revenue that could endanger operation are not expected due to the 
wide range of functions of lessees and their high number;  

• as a result of the above, the calculation of any future financial impact of potential difficulties in fulfilling 
contractual obligations (liquidated damages for late performance or default, compensation and liability 
for damages in the case of contract amendment, termination, rescission, etc.) will be possible in the 
next few months based on continuous monitoring; 

• we do not expect liquidity problems and high liquidity management risks due to consistent liquidity 
management, and resources are available as required for debt service. The financing of the Company 
and its subsidiaries is ensured by the existing loan agreement and we do not expect lack of funding or 
increased financing costs; 

• balance sheet items (inventories, receivables, investments, securities, real estate) remain to be 
measured in accordance with the accounting regulations and policies; impairment and depreciation will 
be recognised as necessary based on actual available information; 

• We do not consider future compliance with loan contract obligations (loan covenants) problematic, the 
Company and its subsidiaries are able to meet their contractual obligations;  

in the light of the above, there is no information that would imply an inability to continue as a going concern 
and related material uncertainty, and continued operation is ensured in 2022. 
 
23. Dividend payment 
 
After 2021, the Board of Directors recommends dividend payment in the amount of thHUF 9,000,000 for the 
owners of the Company. 
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24. Off-balance sheet items 
 
The following liabilities of the Company are off-balance sheet items: 
 

Facility in original currency Currency Note 

3,150,000,000 HUF 
Suretyship relating to associated party’s overdraft facility 

contracts  

3,000,000 EUR 
Payment obligation under the Guarantor's Declaration 
relating to the Loan Agreement regarding the financial 

institution credit facility of associated companies 

11,000,000 EUR 
Payment obligation under the Surety Contract relating to the 

Loan Agreement regarding the financial institution credit 
facility of associated companies 

10,000,000 EUR 
Payment obligation under the Surety Contract relating to the 

Loan Agreement regarding the financial institution credit 
facility of associated companies 

6,654,796 EUR 

Payment obligation under the Subordination Agreement and 
Surety Contract relating to the Loan Agreement regarding 

the financial institution credit facility of associated 
companies 

 
25. Other information 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 155 of Act C of 2000 on Accounting, the  Company is subject to mandatory 
audit. The auditor of the separate financial statements is Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Ltd. The auditor’s fee 
for the separate and consolidated financial statements for the business year 2021 is HUF 24,210 thousand + VAT. 
In the current year, no other assurance, tax advisory or non-audit services were provided in relation to the 
separate financial statements. 
 
26. Signing off the financial statements 
 
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 27 April 2022. 
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